
 

 

Agenda for a meeting of the Children's Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 
Wednesday, 13 March 2024 at 4.30 pm in Committee 
Room 1 - City Hall, Bradford 
 
Members of the Committee – Councillors 
 
LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT  

BRADFORD 
INDEPENDENT 
GROUP 

Fricker 
Mohammed 
Regan 
Thirkill 
Zaman 
 

Davies 
Pollard 
 

Sunderland Sajawal 

 
Alternates: 
 
LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE  LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT  

BRADFORD 
INDEPENDENT 
GROUP 

Alipoor 
Berry 
Humphreys 
I Hussain 
Walsh 

Birch 
Felstead 

Naylor Elahi 

 
VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:  
 
Church Representative:  
Joyce Simpson 
Position Vacant  
 
Parent Governor Representatives: 
Shifa Simab  
Position Vacant 
 
NON-VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:  
 
Teacher Secondary School Representative:  
Tom Bright 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 
Notes: 
• This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below. 
• The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 

except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting 
(such as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting 
who wishes to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with 
the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary 
arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound 
recorded. 

• Members of the public are respectfully reminded that this is a meeting that is 
being held in public NOT a public meeting. The attendance of the public to 
observe the proceedings is welcome. 

• If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the 
officer named at the foot of that agenda item. 

 
From:       
Jason Field 
Interim Director of Legal and Governance 
Agenda Contact: Kav Amrez / Louis Kingdom 
Phone: 07929 070288/07890 416570 
E-Mail: kanwal.Amrez2@bradford.gov.uk/louis.kingdom@bradford.gov.uk 
 

 



 

 

  
A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS 
 
  
1.   ALTERNATE MEMBERS (Standing Order 34) 

 
The Director of Legal and Governance will report the names of 
alternate Members who are attending the meeting in place of 
appointed Members. 
 

 

 
2.   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 
(Members Code of Conduct – Part 4A of the Constitution) 
  
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest. 
  
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting. 
  
Notes: 
  
(1)       Members must consider their interests, and act according to the 

following: 
  

Type of Interest You must: 
    
Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests 

Disclose the interest; not participate in 
the discussion or vote; and leave the 
meeting unless you have a dispensation. 

    
Other Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 
OR 
Non-Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

Disclose the interest; speak on the item 
only if the public are also allowed to 
speak but otherwise not participate in the 
discussion or vote; and leave the 
meeting unless you have a dispensation. 

    
Other Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 
OR 
Non-Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

Disclose the interest; remain in the 
meeting, participate and vote unless the 
matter affects the financial interest or 
well-being 
  
  

 (a) to a greater extent than it affects 
the financial interests of a majority of 
inhabitants of the affected ward, and 
  
(b) a reasonable member of the public 
knowing all the facts would believe that 

 



 

 

it would affect your view of the wider 
public interest;in which case speak on 
the item only if the public are also 
allowed to speak but otherwise not do 
not participate in the discussion or 
vote; and leave the meeting unless 
you have a dispensation. 

  
(2)       Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to the Member concerned 

or their spouse/partner. 
  
(3)       Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 

must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.   

  
(4)       Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 

Standing Order 44. 
  

3.   MINUTES 
 
Recommended – 
  
That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2024 be 
signed as a correct record (previously circulated). 
  

(Kav Amrez / Louis Kingdom – 07929 070228 / 07890 416570) 
 

 

 
4.   INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution) 
  
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.   
  
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.   
  
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.   
  
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.   
  

(Kav Amrez / Louis Kingdom – 07929 070228 / 07890 416570) 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

 

5.   REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Any referrals that have been made to this Committee up to and including 
the date of publication of this agenda will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

 
6.   APPOINTMENT OF NON-VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS 

 
The Committee is asked to confirm and recommend to Council the 
appointment of the following non-voting co-opted representative for the 
2023/2024 municipal year: 
  
NON VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:  
  
Children’s Social Care – Rosie Tejani 
  
  
           (Kanwal Amrez/Louis Kingdom  – 07929 070288/07890 416570) 
 

 

 
B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES 
 
  
7.   AN UPDATE ON AUTISM AD ADHD ASSESSMENT AND SUPPORT 

 
The report of the Director for Health and Care Partnership (Document 
“U”) provides an update from the Healthy Minds programme for 
Bradford District and Craven. The focus of the report is an update on 
the current context and complexity that includes system challenges for 
assessment waits and Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) 
medication. The report will highlight the work currently taking place 
across our Partnership, including support that is being provided to 
those that are waiting.  
  
Recommended –  
  

(1)  That the committee are asked to note the update that sets 
out our approach to mitigating some of the significant 
challenges to ensure children and young people in 
Bradford District and Craven are supported.  

(2)  That the committee are asked to support us in setting out 
towards a needs-led system and recognise the community 
engagement needed. 

(3)  That the committee is asked to support efforts to raise 
awareness of the Healthy Minds website 
(www.healthyminds.services/) and the Local Offer website 
(https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/) which is specifically for 
those looking for help with SEND related services. 
  
                                                  (Emma Hughes – 07976590243) 

  

1 - 220 

http://www.healthyminds.services/
https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/


 

 

  
8.   EDUCATIONAL STANDARDS - EARLY YEARS TO KEY STAGE 4 

 
The Strategic Director Children’s Services will submit a report 
(Document “V”) which provides an update on the outcomes from 
national assessments for primary and secondary pupils for the 
academic year 2022/23 and updated information on the outcomes of 
Ofsted inspections within education settings. 
 
Recommendations –  
 
That the Committee notes the contents of this report. 
 
     (Richard Crane – 01274 432009) 
 

221 - 
246 

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER 
 



 
 

 

 
 

Report of the Director for Health and Care Partnership 
to the Children’s Overview & Scrutiny Committee to be 
held on 13th March 2024 
                      U 
 
 
Subject:  An update on Autism and ADHD assessment and Support 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report provides an update from the Healthy Minds programme for Bradford 
District and Craven. The focus of the report is an update on the current context 
and complexity that includes system challenges for assessment waits and 
Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) medication. The report will 
highlight the work currently taking place across our Partnership, including 
support that is being provided to those that are waiting.  
 
 

Directors: Phillipa Hubbard, Sarah 
Muckle, Sasha Bhat 
 
Report Authors:  
Emma Hughes, Christina Holloway, Sarah 
Exall, Sasha Bhat  
 

Portfolio:   
 
Healthy Minds  

 

Report Contact: 
E-mail: emma.hughes@bradford.nhs.uk                              
 
 

   
 
                  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7/



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

  

1. Summary 
 

1.1. Meeting the demand for Autism and Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder 
(ADHD) assessments is a national challenge with a similar picture across 
Bradford District. The report will outline the context for this, and the work 
undertaken to address this, while recognising that national issues - such as 
availability of trained workforce - continues to hamper efforts. 

 
1.2. This report will focus on children and young people. 

 
1.3. This report will outline some of work that has taken place to ensure children, 

young people and families are receiving support while waiting for assessment and 
post assessment 

 
1.4. The report will reference the challenge for ADHD medication, again this is set 

against a national issue affecting medicine supply. 
 

1.5. The report provides definitions of the different conditions, this forms part of our 
efforts to raise awareness, understanding and tackle stigma as part of our efforts 
to become a neurodiverse friendly place. 

 
1.6. We seek the support of Members of Children’s Services Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee in assisting us to supporting our families and 
communities by sharing the support available and having the awareness of 
the challenges faced. As we move towards a needs-led system, we 
recognise that we need to take families and communities on the journey 
with us, if we want to reduce the demand for diagnosis. 

 
2. Definitions 
 
2.1 Neurodiversity 

‘Neurodiversity’ is the understanding that people think and feel, experience and 
interact differently with the world; that these differences are normal and to be 
expected and celebrated, not treated as deficits.  
 
Autism, ADHD, dyslexia and dyspraxia are examples of neurodevelopmental 
conditions. They are 'spectrum' conditions, which means they come with a wide 
range of characteristics.  
 
Autism, ADHD and other neurodevelopmental conditions are diagnosable by a 
trained professional. Only a small minority of any population will meet the 
threshold for diagnosis. A larger proportion will share some neurodivergent traits 
and characteristics, without meeting those diagnostic thresholds.  

 
2.2 Autism 

Autism is a complex, lifelong developmental condition that typically appears during 
early childhood. It is a spectrum condition that affects individuals to varying 
degrees. The diagnostic criteria stipulate individuals will have persistent difficulties 

Page 2



 
 

 

with social communication and social interaction and will have restrictive and 
repetitive patterns of behaviours, activities and interests that limit and impair 
everyday functioning.   
 

2.3 Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD)  
Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) is a condition where children and 
young people show a persistent pattern of inattention and/or hyperactivity–
impulsivity that interferes with day-to-day functioning and/or development and is 
pervasive.  

 
3. Autism and ADHD Assessment  
 
3.1 The autism assessment pathway is considered to have five stages: 

1. identification and referral 
2. screening and triage 
3. pre-assessment support 
4. autism assessment 
5. post-assessment support 

 
While it is the responsibility of health partners to deliver the assessment, the whole 
pathway, i.e. the identification and referral, the screening and triage and the pre- and 
post - assessment support benefit from a partnership approach to ensure children and 
young people receive the support and care needed ahead of, and after, an assessment.  
 
 
3.1      Autism and ADHD Assessment waiting times 
 
3.1.1 NICE waiting time standard is 13 weeks from referral to the start of an 

assessment. This is a non-mandatory standard, which for neurodiversity 
assessments is rarely achieved by NHS or private providers. Assessment and 
diagnosis of autism: what to expect - Quick guides | NICE Communities 
 

3.1.2 Notwithstanding three business cases since 2018 to increase resource into the 
Autism and ADHD assessment pathway, challenges remain. This is due to 
numerous national challenges, such as the availability of a trained workforce and 
the increase in demand and the complexity of cases and awareness. In addition, 
we are aware and concerned by the proliferation of unreliable tools, sometimes 
available online or as smartphone apps, that claim to be able to screen for autism. 
The use of such a tool should not be seen as an alternative to proper assessment 
and diagnosis. However we recognise people use such tools and this creates 
further demand and expectations.  

 
3.1.3 Since 2020, the demand for assessments has risen by 122% in Bradford District 

and Craven Health and Care Partnership (BDC). There is a rise of requests for 
dual (both Autism and ADHD) assessments. The current waits are approximately 
140 weeks. There is approximately 300 referrals a month, with capacity to 
complete 88 referrals per month. This challenge is not unique to BDC, with other 
regional partners reporting similar and higher increases in waiting times. 

 

Page 3

https://www.nice.org.uk/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/assessment-and-diagnosis-of-autism-what-to-expect#:~:text=If%20you%20are%20referred%20for,what%20will%20happen%20and%20when
https://www.nice.org.uk/about/nice-communities/social-care/quick-guides/assessment-and-diagnosis-of-autism-what-to-expect#:~:text=If%20you%20are%20referred%20for,what%20will%20happen%20and%20when


 
 

 

3.1.4 There is a significant workforce challenge nationally with the availability of staff 
identified that can carry out/confirm Autism and ADHD diagnosis. Workforce 
challenges are further impacted by the rise in private providers in the region (note 
this is different to the private providers we have selected to help reduce waiting 
times). 

 
3.1.5 BDC continued to offer assessment in the pandemic, which did positively affect 

waiting times, when comparing to regional partners. 
 
3.1.6 Since 2021, schools are now able to make direct referrals for both Autism and 

ADHD assessment. Schools are now the biggest referrer for these assessments.  
 
3.1.7 BDC are assured that the right CYP are being referred for assessment as 91% of 

all referrals go on to receive a diagnosis. 
 
3.1.8 To try and reduce waiting times, BDC has outsourced 16080 cases to private 

providers since 2021. All vacancy factor monies, from unfilled and vacant posts, 
available across all providers has been used to further outsource, and this will 
continue. 

 
3.1.9 Although waits for assessment are significantly longer than we would like due to 

both resource and workforce issues, the quality of assessments continues to 
remain in line with NICE guidelines and recommendations in both the under 7 and 
over 7 assessment pathways. 

 
3.1.10 In order to ensure that those CYP that have significant vulnerabilities are not 

further disadvantaged a clinical prioritisation criterion has been implemented to 
ensure these children do receive timely assessment within 13 weeks.  

 
3.1.11 BDC has worked hard to remove any prerequisite of needing a diagnosis to 

access support from health and education services, with access being led by 
needs not diagnosis. 
 
 

3.2 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Written Statement of Action  
 

3.2.1 In March 2022 Bradford received a ‘Written Statement of Action’ following the joint 
OFSTED/CQC local area SEND inspection in March 2022. 
 

3.2.2 This identified an area of weakness in relation to a number of areas including 
children and young people wait too long for assessments, treatment and 
diagnosis. There is insufficient support for children and young people with SEND 
who are waiting for provision, services, diagnosis or equipment.  
 

3.2.3 One of those areas identified in the 2022 inspection feedback was Autism wait 
times were too long and children and families lacked information, support and 
signposting to support them waiting well, whist on the waiting list.  
 

Page 4



 
 

 

3.2.4 The WSOA action plan included – ‘Reducing waiting times for autism / ADHD 
assessment and strengthen the support offer whilst waiting for assessment’ and 
included: 
 
• The Autism/ADHD service pathway is mapped, and all key stakeholders are 

aware of current service offer by March 2023   
• Referral criteria is reviewed and signed off and is shared with key stakeholders 

including children, young people and families by March 2023    
• Self-help, Universal and Early Help pathway is agreed by March 2023   
• Delivery of the support pathway for Autism / ADHD from self-help, universal 

offer and early help services by September 2023  
• Evidence of signposting to support whilst waiting for Autism/ADHD 

assessment by March 2023  
 

3.2.5 There have been three monitoring visits following on from the March 2022 SEND 
inspection outcome and the development of the agreed WSOA plan initiated from 
September 2022. Assurance of BDC approach to Autism and ADHD has been 
sought at each monitoring visit. 
 

3.2.6 During the October 2023 monitoring visit both the Department of Education (DfE) 
and NHS England were provided with additional information relating to Autism and 
ADHD and were able to acknowledge the challenges in our local area as well as 
the efforts the local system were undertaking. The DfE Commissioned SEND 
Adviser stated ‘It was demonstrated that children can now access the services 
they require regardless of whether they have a ‘diagnosis’ or not’. 
 

3.2.7 The Bradford district Local Area fourth SEND monitoring visit on 19 March 2024, 
will again seek information and progress in the system for Autism and ADHD 
assessment, provision and support and outlines steps to monitor impact and 
outcomes for CYP.  
 

3.2.8 Autism and ADHD remain a key priority to address within our system, and this is 
evidenced by the Self Evaluation Framework (SEF), the Local Area Inclusion Plan 
(LAIP) and within both the Healthy Children and Family Board and Healthy Minds 
Board strategies. 
 
 

3.3.     Support while waiting and for those diagnosed – waiting well  
 
3.3.1 This work forms part of our wider strategic ambition of keeping people happy 

healthy and at home, by ensuring a clear purpose to what we do, within our place 
through partnership working to support our population. We recognise there is work 
needed to provide support for children and young people while they are waiting for 
assessment.   
 

Page 5



 
 

 

3.3.2 BDC have good quality support services available for the population, however these 
are often locality based and have small resource associated. The ICS have been 
implementing and directing investment to help support more CYP with or without a 
diagnosis. BDC has removed any requirement for a formal diagnosis to access 
support from all services. 

 
3.3.3 The following services have been developed, expanded or continue to be provided 

to those CYP that need them, regardless of a diagnosis: 
 

• The local offer, Healthy Minds and CAMHS website with consistent information 
around the assessment process and support offer  
 

• Clinical prioritisation criteria has been increased to ensure those most 
vulnerable are expedited for assessment. The criteria now includes, the Dynamic 
Support Register (DSR) cohort, CYP that have been excluded from school or are 
in alternative provision, children looked after, asylum seekers and refugees, CYP 
known to youth justice services and those at risk of a mental health admission. 
 

• Removing barriers to access support as part of the SEND work, services will no 
longer require a diagnosis to access the support on offer. The support offers in 
BDC will be provided based on need. 
 

• Ensuring universal offers that are provided, can meet the needs of neurodiversity 
within their existing offers to ensure all services are inclusive. Examples include: 

• Little Minds Matter 
• 0-19 Service 
• Family hubs 
• Mental Health Support Teams 
• Special early attachment development service 

  
• School being able to make referrals for Autism and ADHD assessments have 

supported schools to better identify and meet need based on the evidence and 
information they provide to make the referral, enabling reasonable adjustments to 
be made in schools and if necessary, support plans and education health and care 
plans to be implemented. 
 

• Parent and carer networks based on peer support, operating from schools – 
providing drop-ins, peer support to CYP and families and school-based support. 
 

• Barnardo’s care navigator role (a lived experience post) is now in place, working 
as peer support offer for those waiting to sign post to support and offer peer 
support sessions to struggling families. This is available on all children and young 
people pathways. 
 

• Continue to work with Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise Sector 
(VCSE), which includes both AWARE and the Parent carer network. Aware 
provide a commissioned offer from Bradford Early Advice Team (BEAT) to 
families of those on waiting lists. This is well evaluated, and reoccurring funding. 
The Parent Carer network based on peer support, operating from schools, 
provides drop-ins and peer support. we are continually working hard to ensure we 
are reaching our diverse communities and are currently connecting with Bradford 
Stronger Together to meet the needs of the parents and families from our diverse 

Page 6



 
 

 

inner-city communities. Specialist Autism Services delivers a strengths-based 
Autism specific personalised learning programme, to develop social, 
communication and employment skills which empower members to engage with 
new opportunities, make informed choices, achieve their goals, maximising 
independence and inclusion.  

 
• We have recently set up Brad Starz, a SEND youth voice group for people aged 

14-24 who meet to discuss things that matter to them. Brad Starz is a group for 
young people aged between 14 and 24 that live or go to a school within the 
Bradford District and have a Special Educational Need and/or Disability (SEND) 
 

• Social Prescribing offer for children and young people with learning disabilities 
and Autism in four primary care network areas. This is well evaluated and we 
are working to see if this can be expanded. 

 
• Sleep support services. This is a new service which commenced in Oct 2023 

and is being provided by The Together Trust. This service shares referrals 
closely with the Children’s Community Support Team to offer a tiered offer of 
support.  Evidence demonstrates that many of the families accessing the 
Together Trust have identified as having Autism or ADHD. 

 
• Development of an Avoidant Restrictive Food Intake Disorder (ARFID) 

service. The CYP that will predominantly access this specialist service are likely 
to have neurodiverse needs. 
 

• Autism Strategy being developed – this will be all age and cover culture, arts, 
leisure, business and education.  
 

• Autism Hub Bradford and Craven Autism AIM is a service for autistic adults living 
in Bradford (aged 18+) with little to no funded support. They will work with 17-year-
olds as they transition into adulthood to let them know what services are available 
once they turn 18. They provide support to access your GP, information and 
signposting, and one-to-one peer support. They also run a mental health peer 
support group. 
 

• Neurodiversity Social Work Service the Neurodiversity team is a hub of Social 
Workers and Occupational Therapists who are dedicated and skilled to work with 
people aged 18 + with autism and/or other Neurodiverse conditions. The team will 
be based within the Learning Disability and Preparing for Adulthood Service and sit 
alongside the existing Learning Disability Locality Teams.  

 
• Schools are rolling out Autism Education Trust – Whole school approach in 

Autism- District Wide and led by Local Authority  
 

• Educational Psychology Service – Work in a traded way for Bradford schools 
and on a referral basis with no diagnosis required. They can provide an individual 
or whole school/class advice around neurodiversity. This team are also involved in 
the neurodiversity Future Pathways project – approximately 38 schools are now 
trialling the Electronic Developmental Support Tool (EDST) which helps settings 
identify reasonable adjustments and teaching practices required to support YP 
who may be neurodivergent. 
 

Page 7



 
 

 

• My Needs App (Myne App) which supports Autistic and neurodiverse people to 
communicate their needs to healthcare and other services and can improve their 
experience and access of services. This App is in development and being 
codesigned. This is funded by West Yorkshire.  
 

• Kindness, Compassion and Understanding campaign – this is a young people 
led campaign that addresses themes of bullying in schools. Young people have 
driven this work and it’s rolled out across schools in Bradford District and Craven. 
This has reached over 12,000 children with a specific cohort working with special 
schools – reaching 2014 children aged 4-19.  
 

• Most children and young people in the district spend a large proportion of their 
time in school. School can be both supportive and pressurised environments for 
children and young people. This is particularly true for those with autism and 
ADHD, who are at higher risk of experiencing mental health problems. We have a 
range of offers in schools to meet the social, emotional and mental health needs of 
and children and young people, and the staff supporting them. For example: 
• Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) are currently active in 45% of 

schools in Bradford District, expanding to 65% by 2025. 
• Schools without a MHST are supported by the Education-based Emotional 

Wellbeing Practitioners (EEWPs) 
• Both the above teams deliver a range of services, including training for 

school staff, group work and individual support for children and young 
people which includes autism awareness. 

• The educational psychology team runs the Bradford Healthy Minds 
Chartermark programme. This is a whole school approach to mental health, 
supporting schools to embed good practice into their day-to-day work; 

• A youth worker is attached to every school in the district to support 
students; 

• All schools have been invited to take up the School Nursing offer. This 
offers a range of services including drop-in clinics, and 1:1 support for 
children and young people with specific needs; 

• Healthy Minds has produced a Directory of Mental Health Services 
(healthyminds.services/assets/pdfs/hm_thrive_a5_150923.pdf) to help 
schools to navigate the wide range of mental health services on offer in 
school and in the community. 

 
3.2.1 DATA One (Digitally Acting Together as One) programme the team at Born in 

Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research have delivered a series of 
research projects.  

 
3.2.2 These offer new insights into the prevalence of autism across Bradford; the 

experiences of different communities in accessing assessment and support; and 
practical recommendations on how systems might be adapted to address 
disparities such as gender, ethnicity and poverty. These proposals have been 
published. The Committee may wish to review the report here. The ICS can 
evidence progress moving towards some of these recommendations. 
 

3.2.3 Shared unit on autism on the SystmOne platform, which will be used by all 
three of the trusts delivering assessments to children. This will improve both 
information security and the quality of data available to oversee and hold systems 
accountable. 
 

Page 8

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.healthyminds.services%2Fassets%2Fpdfs%2Fhm_thrive_a5_150923.pdf&data=05%7C02%7Csasha.bhat%40bdct.nhs.uk%7C530b50b0964d451ffc1408dc36b24376%7Cf377edd1c32a465086639fc3ec794b84%7C0%7C1%7C638445386480906478%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=pC1k9aEmfj9SVoPCWTST%2BqIqtNnJFZSX%2BRHplEhdyTs%3D&reserved=0
https://www.n8research.org.uk/media/CoTN_Autism_Report_1.pdf


 
 

 

3.2.4 Electronic Developmental Support Tool (EDST) – Is the development of a 
digital tool to help teachers identify and meet the needs of children with 
neurodiversity. This is currently about to enter into phase 2 of the pilot and will 
cover key stage one settings in 43 Bradford and Craven primary schools. For the 
first time, the tool will include a ‘Digital Advice Bank’, so that as teachers identify 
children’s support needs, they are immediately able to find evidence-based 
approaches and techniques, which they can start using straight away.  
 

3.2.5 Data1 is about improving the neurodiversity pathway by implementing a needs-
based approach throughout education and creating neuro diverse friendly 
environments. These will be developed in partnership with families, communities 
and professionals to achieve improved: 
• Neurodiversity awareness in communities and at school 
• Neurodiversity friendly environments 
• Helpful advice and strategies in school and at home 
• Identification of need via a new neuro diversity profiling tool in schools that will 

accurately identify (not a formal diagnosis) autism, ADHD and developmental 
language delay which will provide a suite of targeted support and advice.  

• Improved Information sharing 
• Access to diagnosis if still needed.  

 
3.2.6 If Data1 is implemented district wide, the delivery of timely assessments will still 

remain a key part of this new systems approach for the majority of CYP. 
 

3.2.7 Neurodiverse city: We want Bradford District and Craven to become a 
neurodiverse friendly district. We need to improve understanding of neurodiversity 
among the general population as well as those working with neurodiverse 
individuals. Being ‘neurodiverse friendly’ means adapting and creating inclusive 
environments, places, policy and services in which everyone can thrive – both 
people with diagnosable neurodivergent conditions and those with neurodivergent 
traits. We will use the opportunities that the UK City of Culture Bradford 2025 
brings to accelerate this ambition. As part of this work we have: 
• Launched the Neurodiverse city ambition in November 2023 with business and 

local organisations – this is aimed at ensuring we create good practices, tools 
and resources for people who are neurodiverse to access all opportunities. 
Examples shared on the day included the sensory rooms at Broadway and 
the Alhambra’s inclusive approach to recruitment and employment. 

• Sharing lived experience of people and families 
• Developing resources – the team are building capacity across the district, to 

adapt environments. This includes making resources available, where needed.  
• Working with UK City of Culture Bradford 2025 to ensure the programme is 

neurodiverse friendly and people are employed/involved.  
 

3.2.8 Healthy Minds strategy: In January 2024, we launched our district wide Healthy 
Minds strategy and set out our approach to achieving key ambitions. With regards 
to Neurodiversity, our shared outcomes will be: 
• Bradford District and Craven to become a neurodiverse friendly district.  
• More people are accessing support within their local communities to live 

independently. 
• There will be a wider range of support and accommodation options for people 

with Autism and Sensory Impairments 

Page 9



 
 

 

• Increase the number of people recruited to and retaining meaningful 
employment. 

The full strategy be found in the appendix. 
 

 
3.3 West Yorkshire Deep Dive 
 
3.3.1 This work commenced in March 2022 with the focus being across all ages for both 

Autism and ADHD. All five West Yorkshire places are represented as part of this 
work. 

 
3.3.2 Objectives to work on together during 2023/2024:  

• To improve consistency in Autism and ADHD services, reduce wait time 
and to access assessment 

• to improve the availability of person centred, needs led, holistic support  
• to implement the ‘Right To Choose’ agenda consistently across West 

Yorkshire  
• To continue to embed co-production in the neurodiversity review, working 

with people with lived experience and professionals to create shared 
perspectives and learning to shape services.  

 
3.3.3  To date there has been two West Yorkshire events that have taken place, the first 

of a series of Summits took place in December 2023 and the second Summit took 
place in February 2024. There has been good representation from Bradford at 
these events across health, social care, VCSE and the local authority. 

   
3.3.3 This work has included extensive consultation and engagement with all 

stakeholder groups including people with lived experience, parent and carers and 
clinicians across all five places.  
 

3.3.4 To achieve these objectives there will be task and finish groups and key areas of 
work: 
• Right to choose, which will include co-producing information and resources to 

the public. 
• Data work has started that will look at consistent metrics and collection of date 

for autism and ADHD. 
• Assessment pathways evaluate and share learning from pilots, working 

together and developing digital resources. 
 

 
3.4 ADHD Medication 
 
This provides a brief overview of some the recent medication challenges for ADHD 
 
3.4.1    A high proportion of CYP diagnosed with ADHD go on to receive medication for 

the condition. With the rise in diagnosis, there has been a rise in ADHD 
medication prescribed.   

 
3.4.2   Only a healthcare professional (specialist pharmacist, non-medical prescriber or 

medical practitioner) can initiate and continue to prescribe ADHD medication. 
Workforce challenges remain for these professions. 

 

Page 10



 
 

 

3.4.3     Since September 2023, there has been a national shortage of ADHD medication. 
National guidance provided stated that there should be a pause on commencing 
new people on medication, to protect the supply for those already established on 
medication. 

 
3.4.4    This was due to resolved by December 2023, however a new date has been 

provided of April 2024 by NHS England. Waiting times have increased as a direct 
result of this national shortage, however the section below will highlight what we 
are doing to support those that are waiting.   

 
3.4.5    Clinical prioritisation criteria continue to be implemented to ensure those that are 

vulnerable and at risk are maintained on their medication. 
 
In summary, we recognise that waiting times are long and demand is increasing. The 
partnership approach enables us to see children and young people in the whole. We 
have invested in a series of support and care approaches both in school and within 
pathways to ensure children and young people can access support regardless of a 
diagnosis. We have used private providers to maintain pace with assessment while work 
takes place at local, regional and national place to address the challenges of training, 
workforce and medication access.  
 

 
4. Options 

 
4.1. There are no options associated with the strategy or service deep dive 

 
 

5. Recommendations 
 

5.1. The committee are asked to note the update that sets out our approach to 
mitigating some of the significant challenges to ensure children and young people 
in Bradford District and Craven are supported.  
 

5.2. The committee are asked to support us in setting out towards a needs-led system 
and recognise the community engagement needed. 

 
5.3. The committee is asked to support efforts to raise awareness of the Healthy 

Minds website (www.healthyminds.services/) and the Local Offer website 
(https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/) which is specifically for those looking for help 
with SEND related services 
 

 
6. Background documents 
6.1. There are no background documents 
 
7. Not for publication documents 
7.1. There are no not for publication documents 
 

Page 11

http://www.healthyminds.services/
https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/


 
 

 

11. Appendices 
 
Autism: A National Framework (Appendix 1) 
 
NHS England » A national framework to deliver improved outcomes in all-age autism 
assessment pathways: guidance for integrated care boards 
 
OFSTED/CQC SEND Inspection WSOA action plan (Appendix 2) 

20220920_Bradford_
WSOA_v4.2.docx  

 
Choice in Mental Health care (P44) (Appendix 3) 

choice-in-mental-hea
lth-care-v5 (2).pdf  

Autism Assessment and Support Crisis- Child of the North (Appendix 4) 

CotN-Digital-Pages.p
df  

Clinical Prioritisation Criteria 

Clinical Priority for 
Neurodevelopment Assessments.docx 
 
Healthy Minds Strategy 
 

 
 
 
Local Area Inclusion Plan 
 
 
Self Evaluation Framework 
 

• Bradford Local Offer  
• Healthy Minds – Mental health support in Bradford and Craven  
• CAMHS Neurodevelopmental team - BDCT 

 
 

Page 12

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/kb5/bradford/directory/home.page
https://www.healthyminds.services/
https://www.bdct.nhs.uk/services/camhs-neurodevelopmental-team/
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/Healthy_Minds_Strategy_01_2024.pdf


 1 

 

 

 

 

Joint area SEND inspection  
in Bradford 

Written Statements of Action 
September 2022 
 

 

 

 

P
age 13



 

 2 

Foreword 
Between 7 and 11 March 2022, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a joint inspection of the local area of 
Bradford to judge the effectiveness of the district in implementing the disability and special education needs reforms as set out in 
the Children and Families Act 2014.   

On 8 June 2022 the inspection report for Bradford district was published and because of the findings in accordance with the 
Children Act 2004 (Joint Area Reviews) Regulations 2015; Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector (HMCI) has determined that a Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA) is required because of five areas of significant weakness in the local area’s practice. City of Bradford 
Metropolitan District Council (CBMDC), and the local NHS responsible commissioner, West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB), 
are jointly responsible for submitting the written statement to Ofsted.   

The WSOA will explain how we plan to improve the following areas of significant weakness: 

1. Poor communication between stakeholders across education, health and care. 

2. The variable quality of EHC plans, including plans which do not fully describe the provision that children and young people with 
SEND need. 

3. The inconsistent delivery of the 0 to 19 health visiting, school nursing and specialist nursing services. 

4. Children and young people wait too long for assessments, treatment and diagnosis.  There is insufficient support for children 
and young people with SEND who are waiting for provision, services, diagnosis or equipment. 

5. Education, health and care services do not work together well.  The arrangements for joint commissioning are underdeveloped. 

Our Local Area Inspection identified several areas in which we must improve, and we have resolved to make these improvements 
and more.  This action plan sets out how the Council and the ICB will work together with partners, including parents/carers, young 
people and school leaders, to improve outcomes for children and young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 
(SEND).   

P
age 14



 

 3 

This plan, working with partners across our District, will provide the drive and ownership to improve the areas Ofsted have identified 
as requiring a Written Statement of Action (WSOA) for driving forward the improvements we need to make.   

The Local Area is committed to improving support, services and provision for children, young people, parents and carers in 
Bradford.  We are committed to working in partnership, increasing co-production, and harnessing the expertise within the system; 
including parents/carers, children, young people and the staff who work to support them.  We are committed to ensuring that the 
parents, carers and the children and young people with SEND themselves are directly and transparently involved in co-producing 
the services that support them; so that that they receive high quality education, care and health provision.  We will work across our 
wider partnership to understand experiences, improve services, and to secure the trust of families.   

Ofsted in their inspection felt we knew ourselves well.  They felt we had identified the areas we needed to improve on to provide 
better outcomes for children, young people and their families in Bradford.  We have been working with a wide range of partners 
following the inspection to help shape the activities contained within this Written Statement.  We have met with educational leads 
and schools including the Bradford Schools Partnership (BSIP), Schools Forum, Local Area Partnership (LAP) and BD3 Heads 
Group, to help frame the infrastructure and approaches we need to move forward.  We have also been working with Parent and 
Carer Groups including the Parent Carer Forum, Snoop and Aware to help co-produce new models of working that we are rolling 
out over the next 12 months. We have also engaged with key health partners, including operational service leads, senior health 
provider leads and Chief Nurses.  

Senior leaders in Bradford will prioritise the delivery of the actions outlined within this statement of action and will ensure robust 
scrutiny of progress resulting in improved services and making the best use of the resources available for SEND.   

This Written Statement of Action has been approved and endorsed by: Bradford District Council Cabinet and Bradford District and 
Craven Health and Care Partnership Leadership Executive.   

  

P
age 15



 

 4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION .....................................................................................................................................................5 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 1 ......................................................................................................................................14 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 3 ......................................................................................................................................32 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 4 ......................................................................................................................................41 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 5 ......................................................................................................................................56 

 

 

  

P
age 16



 

 5 

Introduction 
We have a shared commitment to making the district a great place to be a child and young person.  We want to put the voice of the 
child and children’s rights at the heart of the decision making and delivery of all that we do. We will support children to be as 
healthy and well as possible and we will reduce inequalities in educational attainment.   

Our SEND Strategy SEND: no limits!  sets out the vision and strategic priorities for the Bradford Local Area.  As multi-agency 
partners we will make sure we improve the outcomes and reduce inequalities for all children and young people with SEND in 
Bradford District, so that they flourish and reach their potential. 

Our SEND Joint Commissioning Strategy shares our approach to working together.  At the heart of our approach is our ambition for 
effective co-production and engagement with parents, carers and professionals, having an equal and mutual respect for each 
other’s views, with open and honest relationships.  We will continue to be transparent and continually evolve to achieve meaningful 
and positive outcomes together.  

We know that we need to improve the quality of our Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans.  We have now achieved a position 
where we are in the top half of all local authorities nationally, in terms of timeliness of plans to families, which is a positive.  We also 
know the contribution of all partners to plans and their timely review is a priority for us moving forward.   

We have listened to feedback from the CQC on the school nursing, health visiting and specialist school nursing service and the 
delivery of the Healthy Child Programme.  We are engaging in a period of review and redesign, to ensure these services meet the 
needs of children and families in the district.  

We are also in the process of seeing how we can effectively jointly commission services for SEND as part of the new Integrated 
Care Partnership (ICP) arrangements.  We are also determined to ensure that we co-design and shape all our services to meet the 
needs of children and families in the Bradford local area, who receive universal and specialist services, so we can best support 
them.    

P
age 17

https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/public/images/images/1616568629.pdf
https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/public/images/images/1622641608.pdf


 

 6 

Our Children and Young People's Plan  recognises we have challenges to overcome if we are to ensure our children can thrive 
physically, intellectually and emotionally.  One of our key principles as a Partnership is to support children to maximise their 
learning, growth and development and to remain happy, healthy at home, and wherever possible to be brought up and cared for 
within their own families.  This means working with, and supporting, the whole family as early as possible to address issues that 
can prevent children and young people from thriving, learning, growing and developing.   

We want Bradford to be a great place to be a child – a place where all our children and young people are given the best start in life 
and can fully develop their talents and abilities.  We will work tirelessly to reduce the educational attainment gap and ensure no 
child is left behind so that our most vulnerable children and young people are protected.  Education and schooling should be an 
engine of opportunity that maximises our children and young people’s life chances and prepares them for successful transitions 
into adult life, whatever their background.   

We want all our children and young people to enjoy the prospect of safe, long, happy and fruitful lives by improving their health and 
socio-economic wellbeing.  We will work to address the underlying causes of poor health, in particular the influence of poverty and 
inequality by adopting a whole population approach through our Better Health, Better Lives programme of work. 

Our Council Plan sets out how we will build a better future, supporting children and young people to achieve their full potential, 
helping children and young people from all backgrounds to lead long, happy and productive lives.  

  

P
age 18

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/6615/interimchildrenandyoungpeoplesplan2021-22.pdf
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/media/6508/bradfordcouncilplan.pdf


 

 7 

Governance 

Core to our understanding and oversight of progress on the WSOA is a robust governance structure.  Governance of the 
programme is the framework of authority and accountability that defines and controls the outputs, outcomes and benefits from 
SEND projects, programmes and portfolios.  The SEND Strategic Partnership Board is accountable for the delivery of SEND 
services.  The board is chaired by the Deputy Director of Inclusion and SEND Services and co-chaired by the Lead of the Parent 
Carer Forum, with representation from parents and carers, Headteachers (Special, Mainstream and Further Education) and 
partners with delegated authority from health, education, and adult and children’s social care. The agenda is planned and agreed 
by Education Health, Care and parents. The board will continue to oversee progress and seek assurance across this period of 
SEND development and improvement.   

The Bradford Wellbeing Board provide key oversight in the Bradford District Partnership working closely with the other Strategic 
Delivery groups.  The Health and Wellbeing Board brings together leaders from across the district including the Council, the NHS, 
the Police, Fire and Rescue, social housing and the Voluntary and Community sector.  The Board provides strategic direction to a 
wide range of organisations that organise health and wellbeing services.  The Board has a statutory responsibility under the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 and is set up as a formal committee of Bradford Council. 

This Board includes Elected Members of the Council with Portfolio responsibilities for Children's and Adult’s Social Care and 
Education and Skills and members of the West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board Place-based Health and Care Partnership 
Leadership Executive, as well as the Strategic Director of Children’s Services and the Chief Executive of the Council.  It meets 
quarterly and will be provided with a report that has been considered by the SEND Strategic Board.  

The Children’s Board and Health and Care Partnership Leadership Executive (PLE) will also consider progress reports with 
particular attention to areas of joint priority and responsibility.  Both the Bradford Wellbeing Board and PLE can confirm policy 
priorities and direction and influence change in the services led by its members.  The Chair of the PLE will provide, by exception, 
any issues relating to SEND to the West Yorkshire Integration and Care Board (ICB).   

P
age 19



 

 8 

The Lead Elected Member for Education and Skills will meet at least monthly with the Deputy  Director Education and Inclusion to 
interrogate progress in the Written Statement of Action and explore any specific issues of concern which will be addressed at the 
Bradford Wellbeing Board. 

Update reports to the Cabinet of the Council will follow a quarterly cycle for the first 12 months, supported with 6-monthly issue 
specific reports.  

The diagram below (Figure 1) sets out the structure for reporting and monitoring of the progress of the Written Statement of Action.  
The Children’s Health and Care Partnership Board (HCP) will assume responsibility for monitoring and tracking progress in 
relation to the health waiting times.  The workstreams of the SEND Strategic Partnership Board is shown in Figure 2.   

Figure 1: Children, Young People and Families Governance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Children, Young People and Families Partnership 
Data, Intelligence and Research Evidence (including Act Early, CAER, Born in Bradford) 

Voice and influence of Children, Young People and their Families 
  

O
th

er
 n

on
-re

po
rti

ng
 C

hi
ld

re
n'

s 
Bo

ar
ds

P
age 20



 

 9 

Figure 2: SEND Strategic Partnership Board Workstreams 

 
Enablers 

Diversity Voice of the child and family 

Workforce Child-centred 
 
  

P
age 21



 

 10 

Working Well together   

Partners have been working closely since the Ofsted Inspection in March 2022.  Following the Inspection, weekly and monthly 
meetings across Education, Health and Care have contributed towards the development of the activities, projects and programmes 
that are taking shape to form the next stage of our improvement journey.  

Senior leads have actively worked across the Local Area to reshape and implement the required changes that are needed to 
deliver the Written Statement of Action (WSOA).  This has been a collaborative approach building on the back of our Open Houses 
co-production events that were completed in the Winter of 2021 prior to our inspection.  

Children and young people are a priority of the whole partnership.  Our shared purpose is to support children and young people 
with additional and complex needs, by co-producing universal and specialist services to meet the needs within the district.  We 
have been working with a wide range of partners following the inspection to help shape and co-produce the activities contained 
within this Written Statement.   

In line with the improvement plan set out in this WSOA, the Health and Care Partnership will continue to prioritise investments into 
services for children and young people to ensure the trajectories can be achieved.  

We have agreed several principles to keep us working effectively together to deliver better timely outcomes for children and 
families between Education, Health and Social Care:  

• The child/young person is at the heart of everything we do;  

• The Universal Offer and Prevention and Early Intervention is our first pillar, which means encouraging and supporting 
individuals and families to ask for help when they need it and not when it is too late, and then ensuring that help and support 
is accessible when needed;  

• Co-producing as a system all that we deliver, evaluate and re-design with active participation from children, parents/carers;   

P
age 22



 

 11 

• Supporting children to maximise their learning, growth and development and remain happy, healthy at home, and wherever 
possible to be brought up and cared for within their own families;  

• Adhering to the principles and behaviours set out in the single partnering agreement; and 

• Sign up to a shared purpose and shared outcomes that support children and families with their physical, social, emotional 
mental health needs with a shared commitment to increase prevention and early intervention.  

The Health and Care Partnership Leadership Executive proposed that Children and Young People will be one of our five priorities.  
This was endorsed by the Wellbeing Executive and SEND Strategic Partnership Board.  

 

P
age 23



 

 12 

Local Monitoring Arrangements 

The baselines established upon implementation of WSOA and targets agreed by the Action Leads will be monitored as follows: 

Figure 3: Local monitoring arrangements schedule 

Monthly 

Key Performance Indicators 
Progress and challenge held at SEND Strategic Partnership Board 
Health and Care senior leadership meeting 

Bi-monthly 

WSOA interim reports on progress Targeted WSOA updates to SEND Strategic Partnership Board (exception reporting) 

Quarterly 

WSOA formal reports of on progress 

Council Executive 
Partnership Leadership Executive (PLE) 
Children’s Health and Care Partnership Board 
NHS England / Department for Education quarterly monitoring 

Six-monthly 

Political oversight of WSOA Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Annually 

Statutory responsibility Bradford Wellbeing Board 

The SEND Transformation and Compliance Team will ensure the timely production of reports that will highlight the progress of 
each workstream, as well as any areas of risk. 

 

P
age 24



 

 13 

Monitoring of the WSOA  

This Written Statement of Action (WSOA) will provide a framework for addressing the key issues and areas for development 
identified by Ofsted and the CQC in their inspection.   

The WSOA is a dynamic document that will remain under constant review and therefore change over time as work is progressed.  
Progress against actions within each priority will be ‘BRAGG’ rated as follows: 

Action completed and embedded:   BLUE 

Action significantly delayed:   RED 

Action in progress:     AMBER 

Action on track:     GREEN 

Action not yet started as dependent on  GREY 
or waiting other actions to be completed:  

The ‘BRAGG’ rating above will be used as part of the monitoring process going forward which will be undertaken by the Bradford 
SEND Strategic Partnership Board.  Milestone completion dates will be included in the WSOA as the plan is monitored, which will 
act as a critical measure over the next two years. 

Wherever quantifiable, percentages of improvement will be recorded within the progress columns along with milestone measures 
and a narrative to explain the journey towards completing the actions.   

Impact measures will also be quantified where appropriate, for example, percentage of parental satisfaction as the actions are 
delivered and become embedded. 

  

P
age 25



 

 14 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 1 

Poor communication between stakeholders across education, health and care 

SRO: Niall Devlin, Assistant Director SEND and Inclusion 

All stakeholders in Bradford agree that more can be done to implement stronger positive models of engagement and 
communication between partners in the Local Area.  We are committed as partners to work as one system with a shared purpose 
to enhance communication between stakeholders across education, health and care.  We will also co-design improvement plans in 
partnership with children and families to ensure measurable improvements to service outcomes and experience.   

We have made substantial strides in the last 18 months, supporting the development of our SEND workstreams and co-producing 
our Improvement Programme for the next two years.  These actions have resulted in significant positive change within services.  
We accept however, that further work needs to be done and we are ready to face that challenge as a system.  We need to network, 
communicate and plan better across the local area and demonstrate greater empathy, compassion and care for all our service 
users.  We know, as well, that we need to be clearer about how long some tasks should take before we contact our partners and 
families on the next steps of the pathway.  

We are co-producing a new stakeholder plan that sets the metrics for how we will work together.  This will agree standard 
timeframes to hold each other to account on and to be held to account for.  These standards will be published in service level 
agreements.  We are also committing to holding each other to a high standard of supporting families right in the first instance.  We 
have set ourselves a target through our annual survey, where we want 65% of our parents to be happy with the service, they get 
from us in relation to the timeliness of our responses and the quality of our services.   

The Local Area is committed to working more collaboratively with our schools.  We will work to improve our involvement, to ensure 
that the knowledge and first-hand experience of those working closest with our children and young people with SEND is used to 
shape the Annual Strategic Plan – Sufficiency of Specialist places.    

P
age 26



 

 15 

This will assist in ensuring that we meet the needs of all our children and young people across the district, by having the required 
provisions in the most needed areas of the district where possible.  We will conduct an annual survey of our schools to ensure that 
this is the case. 

We will also be refreshing our governance processes and workstreams to ensure that we get a wider level of both parental and 
school involvement in our workstreams to help deliver the next stage of our SEND improvement journey.  

We have identified within our SEND Improvement Programme that we need to make ourselves more democratically accountable to 
all children and young people with SEND.  We are creating a new model of participation and involvement for children across 
Bradford which will go live this academic year.  We want to make sure their voices are heard more collectively in shaping strategic 
decisions, as well as committing to hearing their voices more clearly in their Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans.  

The Local Area is currently in the process of refreshing the Local Offer.  A project is underway to take the next step in updating this 
key resource.  We will be working with partners to remove out of date content so that the Local Offer can be navigated more easily, 
monitored by quarterly auditing and published reporting.  This will offer greater personalisation of content based on if you are a 
child or young person, parent, or professional to help you find the information you need more easily. 

  

P
age 27



 

 16 

Table 1: Improvement Area 1 – Poor communication between stakeholders across education, health and care 

Activity   Lead  Partners Timeframe  Success/Measure Progress   RAG  

Objective 1.1 To develop an engagement and communication plan to improve communication to all stakeholders and families to ensure timely feedback   
                        and support from SEND services is provided. 
Objective 1.2 To hold engagement events with schools in relation to the sufficiency of specialist places to ensure greater awareness and input into   
  school  place planning processes.  

Objective 1.3 To deliver a new model of engagement and involvement for children and young people for SEND to increase child and young person   
  engagement and accountability in the design and running of SEND Services.   

Objective 1.4 To widen the involvement of partners in the SEND workstreams to improve change overall to reflect new priorities in SEND services.  

Objective 1.5 To support the improvements to the Local Offer refresh to support families to find the right information at the right time.  

Objective 1.1  To develop an engagement plan for communication improvement to all stakeholders and families to ensure timely feedback and support  
  from SEND services is provided.  

1.1.1  To form a wider 
representative stakeholder 
group to support the 
development of a new 
communication, stakeholder and 
engagement plan that is co-
produced with partners and 
families that include published 
Service Level Agreements 
between education, health, 
social care partners and 
families.  

Strategic Manager 
SEND  
CBMDC 

• SSPB 
• Parents and Families 

Groups 
• All Schools across 

Bradford 
• CYP’s Engagement 

Groups 
• Health Partners 
• Social Care 
• VCSE Groups 

November   
2022 

Group formed  
Terms of 
Reference 
approved  

  

1.1.2  To approve the 
communication stakeholder and 
engagement plan to 

Strategic Manager 
SEND  
CBMDC 

• SSPB 
• Parents and Families 

Groups 

December 
2022 

Stakeholder Plan 
published 
 

  

P
age 28



 

 17 

demonstrate a commitment to 
wider improvement for 
stakeholder communication with 
partners, families and Children. 

• All Schools across 
Bradford 

• CYP’s Engagement 
Groups.  

SLA Charter 
approved 

1.1.3  To publish the Annual 
Report of parental and partner 
satisfaction scores of SEND 
Services relating to timeliness 
and quality of SEND services.  
To increase the scores from 
25% in 2022 of families and 
partners feel they are kept 
informed of progress to 65% by 
December 2025.  

Strategic Manager 
SEND  
CBMDC 

• Parents and Families 
Groups 

• All Schools across 
Bradford 

• CYP’s Engagement 
Groups 

December 
2023 
 
 
 
December 
2024 
December 
2025  

35% of families / 
partners will feel 
they are kept 
informed by 
December 2023 

50% by December 
2024  

65% by December 
2025 

  

Objective 1.2 To hold engagement events with schools in relation to the sufficiency of specialist places to ensure greater awareness and input into   
  school place planning processes.  

1.2.1  To hold engagement 
events with schools prior to the 
publication of the Annual 
Strategic Plan – Sufficiency of 
Specialist Places.  This will 
ensure that schools knowledge 
and first-hand experience is 
captured and considered 
against our data sets / forecasts 
when shaping and reviewing the 
Strategic Plan. 

Strategic Manager  
Sufficiency  
CBMDC 

• School/Academies 
• School Representative 

Bodies   
• School Forum and sub 

groups 

December 
2022 
 
April 2023  
 
December 
2023 
 
April 2024 

Biannual events 
with Schools 
complete 

  

1.2.2  To enhance awareness of 
the publication of the Annual 

Strategic Manager 
Sufficiency  

• Schools/Academies September 
2022 & further 

70% of schools 
report they are 

  

P
age 29



 

 18 

Strategic Plan – Sufficiency of 
Specialist places. 

CBMDC • School Representative 
Bodies   

• School Forum and sub 
groups 

in September 
2023 

satisfied they are 
aware of the plan 
of sufficiency  

Objective 1.3 To deliver a new model of engagement and participation for children and young people for SEND to increase child and young person  
  engagement and accountability in the design and running of SEND Services.   

1.3.1  To finalise the model of 
student and pupil engagement, 
and to approve the model of 
democracy for participation for 
children with SEND in Bradford. 

SEND 
Transformation 
Manager 
CBMDC 

• Coproduction and 
Engagement Workstream 
Members  

• School representative 
Bodies  

• SEND Young 
Ambassadors  

December 
2022 

Model agreed and 
approved by SEND 
Partnership Board 

  

1.3.2  To commence the 
Children & Young People’s 
democratic and  participation 
function across Bradford 
schools  

SEND 
Transformation 
Manager 
CBMDC 

• Coproduction and 
Engagement Workstream 
Members  

• School representative 
Bodies  

• SEND Young 
Ambassadors  

March 2023 New model 
launched in 
2022/23 Academic 
Year  

  

Objective 1.4 To widen the involvement of partners in the SEND workstreams to improve change overall to reflect new priorities in SEND services. 

1.4 .1  To revise SEND 
governance arrangements 
increasing parental and school 
participation reflecting the new 
work areas identified within the 
SEND Improvement 
Programmes 2022- 2024 

SEND 
Transformation 
Manager 
CBMDC 

• SSPB Members 
• Previous Workstream 

Members 
• SEND Ambassadors 
• School Forum Reps 

October 2022 New Governance 
Approved  

  

P
age 30



 

 19 

Objective 1.5 To support the improvements to the Local Offer refresh to support families to find the right information at the right time 

1.5.1  To review and amend or 
remove out of date content 
within the Local Offer.  

Local Offer Lead 
CBMDC 

• All SEND Workstreams  
• PFBA / Aware 
• School Forum Members  

October 2022 
 
December 
2022 
 
 
April 2023 
(Ongoing 
biannually) 
 
December 
2023 (ongoing 
quarterly) 

Complete Data 
quality audit 

All Local Offer 
pages to have 
named owner by 
Dec22 

Bi-annual review of 
dip-sample of  
Local Offer pages 
to be complete 

95% of Local Offer 
pages which are 
audited are up to 
date  

  

1.5.2  To launch the new Local 
Offer website, to support 
families to find the right 
information at the right time 

Local Offer Lead 
CBMDC 

• All SEND Workstreams  
• PFBA / Aware 

November  
2023 

New Local Offer 
Launched 

  

  

P
age 31



 

 20 

How will we know that what we are doing is making a difference? 

Outcome 
Indicators  

 

 

1.1  Within our EHC Annual Survey, by 2025 65% of our families & Partners are happy with the timeliness 
 and quality of services that they receive 

1.1  That quarterly dip sampling of cases meets our revised SLAs with children and families about timeliness of 
 response from the SEND Integrated Assessment Teams 

1.2  That 70% of Schools in the Review Survey report on improved levels of engagement with the Local 
 Authority on School Place Planning by 2024 

1.3  That the new model of democracy and engagement is launched in 2022/2023 Academic Year 

1.4  Revised Governance Arrangements agreed by October 2022 

1.5  That 95% of Services reported within the Local Offer audit have up to date service information 

1.5  That the Updated Local Offer goes live by September 2023 

  

P
age 32



 

 21 

Improvement Area 1 Impact Statement 

The table below sets out what children, families and partners can expect, as a result of the actions set out in this WSOA. 

WSOA 1 Objectives How will this make a difference 
to children and families? An example in practice 

1.1 To develop a stakeholder and 
engagement plan for communication 
improvement to all stakeholders and 
families to ensure timelier feedback 
and support from SEND services is 
provided. 

Families and professionals will have a 
published group of service level 
agreements so they know what and 
when they can expect updates on their 
case.  This will clarify the timeframes 
for families and professionals about 
queries, applications and updates on 
matters relating to next steps which 
are clear.  

Professional letters are reviewed and 
made more personal in providing core 
updates.  Greater preferencing of 
parental wishes is considered and then 
acted upon in a published timeframe.  

A family have emailed the Integrated Assessment inbox for an 
update on their child’s draft EHC Plan.  They receive an email 
saying that all queries relating to draft plans will be responded to 
within 5 days either by phone or email.  They ask if they can be 
called back on an update as opposed to receiving an email.  

They receive a phone call from their EHC Officer 4 days later to talk 
through Section A of the child’s plan as there are some areas that 
need further information to be placed in there.  

1.2 To hold engagement events with 
schools prior to the publication of the 
Annual Strategic Plan – Sufficiency of 
Specialist Places.  This will ensure that 
schools knowledge and first-hand 
experience is captured and considered 
against our data sets/forecasts when 
shaping and reviewing the Strategic 
Plan. 

Schools will be sighted on sufficiency 
plans so they understand what places 
are being built and when and to test 
though a survey to see if they are 
happy with the engagement and with 
the forward plan for places.  

The Strategic Plan is shared with Schools Forum showing detailed 
place allocations for the next two years showing the type of places 
and locations we are expanding and why.  Schools are supported to 
share their thoughts on the style and concepts being presented to 
help shape future strategies, plans and consultations for new school 
places.  

P
age 33



 

 22 

1.3 To deliver a new model of 
engagement and participation for 
children and young people for SEND to 
increase child and young person 
engagement and accountability in the 
design and running of SEND Services.   

Children are given an opportunity to 
co-produce the services of the future 
and to be given more opportunities to 
be involved in the democratic and co-
productive elements more widely of 
services that support them.  

A new SEND Youth Council meets termly to help design, challenge 
and scrutinise new services for short breaks that will take place in 
their schools.  Children design and vote on their favourite proposals 
and decide to include more active sport and play, and new reading 
based support to help them.  

1.4 To widen the involvement of 
partners in the SEND workstreams to 
improve change overall to reflect new 
priorities in SEND services. 

More parental engagement is put into 
the workstreams to support, coproduce 
and challenge the workstream 
progress to support further benefits to 
children and families.  

20% of the workstream core members are made up of parents to 
reflect greater parental involvement in the progress and decision 
making.  More parental views are captured organically as part of our 
improvement works so that greater input is shared more regularly 
and provides greater balance to proposals and work being done.  

1.5 To support the improvements to 
the Local Offer refresh to support 
families to find the right information at 
the right time. 

The new Local Offer will not contain 
out of date information and acts as 
personalised resource to help parents, 
carers, professionals and young 
people find what they need easily 
about services.  

The Local Offer contains three front doors that provider greater 
personalisation, to children and young people, parent’s 
professionals.  This allows them to move towards pages and 
services that provide greater resonance to them and give them what 
they need quicker and with greater personalisation to their needs. 

 

P
age 34



 

 23 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 2 

The variable quality of EHC plans, including plans which do not fully describe the provision that children and 
young people with SEND need. 

SRO: Niall Devlin, Assistant Director SEND and Inclusion 

Within our SEND improvement journey, we plan to further improve the timeliness of reissuing Education, Health and Care (EHC) 
plans following annual reviews.  We are proud of our efforts to support the improvements we have made over the last two years, 
where seven families out of ten now get their EHC plan within twenty weeks. 

We are now embarking on the next phase to ensure that Annual Reviews of our EHC plans are done within compliant time limits.  
We will be prioritising our efforts to ensure updated EHC plans are reissued to families within agreed statutory required time limits 
of an annual review taking place.  This will ensure we are in line with the findings of the recent judicial review and within the 
proposals outlined within the SEND Review: Right Support, Right Place, Right Time Government consultation on the SEND and 
alternative provision system in England.  We are recruiting a new Annual Review Team to help us with these tasks to support 
families that will be in place by early 2023. 

A thematic review of our EHC Plans has found further work is required to strengthen the quality of contributions from statutory 
partners and to ensure that these are accurately reflected in the final EHCP.  Our priority is to ensure plans reflect the identified 
needs of children in our District.  We know that accurate and meaningful contributions to specify health and social care needs is not 
always reflected in our plans, particularly where a child is supported with a child protection plan or where they have been brought 
into care. 

The Local Area agree with Ofsted that more needs to be done to strengthen the inclusion of meaningful Preparation for Adulthood 
outcomes in our EHC Plans on a more consistent basis.  We also know that out-of-date Key Stage of Education outcomes are too 
often found in our plans for children.  This means in practice that we cannot always fully understand if children are making the 
expected progress we want for them.    

P
age 35

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063620/SEND_review_right_support_right_place_right_time_accessible.pdf


 

 24 

Working with our Improvement Partner Warrington Council, we know that we need to measure our improvement in these areas 
through a new Quality Assurance Framework that will become integral to how we monitor quality and will replace existing quality 
monitoring arrangements.   

The Quality Assurance Framework aims to provide a range of mechanisms to help set direction, support delivery, manage risk, 
monitor and review practice and outcomes for children and young people. 

Bradford is also currently on an improvement journey to embed its new SEND performance framework (Vital Signs).  This will help 
us provide further clarity and understanding on the quality and timeliness of activities relating to our EHC Processes.  We are 
committed as a partnership to share accurate and timely progress with others, to ensure greater confidence that our overall 
improvement work is delivering the outcomes we want for children and families. 

  

P
age 36



 

 25 

Table 2: Improvement Area 2 – The variable quality of EHC plans, including plans which do not fully describe the provision that  
    children and young people with SEND need. 

Activity   Lead  Partners Timeframe  Success/Measure Progress   RAG  

Objective 2.1 All Annual Reviews are consistently re-issued within the required time limits to ensure all children receive appropriate support in line   
  with their needs. 

Objective 2.2 To improve the meaningful and accurate contribution of health and social care to EHC Plans to ensure the correct contributions from   
  professionals allowing children and families to access the right services to support their child. 

Objective 2.3 To ensure PFA Outcomes are stated in all EHC Plans from Year 9 in all annual reviews, so that a clear pathway is identified to support  
  a young person prepare for adulthood.   

Objective 2.4 To ensure that EHC plans have meaningful outcomes that are relevant to a child’s journey and relate to their current Key Stage of Education 
  so that provisions meet a child’s needs. 

Objective 2.5 To improve the number of plans that are audited that meet the needs of children as set out in the Quality Assurance Framework. 

Objective 2.1 All Annual Reviews are consistently re-issued within the required time limits to ensure all children receive appropriate support in line   
  with their needs. 

2.1.1 To recruit the new Annual 
Review Team within Education 
and Learning to improve the 
timeliness of amended EHC 
plans being issued to families 
and schools.  

Strategic 
Manager 
SEND  
CBMDC 

• Children and Young 
People’s Engagement 
Groups. 

• Health and Social Care 
Partners  

February 
2023 

8 FTE Annual 
Review Officers 
recruited 

  

2.1.2 To improve the current 
timeliness of EHC plans being 
reissued following an Annual 
Review. 

Strategic 
Manager 
SEND  
CBDMC 

• All Schools across 
Bradford 

• Children and Young 
People’s Engagement 
Groups. 

• Statutory Health Partners 
• Social Care Leaders 

December 
2022 

January 
2024 (70%) 
 
 

Launch of Annual 
Review Portal 

By January 2024, 
70% of all EHC 
Plans will be re-
issued in line with 
statutory required 

  

P
age 37



 

 26 

  
 
January 
2025 (80%) 

time limits following 
an Annual Review. 

By January 2025, 
80% of all EHC 
Plans will be re-
issued in line with 
statutory required 
time limits following 
an Annual Review. 

Objective 2.2 To improve the meaningful and accurate contribution of health and social care to EHC Plans to ensure the correct contributions from   
  professionals allowing children and families to access the right services to support their child. 

2.2.1 To improve the 
contribution of Social Care to 
EHC Plans to ensure social care 
advice and support is identified 
and recorded accurately within 
plans.  

DSCO Social 
Care 
Bradford 
Children’s 
Trust 

• SEND Services  
• Social Care Leaders 
•  

January 
2024 (65%) 
 
 
 
January 
2025 (80%) 

By January 2024, 
65% of all EHC 
Plans will have up 
to date Social Care 
Advice. 
By January 2025, 
80% of Plans will 
have up to date 
Social Care advice. 

  

2.2.2 To improve the 
contribution of Health to EHC 
Plans to ensure health advice 
and support is identified and 
recorded accurately within 
plans. 

Designated 
Clinical Officer 
Health 
Professionals*   

• SEND Services 
• NHS Trust Leadership  
• Statutory Health Partners / 

DCO 
•  

January 
2024 (65%)  
 
 
 
January 
2025 (80%) 

By January 2024, 
65% of Plans will 
have up to date 
Health Advice. 
By January 2025, 
80% Plans will 
have up to date 
Health  advice. 

  

  

P
age 38



 

 27 

Objective 2.3 To ensure PFA Outcomes are stated in all EHC Plans from Year 9 in all annual reviews, so that a clear pathway is identified to support  
  a young person prepare for adulthood.   

2.3.1  To ensure PFA outcomes 
are correctly recorded in EHC 
Plans from Year 9 to ensure 
greater consistency to support 
PFA planning in EHC plans in 
the Local Area. (Baseline 
currently 30%) 

Strategic 
Manager 
SEND  
CBMDC 

• PFA Workstream Members 
• School representative 

Bodies  
• SEND Young 

Ambassadors  

January 
2024 (75%) 
 
 
 
 
January 
2025 (80%) 

By January 2024, 
75% of all EHC 
plans with have up 
to date PFA 
Outcomes 
recorded. 

By January 2025, 
80% of all EHC 
plans with have up 
to date PFA 
Outcomes 
recorded. 

  

Objective 2.4 To ensure that EHC plans have meaningful outcomes that are relevant to a child’s journey and relate to their current Key Stage of Education 
  so that provisions meet a child’s needs. 

2.4 To ensure EHC plans have 
appropriate educational Key 
Stage outcomes recorded to 
ensure provisions meet the 
needs of children. 

SEND Team 
Manager  
CBMDC    

• Coproduction and 
Engagement Workstream 
Members  

• School representative 
Bodies  

• SEND Young 
Ambassadors  

January 
2024 (75%) 
 
 
 
 
January 
2025 (80%) 

By January 2024, 
75% of all EHC 
plans with have up 
to date appropriate 
Key Stage 
outcomes recorded.  

By January 2025, 
80% of all EHC 
plans with have up 
to date appropriate 
Key Stage 
outcomes recorded.  

  

  

P
age 39



 

 28 

Objective 2.5 To improve the number of plans that are audited meet the needs of children as set out in the  Quality Assurance Framework. 

2.5.1 To introduce the new 
Quality Assurance Framework 
working with our DFE 
Improvement Partner.  

Strategic 
Manager 
SEND  
CBMDC 

• SSPB Board Members 
• Integrated Assessment 

Board Members  
• SLI Partner Warrington 

Council  
• SENDCO Network 

November 
2022 

New QA 
Framework 
Launched 

  

2.5.2 To launch updated 
performance framework to 
support oversight of EHC Plan 
improvements.  

Strategic 
Manager 
SEND  
CBDMC 

• SSPB Board Members 
• Integrated Assessment 

Board Members  
• SLI Partner Warrington BC  
• SENDCO Network 

November 
2022 

New Performance 
Framework 
Launched  

  

2.5.3 To improve the overall 
percentage of EHC plans being 
independently assessed under 
the QA framework as meeting 
the needs of children. 

Strategic 
Manager 
SEND  
CBDMC 

• SSPB Board Members 
• Integrated Assessment 

Board Members  
• SLI Partner Warrington BC  
• SENDCO Network 

January 
2024 (70%) 
 
 
 
 
 
January 
2025 (80%) 

By January 2024, 
70% of all EHC 
plans will be 
independently 
considered to be 
deemed, to be 
sufficient to meet 
needs.   
By January 2025, 
80% of all EHC 
plans will be 
independently 
considered to be 
deemed, to be 
sufficient to meet 
needs.   

  

  

P
age 40



 

 29 

How will we know that what we are doing is making a difference? 

Outcome 
Indicators  

 

 

2.1 Improve the timeliness of the re-issuing of EHC Plans following an Annual Review within agreed statutory 
time limits to 70% in 2024 and 80% in 2025 

2.2  To improve the contribution of Social Care to EHC plans to 65% in 2024 and to 80% in 2025 

2.2  To improve the contribution of health advice to EHC Plans to 65% in 2024 and 80% by 2025 

2.3  To improve the numbers of Year 9 pupils with PFA Outcomes recorded in their EHC Plans to 75% in 2024 
 and to 80% by 2025 

2.4  To improve the numbers of pupils with appropriate Key Stage outcomes recorded in their EHC Plans to 
 75% in 2024 and to 80% by 2025 

2.5 To increase the numbers of EHC plans found to be sufficient, to meet needs through independent audit to 
70% in 2024  and 80%% in 2025 

  

  

P
age 41



 

 30 

Improvement Area 2 Impact Statement 

The table below sets out what children, families and partners can expect, as a result of the actions set out in this WSOA. 

WSOA 2 Objectives How will this make a difference 
to children and families? An example in practice 

2.1 All Annual Reviews are 
consistently re-issued within 
the required time limits to 
ensure all children receive 
appropriate support in line with 
their needs. 

Families and schools receive up to date 
plans that clearly articulate any material 
changes to an EHC plan that set out 
the support and provisions that are 
reflective of a child’s needs and 
demonstrate their lived experiences.  

Schools receive their updated paperwork back in a timely manner setting 
out what change in support will now be provided to a child / young person to 
meet their outcomes. This can include a change of resource allocation in 
terms of 1:2:1 support that is needed now that further needs have been 
identified in the annual review. 

A change of circumstances to access health services has also been found 
that opens access to health provisions that without their input into the EHC 
Plan would not be accessed by a family or child. 

2.2 To improve the meaningful 
and accurate contribution of 
health and social care to EHC 
Plans to ensure the correct 
contributions from 
professionals allowing children 
and families to access the right 
services to support their child. 

Families receive plain English 
descriptions of the support they are 
going to receive from social care and 
health that is practical in nature and 
focuses on supporting any health 
conditions and social care needs a child 
may have.  This helps to support 
families to understand how and where 
they can access services that support 
their child’s health and social care 
needs.  

Health example in a plan:  Elena (9 years old) will have a physiotherapy 
programme developed by her therapist for use in school in advance of the 
start of Year 5. Within the first week of Elena starting Year 5, school staff will 
be trained in the programme by a member of the therapy team. The 
programme will subsequently be reviewed at the beginning of every half 
term. 

Social Work example in a plan-  James (10 years old) will have a place 
reserved at the local specialist holiday scheme for young children with 
autistic spectrum disorder. He will be able to attend for six half day sessions 
of his parents choosing during each school holiday period. This is funded by 
the Children with Disabilities team. 

2.3 To ensure PFA Outcomes 
are stated in all EHC Plans 
from Year 9 in all annual 
reviews, so that a clear 
pathway is identified to support 

Preparation for Adulthood outcomes 
are included as early as possible to 
support a child and young person meet 
their potential. That support and 
services are wrapped around these 

At the Annual Review for Hassan in Year 8, early dialogue is formed at the 
review meeting setting out personalised inputs into his plan that consider his 
cognition and learning, communication & interaction, SEMH and his 
sensory, medical and physical needs.   

P
age 42



 

 31 

a young person prepare for 
adulthood.   

objectives in the plan to help a young 
person transition into the most suitable 
education, employment or training 
opportunities. 

These are included in his new plan and form the basis of his PFA journey 
into Year 9 and above. They form key drivers in terms of his future schooling 
arrangements, his curricula and his work experience opportunities though 
Year 9 and beyond.  

2.4 To ensure that EHC plans 
have meaningful outcomes 
that are relevant to a child’s 
journey and relate to their 
current Key Stage of 
Education so that provisions 
meet a child’s needs. 

Families have the most appropriate Key 
Stage outcomes recorded in the child’s 
plan so that progress can be tracked to 
see where a child is meeting their 
stated objectives that is reflective of a 
young person’s journey through 
education. This will support families to 
better understand progress and to 
support and challenge the quality of 
services that a family is receiving where 
appropriate. 

As part of the Annual Review for Hannah who is in Year 3, a review of her 
KS1 outcomes considered the progress she has made in Years 1 and 2 in 
her school since she received her EHC Plan in Reception. 

Professionals who know Hannah, consider her aspirations in Section A of 
her EHC plan and provide new outcomes that are smart and relevant to her 
lived experience. These form her updated plan that is then reviewed 
annually to review the progress against her new outcome measures. 

2.5 To improve the number of 
plans that are audited that 
meet the needs of children as 
set out in the Quality 
Assurance Framework. 

Plans will have greater value and 
meaning to both parents and 
professionals due to a child’s plan 
accurately reflecting their journey and 
what support they need moving 
forward. This will help inform the size 
and shape of services that are needed 
to meet sufficiency needs of children 
individually and as a whole.  

A thematic review of all children on the Edge of Care in 2023 found that 
75% of all plans accurately reflect the child’s journey and their needs had 
been identified.  There were however some areas of wider thematic growth 
that is required about setting out PFA outcomes in children in Year 9 and 
above.  

A new Project is approved and commissioned to ensure all plans in this 
cohort reflect this requirement and the SEND Strategic Partnership Board 
request an update 6 months later on progress to address this training and 
operational matter.   

This is completed and on re-review 90% of plans for children on the edge of 
care have meaningful PFA outcomes embedded in them.  

  

P
age 43



 

 32 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 3 

The inconsistent delivery of the 0 to 19 health visiting, school nursing and specialist nursing services. 

SRO: Sarah Muckle, Director of Public Health 

Our 0-19 Services are the foundations upon which all child health services are built, to support the early identification of children 
who have SEND and additional needs.   

The Local Area is committed to having the right foundations in place, to ensure we can support the wider health and care system to 
identify our children’s needs earlier and in a more consistent manner.  This will help us to improve outcomes for children and their 
families, to provide them with the right support, in the right place, at the right time.  

The Council has identified over £1m of additional in-year investment for the 0-19 service.  This will become recurrent from April 
2023.  The Council and Bradford District Care Foundation Trust (BDCFT) are working together to use the additional funds to 
improve the Health Visiting and School Nursing Service, focusing on the experience of babies, children, young people and families.  
We are committed to ensuring that we improve face-to-face antenatal contacts with prospective parents.  This will help identify 
needs early, including before birth where appropriate so that babies and children who are vulnerable or who have complex needs 
are identified and supported early.  

The service offer will also ensure that developmental reviews for children aged between two and two and a half years are 
completed consistently, allowing for the greater early identification of additional needs for the child population of our District.  Work 
to increase the numbers of professionals in the School Nursing Service is also taking place.   

Council and health colleagues will work together to ensure that training offered by specialist services is available for professionals 
and parent / carers to ensure that children and young people and their families have consistent support within the setting they are 
attending.    

P
age 44



 

 33 

We are committing to creating new screening pathways, to ensure that all children across the District are screened for hearing and 
visual impairments so that the 0-19 service and wider system can recognise and provide support to children with emerging sensory 
impairments. 

Engagement and consultation on children’s 0-19 services has taken place with families, schools, Voluntary Community Social 
Enterprise (VCSE) organisations, and partners, to inform development and innovation within the 0-19 contract to improve the 
experience of babies, children, young people and families. 

Partners will work together to review 0-19 and specialist nursing services to ensure that specialist provision dovetails seamlessly 
with the 0-19 service offer.  This will include a review of: the 0-19 service offer; School Nursing Special Needs; mainstream 
specialist school nursing; community children’s nursing; continuing care and children looked after services.  This will ensure that 
the identification of additional needs for vulnerable and complex children takes place as early as possible and that, once identified, 
needs are supported seamlessly by all relevant agencies. 

Bradford is one of 75 areas in the country which has received Start for Life funding.  The Council’s Early Help teams are working 
closely with a range of partners to use this funding to ensure that babies, children and families have access to trained professionals 
from a wide range of services in family hubs.  This will improve early identification and addressing of additional needs across 
Bradford in community settings, and improve the experience for families, especially for children and young people with SEND. 

  

P
age 45



 

 34 

Table 3: Improvement Area 3 – The inconsistent delivery of the 0-19 Health Visiting, School Nursing and Specialist Nursing Service 

Activity   Lead  Partners Timeframe  Success/Measure Progress   RAG  

Objective 3.1 To improve the consistency of the Health Visiting, School Nursing and Specialist School Nursing services so that families, babies   
  and children have additional needs identified and addressed early.  

Objective 3.2  To improve delivery of Vision and Audiology screening, so that reception-aged children have hearing and visual impairment identified  
  and addressed early.  

Objective 3.3 To make sure that training by the specialist nursing teams is delivered consistently to partners, so that children have their needs   
  understood and met by people within the settings they are attending. 

Objective 3.4  To ensure that children and young people’s additional needs are identified effectively by Early Help practitioners and in family hubs so that 
babies, children and families receive the help they need more consistently. 

Objective 3.1 To improve the consistency of the Health Visiting, School Nursing and Specialist School Nursing services so that families, babies   
  and children have additional needs identified and addressed early 

3.1.1  BDCFT to implement 
plans to establish new teams 
and ways of working within the 
Health Visiting service which 
streamline services and 
improve the proportion of 
women receiving routine 
antenatal contacts  
(baseline 2021/22 = 34.3%) 

General Manager 
Community 
Services  
BDCFT 

Senior Public Health 
specialist  
CBMDC 

Babies, children and 
families 

September 
2022  

 

December 
2022  

 

September 
2023 

35% of parents 
receive an 
antenatal visit  

40% of parents 
receive an 
antenatal visit  

55% of parents 
receive an 
antenatal visit 

KPI target 55% 
 
 

 

3.1.2 BDCFT to implement their 
plan to establish new teams 
and ways of working within the 
Health Visiting service which 
streamline services and 

General Manager 
Community 
Services  
BDCFT 

Senior Public Health 
specialist CBMDC 

Babies, children and 
families 

September 
2022  

 

 

90% of children 
receive a 2-year 
check with ASQ3 
assessment by 
age 30 months  

KPI target is 90% 
 
 
 

 

P
age 46



 

 35 

improve the proportion of 
children receiving the routine 2-
2.5-year check/ ASQ  
(baseline 2021/22 = 54.7%). 

December 
2022  

 

 

 

March 2023 

 

 

December 
2023  

 

92% of children 
receive a 2-year 
check with ASQ3 
assessment by 
age 30 months 

92% of children 
receive a 2-year 
check with ASQ3 
assessment by 
age 30months  

95% of children 
receive a 2-year 
check with ASQ3 
assessment by 
age 30 months 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KPI target is 95%  
 

3.1.3  Key stakeholders review 
and develop core and specialist 
pathways between 0-19 and 
Specialist services to ensure 
seamless and consistent 
processes for CYP and families 

General Manager 
Community 
Services  
BDCFT  
 

Consultant in Public Health 
CBMDC 

BDC HCP 

Families and children 

January 2023 
 
 
November 
2023 
March 2024 

Pathways 
identified for 
development 

Pathways 
developed 

Pathways active 

  

Objective 3.2  To improve delivery of Vision and Audiology screening, so that reception-aged children have hearing and visual impairment identified  
  and addressed early 

3.2.1  BDCFT to deliver 
audiology screening at school 
entry so that hearing 
impairment is identified and 
addressed early. 

General Manager 
Community 
Services  
BDCFT 

Senior Public Health 
specialist CBMDC 

Babies, children and 
families 

December 
2022 

 

 

40% of reception 
children screened 
for AI 

Schools run on an 
academic year so 
performance is 
cumulative September – 
July 

 

P
age 47



 

 36 

(Baseline 2019/20 = 66.4%) March 2023  

 

 

July 2023 

 

70% of reception 
children screened 
for AI 

100% of eligible 
reception children 
offered VI 
screening, with 
90% of reception 
children screened 
for AI 

3.2.2  Develop and implement a 
consistent, effective vision 
screening pathway for children 
on school entry 

Senior Public 
Health specialist  
CBMDC 
 

Consultant in Public 
Health, CBMDC 
BDCFT 
BTHFT 
Children and families 

January 2023 

July 2023 

Plans in place 

100% of eligible 
reception children 
offered VI 
screening, with 
93% taking this up  

Schools run on an 
academic year so 
performance is 
cumulative September – 
July. 

 

Objective 3.3 To make sure that training by the specialist nursing teams is delivered consistently to partners, so that children have their needs   
  understood and met by people within the settings they are attending.   

3.3.1  Key stakeholders review 
and enhance the current 
training offer to schools, 
parents and carers, and other 
professionals/ services to 
ensure that health needs of 
CYP are met consistently and 
that access to training doesn’t 
delay access to care and/or 
support  

Senior Head of 
Integration and 
Change, (Women 
and Children) 
BDC HCP 

BDCFT, BTHFT 
Integration & change team 
Personalised 
commissioning team 
CBMDC (social care) 

December 
2022 
 
September 
2023 
 
December 
2023 

Training audit to 
identify priority 
areas 

Published training 
offer  

75% of those that 
take the training 
offer up report a 
positive impact 

  

P
age 48



 

 37 

Objective 3.4  To ensure that children and young people’s additional needs are identified effectively by Early Help practitioners and in family hubs so that 
babies, children and families receive the help they need more consistently 

3.4.1 Ensure that practitioners 
within family hubs and the in-
development Start for Life 
model have training to ensure 
that children’s SEND needs are 
consistently identified and 
responded to early in these 
settings. 

Prevention and 
Early Help service 
manager  

CBMDC 

Public health, CBMDC 

Children and families  

Health partners 

VCS agencies as 
appropriate for local 
communities 

December 
2022 

 

July 2023 

SEND training 
offer for family hub 
staff developed 

75% of Prevention 
and Early Help 
staff in family hubs 
are trained to the 
appropriate level 

  

3.4.2 Develop and implement 
plans for family hubs and the 
Start for Life programme which 
co-locate a wide range of 
services, so that babies, 
children, young people and 
families have access to 
practitioners through family 
hubs who can identify and 
respond to additional needs. 

 

Prevention and 
Early Help service 
manager 

CBMDC 

Public Health, CBMDC  

Children and families  

Health partners 

VCS agencies as 
appropriate for local 
communities 

December 
2022 

 

 

 

December 
2023 

Start for life plan 
includes colocation 
of a wide range of 
partners and 
services including 
0-19 service  

60% of people are 
happy with the 
range and quality 
of the services 
provided within 
family hubs 

  

  

P
age 49



 

 38 

How will we know that what we are doing is making a difference? 

Outcome 
Indicators  

 

 

3.1.1 That 55% of parents receive an antenatal visit by September 2023 

3.1.2 That 95% of children receive a 2 year check using ASQ3 by age 30 months, by December 2023 

3.1.3 Pathways move from developed to active by March 2024 

3.2.1 That 90% of children are screened for AI in their first year of school by July 2023 

3.2.2 That 93% of children are screened for VI in their first year of school by July 2023 

3.3.1 75% of partners/parent carers who take the training offer up report a positive impact by December 2023 

3.4.1   75% of staff in family hubs are trained to the appropriate level by July 2023 

3.4.2   60% of people are happy with the range and quality of the services provided within family hubs  
 by December 2023 

 

  

P
age 50



 

 39 

Improvement Area 3 Impact Statement 

The table below sets out what children, families and partners can expect, as a result of the actions set out in this WSOA. 

WSOA 3 Objectives How will this make a difference 
to children and families? An example in practice 

3.1 To improve the consistency of 
the Health Visiting, School 
Nursing and Specialist School 
Nursing services so that families, 
babies and children have 
additional needs identified and 
addressed early. 

More families will consistently get an antenatal visit pre-
birth to provide information, advice and guidance to 
prospective parents.  Families with additional needs will 
also be identified early and supported and/ or referred to 
other appropriate services.  

Health visitors post-birth will continue to support parents 
and more 2 and half year-old checks will be completed 
on time, providing improved opportunities for the early 
identification of needs so that parents are supported 
sooner where needed. 

Families will have a better experience (feeling involved 
and cared for) when liaising with school nursing, 
specialist school nursing and other specialist services as 
consistent pathways will enable smooth transitions and 
closer working between different services. 

Josh attending a local nursery has been identified by the 
EYFS co-ordinator to potentially have a language delay.  

The 0-19 service assess Josh at 29 months and agrees 
with the findings of the EYFS setting.  

The Health Visiting team refers Josh for additional 
support to help develop his speech and language and a 
bespoke package of support is agreed for him following 
the 2 and half year old check. 

3.2 To improve delivery of Vision 
and Audiology screening, so that 
reception-aged children have 
hearing and visual impairment 
identified and addressed early 

Children across the Bradford district will receive the 
hearing and vision screening checks when they are in the 
reception class.  

This will help to identify children who may have a hearing 
or visual impairment earlier in their childhood, providing 
greater opportunity to support these groups of children 
meet their potential.   

Alissa is a young girl in reception has hearing loss that is 
moderate in both ears.  She is screened in her school as 
part of the Healthy Child Programme and is referred to 
Audiology for further support following the hearing tests.  

She is seen by an audiologist and provided with hearing 
aids that support her in class.  Alissa is also provided 
with further support in her mainstream school so she 
doesn’t miss important information that impacts on her 
interactions with her peers in school.  

P
age 51



 

 40 

This helps her substantially and allows her to take part in 
her school activities. Advice provided to her parents also 
allows her to interact with her family better allowing her to 
fully partake in family plans and activities. 

3.3 To make sure that training by 
the specialist nursing teams is 
delivered consistently to partners, 
so that children have their needs 
understood and met by people 
within the settings they are 
attending 

The specialist nursing services provide training to a wide 
range of schools, services and parent / carers.  Trainers 
provide evidence based information and guidance that 
help schools and other partner agencies support the 
child/young person’s needs.  

The Children’s Community Nursing team provides 
training to schools and staff in short breaks settings in 
the management and care of enteral feeding.  Schools 
and staff working in short breaks feel confident in 
supporting children who are enterally  fed, meaning that 
children can attend school and short break settings. 

3.4  To ensure that children and 
young people’s additional needs 
are identified effectively by early 
help practitioners so that babies, 
children and families receive the 
help they need more consistently 

Families who go to the newly re-launched family hubs 
are supported by a range of professionals and early help 
staff. 

All practitioners will have the skills to assess and support 
families appropriately and sign post where appropriate. 

They identify a range of potential additional needs in 
children and refer these to the most appropriate 
pathways in the Early Years stage before the children are 
of school age.     

Families’ needs are identified early and appropriate 
support will be offered. 

Family will report they have good support. 

A family of two siblings who go to the hub are having 
difficulty with sleep feeding and toileting. The children are 
new to the country and English is not a first language for 
the parents.   

The Hub reviews the presenting factors make referrals 
with the parents’ consent to a range of services to 
support the children.  

This proves important as because of this intervention the 
children are found to require support through the dietetics 
and paediatrics service and have undiagnosed 
autoimmune diseases. 

 
  

P
age 52



 

 41 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 4 

Children and young people wait too long for assessments, treatment and diagnosis.  There is insufficient support 
for children and young people with SEND who are waiting for provision, services, diagnosis or equipment. 

SRO: Ali Jan Haider, Director of Integration and Change 

We recognise that children and young people wait too long for assessments, treatment and diagnosis across key health services 
and that there is a lack of effective, timely support offered while children and young people are waiting for services.  This is leading 
to some families struggling to cope, which can negatively impact on their health and wellbeing.  These services include the child 
and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS), speech and language therapy (SaLT), diagnostic pathways for ASD (autism 
spectrum disorders) and ADHD (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder), annual health checks for children and young people with a 
Learning Disability and initial and review health assessments for children and young people in care.  Waiting too long for 
assessments limits the opportunity to provide services for those children and young people who require more specialist support; 
this can then have an adverse effect on their educational and life outcomes. 

Significant work has already been undertaken to improve assessment pathways; this includes developing a new GP led model for 
initial health assessments and additional investment in review health assessments.  £1.7m non-recurrent funding and £700,000 
recurrent funding has been invested to reduce waits for ASD and ADHD assessments.  This reduced the average waiting times for 
children’s autism assessments from 50 weeks in March 2021 to 27 weeks in March 2022.  

Work has commenced to review the service pathway and model for Speech and Language Therapy services, with the aim of 
embedding early identification and intervention at the heart of the model and ensuring specialist services are targeted at those 
children and young people with the most complex needs.  The Centre for Mental Health reviewed local Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing services for children and young people in 2020 and an ambitious programme of improvement was developed in 
response to this under our Act as One Programme approach.  We recognise that more needs to be done to further reduce waiting 
times for assessments and treatment and we are committed to making this happen.   

P
age 53



 

 42 

We recognise that as a local area we have been slow to identify and support children and young people with SEND who have 
intensive and/or complex needs.  This includes the implementation of a dynamic support register.  Action has been taken to 
address this and health partners have worked with key stakeholders to develop a dynamic support co-ordination approach.  This 
identifies and supports children and young people with a Learning Disability and/or Autism and/or a Mental Health condition or a 
Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) need who are at risk of admission to Specialist In-Patient Units or irretrievable and multiple 
Placement Breakdown.  

The inclusion of children and young people with mental health support and SEMH needs in the dynamic support approach is being 
recognised as trail blazing.  The approach is to launch in Autumn 2022 and aims to reduce in-patient admission to specialist 
hospitals and to ensure effective support is available in communities; enabling children and young people with the most complex 
needs to remain supported at, or near to, home.  

The provision and co-ordination of children’s specialist equipment, such as wheelchairs is poor and children with SEND do not 
receive specialist equipment in a timely manner.  A senior commissioning manager has commenced a review of the current 
pathways and is working with services and equipment providers to improve the timeliness of equipment provision to children and 
young people with SEND. 

We know we must do more to provide support for children and young people while they are waiting for assessment.  We have 
developed innovative approaches such a funding the Voluntary Community Social Enterprise “BEAT” service to support children 
and young people and their families whilst they are waiting for Autism or ADHD assessment.  However, support whilst waiting for 
assessment is currently limited.  Of particular focus is developing early intervention services and support services for children who 
may have Speech Communication or Language difficulties, Autism or a Learning Disability. 

  

P
age 54



 

 43 

Table 4: Improvement Area 4 – Children and young people wait too long for assessments, treatment and diagnosis.  There is 
insufficient support for children and young people with SEND who are waiting for provision, services, diagnosis or equipment. 

Activity   Lead  Partners Timeframe  Success/Measure Progress   RAG  

Objective 4.1 To reduce waiting times for autism/ADHD assessment and strengthen the support offer whilst waiting for assessment  

Objective 4.2 To reduce waiting times for CAMHS services and strengthen the support offer whilst waiting for assessment and treatment 

Objective 4.3 To reduce waiting times for SaLT assessment and strengthen the support offer whilst waiting for assessment and treatment 

Objective 4.4 To improve timeliness of provision of specialist equipment and wheelchairs for CYP with SEND 

Objective 4.5 To ensure dynamic support co-ordination approach is embedded for CYP with LD/ND/MH and or SEMH 

Objective 4.6 To increase the uptake of Annual Health Reviews for CYP aged 14-25 

Objective 4.7 To improve the timeliness of Initial Health Assessments and Review Health Assessments for children in care 

4.1 Reduce waiting times for autism/ADHD assessment and strengthen the support offer whilst waiting for assessment. 

4.1.1 Review the service offer 
across all key stakeholders to 
understand the current service 
pathway and provision for 
Autism and ADHD. 

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Change CYP 
LD/ND 
BDC HCP 

• CYP/Parents/Carers 
• Education/Ed Psych 
• Communities  
• 0-19 services 
• Prevention/Early Help 

services 
• Social Care 
• Specialist Nursing 
• Primary Care 
• Early Years 
• VCSE 
• Public Health 

March 2023 Current service 
pathway is mapped 
and all key 
stakeholders are aware 
of current service offer 

  

P
age 55



 

 44 

4.1.2 Review, define and 
communicate the referral criteria 
for Autism and ADHD 
assessment to all key 
stakeholders to ensure that only 
CYP who need assessment are 
referred. 

Service 
Manager for 
Autism/ADHD 
waiting lists 
 

• CYP/Parents/Carers 
• Education/Ed Psych 
• Communities  
• 0-19 services 
• Prevention/Early Help 

services 
• Social Care 
• Specialist Nursing 
• Primary Care 
• Early Years 
• VCSE 
• Public Health 

March 2023 

 

Referral criteria is 
reviewed and signed 
off and is shared with 
key stakeholders 
including children, 
young people and 
families 

  

4.1.3 Using a co-production 
approach improve service 
provision, including review of 
offer across the self-help, 
universal and early intervention 
offer for Autism and ADHD to 
ensure support is available 
whilst CYP wait for assessment 
and to ensure that CYP and 
families receive advice and 
support as early as possible to 
reduce the need referral to 
specialist services.   

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Change CYP 
LD/ND 
BDC HCP 

• CYP/Parents/Carers 
• Education/Ed Psych 
• Communities  
• Provider services 
• 0-19 services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Social Care 
• Specialist Nursing 
• Primary Care 
• Public Health 

March 2023 

 

 

September 
2023 

 

 

 

March 2023 

 

 

Self-help, Universal 
and Early Help 
pathway is agreed 
Evidence of the 
delivery of the support 
pathway for 
Autism/ADHD from 
self-help, universal 
offer and early help 
services 
Evidence of 
signposting to support 
whilst waiting for 
Autism/ADHD 
assessment  

  

P
age 56



 

 45 

4.2 Reduce waiting times for CAMHS services and strengthen support offer whilst waiting for assessment and treatment. 

4.2.1 Review the service offer 
across all key stakeholders to 
understand the current service 
pathway and provision for CYP 
who require support with their 
Mental Health. 
 

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Change Mental 
Health services 
BDC HCP 

• 0-19/Mental Health 
Support Team 
(MHST)/CAMHS 

• Social Care 
• Provider services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Education/ Ed Psych 
• CYP/Families 
• Primary Care/VCSE 
• Communities 

March 2023 Current service 
pathway is mapped 
and all key 
stakeholders are aware 
of current service offer 

  

4.2.2 Review, define and 
communicate the referral criteria 
for CAMHS services to all key 
stakeholders to ensure that only 
CYP who need specialist 
CAMHS services are referred 
for assessment and treatment.  

Service 
Manager 
CAMHS 
BDCFT 

• 0-19/MHST/CAMHS 
• Social Care 
• Provider services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Education/ Ed Psych 
• CYP/Families 
• Primary Care/VCSE 
• Communities 

March 2023 
 

Referral criteria is 
reviewed and signed 
off and is shared with 
key stakeholders 
including children, 
young people and 
families 

  

4.2.3 Using a co-production 
approach improve service 
provision across the self-help, 
universal and early intervention 
offer for CYP mental health 
services to ensure support is 
available whilst CYP wait for 

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Change Mental 
Health services 
BDC HCP 

• 0-19/MHST/CAMHS 
• Social Care 
• Provider services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Education/ Ed Psych 
• CYP/Families 

March 2023 
 
 
September 
2023 
 

Self-help, Universal 
and Early Help 
pathway is agreed.  
Evidence of delivery of 
support for CYP with 
SEMH needs from Self-

  

P
age 57



 

 46 

CAMHS assessment and to 
ensure that CYP and families 
receive advice and support as 
early as possible to reduce the 
need for referral to specialist 
CAMHS services. 

• Primary Care/VCSE 
• Communities 

 
 
March 2023 

help, Universal and 
Early Help services 
Evidence of 
signposting to support 
whilst waiting for CYP 
SEMH needs 
assessment and 
treatment 

4.3 Reduce waiting times for Speech Language Therapy assessment and treatment and strengthen support offer whilst waiting. 

4.3.1 Review the service offer 
across all key stakeholders to 
increase the understanding of 
current service pathways for 
CYP who require support with 
their Speech Language and 
Communication needs. 

Service 
Manager 
Speech 
Communication 
& Language 
services  
BDCFT 
 

• CYP/Parents/Carers 
• Education  
• Communities  
• Provider services 
• 0-19 services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Primary Care 
• Public Health 

March 2023 Current service 
pathway is mapped 
and all key 
stakeholders are aware 
of current service offer 

  

4.3.2 Review, define and 
communicate the referral criteria 
for Specialist Speech and 
Language Therapy to all key 
stakeholders to ensure that only 
CYP who need specialist 
Speech and Language Therapy 
are referred for assessment and 
treatment.   

Service 
Manager 
Speech 
Communication 
& Language 
services  
BDCFT 
 

• CYP/Parents/Carers 
• Education/Ed Psych 
• Communities  
• Provider services 
• 0-19 services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Primary Care 
• Public Health 

Prevention/Early Help 

March 2023 
 

Referral criteria is 
reviewed and signed 
off and is shared with 
key stakeholders 
including children, 
young people and 
families 

  

P
age 58



 

 47 

4.3.3 Using a co-production 
approach improve service 
provision across the self-help, 
universal and early intervention 
offer for Speech Language and 
Communication needs to 
ensure support is available 
whilst CYP wait for assessment 
and to ensure that 
children/young people and 
families receive advice and 
support as early as possible to 
reduce the need for referral to 
specialist Speech and 
Language services.   

Service 
Manager 
Speech 
Communication 
& Language 
services  
 

• CYP/Parents/Carers 
• Education  
• Communities  
• Provider services 
• 0-19 services 
• Prevention/Early Help 
• Specialist Nursing 
• Primary Care 
• Public Health 

March 2023 
 
 
September 
2023 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2023 

Self-help, Universal 
and Early Help 
pathway is agreed 
Evidence of the 
delivery of support for 
CYP with speech 
communication and 
language needs from 
self-help, universal 
offer and early help and 
services 
Evidence of 
signposting to support 
whilst waiting for 
Speech 
Communication and 
Language needs 
assessment  

  

4.4 Improve timeliness of provision of specialist equipment and wheelchairs for CYP with SEND. 

4.4.1 Review pathways, 
including commissioning and 
funding arrangements, across 
all key stakeholders to increase 
understanding of current service 
pathways in relation to the 
provision of wheelchairs and 
specialist equipment. 

Senior 
Manager 
Integration and 
Change 
BDC HCP 

• CYP/Parent Carers 
• BACES 
• NHSE 
• Provider Services 
• Local Authority 
• Education  
• SEN Team 

December 
2022 

Current service 
pathway is mapped 
and all key 
stakeholders are aware 
of current service offer 

  

4.4.2 Using co-production 
develop improved pathways to 

Senior 
Manager 

• BACES 
• NHSE 

June 2023 
 

Evidence of the 
commissioning, 

  

P
age 59



 

 48 

increase efficiency and ensure 
timely provision of specialist 
equipment and wheelchairs.  

BDC HCP • Provider Services 
• Local Authority 
• Education  

 
 
 
 
 
March 2023 

funding, delivery and 
clinical support 
pathway for CYP aged 
0-25 who require a 
wheelchair or specialist 
equipment  
Evidence of information 
guide re how to access 
support whilst waiting 
for a wheelchair or 
specialist equipment  

4.4.3  Review capacity of OT 
and Physiotherapy services to 
ensure timely assessment and 
review of CYP who require 
specialist equipment and 
wheelchairs. 

Service 
Manager OT 
and 
Physiotherapy 
BTHFT 

• Provider Services 
• Council 

March 2023 Analysis of OT and 
Physio workforce 
across all key 
stakeholders who 
deliver assessments for 
wheelchairs and 
Specialist Equipment 
for CYP aged 0-25 who 
have SEND 

  

4.5 Ensure dynamic support co-ordination approach is embedded for CYP with a Learning Disability (LD), Autism, Mental Health (MH) and/or SEMH need. 

4.5.1 Work with key 
stakeholders to launch and 
embed the dynamic support co-
ordination approach to ensure 
that the HCP effectively support 
children and young people who 
have LD, Autism, MH or SEMH 
who are at risk of admission to 
specialist hospital or who are at 

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Care CYP 
LD/ND 
BDC HCP 

• Provider services 
• Education 
• Local Authority 
• VCSE 
• Communities, CYP, 

Families 
• Social Care 

March 2023 Evidence that Dynamic 
support co-ordination 
approach is launched 
and meets statutory 
functions 

  

P
age 60



 

 49 

risk of multiple and irretrievable 
breakdown of their 
care/placement.  

• NHSE 
• Primary Care 
• NHSE 

4.5.2 Ensure effective reporting 
and governance is in place 
across the HCP to influence 
strategic planning, 
commissioning and partnership 
working to support effective 
service provision for CYP with 
Autism, LD, MH, SEMH who 
have the most complex and 
intensive support needs.  

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Care CYP 
LD/ND 
BDC HCP 

• Provider services 
• Education 
• Local Authority 
• VCSE 
• Communities, CYP, 

Families 
• Social Care 
• NHSE 

September  
2023 

Evidence of effective 
reporting and 
governance re CYP 
DSC (number of 
referrals and 
discharges per month, 
reason for inclusion on 
CYP DSC, meetings 
where reported etc) 

  

4.6 Increase the uptake of Annual Health Reviews for CYP aged 14-25 who have a Learning Disability.  

4.6.1 Review the Annual Health 
Review pathway across all key 
stakeholders to understand the 
current process and pathway for 
CYP who are eligible for an 
Annual Review.   

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Care CYP 
LD/ND 
BDC HCP 

• Primary Care 
• Education 
• Social Care 
• Provider services 
• Specialist School Nursing  

March 2023 Current service 
pathway is mapped 
and all key 
stakeholders are aware 
of current service 
pathway 

  

4.6.2 Using co-production 
develop improved pathways 
across all key stakeholders to 
increase efficiency, raise 
awareness and increase uptake 
of Annual Health Reviews for 
CYP aged 14-25 who are 
eligible for an Annual Review.   

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Care CYP 
LD/ND 
BDC HCP 

• Primary Care 
• Education 
• Social Care 
• Provider services 
• VCSE 
• CYP/Families 

March 2023 
 
 
 
January 
2023 

Evidence of pathway re 
how CYP aged 14-25 
who are on the GP LD 
register access the 
Annual Health Check 
Pathway 
communicated to all 
key stakeholders 

  

  

P
age 61



 

 50 

4.7 Improve the timeliness of Initial Health Assessments (IHA) and Review Health Assessments (RHA) for children in care.  

4.7.1 Review the IHA & RHA 
pathway across all key 
stakeholders to understand the 
current process and pathway for 
CYP who are eligible for review.   

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Care – 
women’s, 
children’s & 
maternity 
BDC HCP 

• Primary Care 
• Education 
• Social Care 
• Provider services 
• Specialist School Nursing 

services 

March 2023 Current service 
pathway is mapped 
and all key 
stakeholders are aware 
of current service 
pathway 

  

4.7.2 Work with social care to 
ensure consent is provided for 
CYP who require an Initial 
Health Assessment.  

Assistant 
General 
Manager 0-19 
& Specialist 
Services 

• Provider services 
• Local Authority 
• Health & Care Partnership 
• Designated Doctor 

April 2023 Consent is provided for 
100% of CYP who 
require a Health 
Assessment 

  

4.7.3 Using co-production 
develop improved pathways to 
increase efficiency and improve 
partnership working to ensure 
IHAs and RHAs are completed 
within recommended 
timescales.   

Senior Head of 
Integration & 
Care – 
women’s, 
children’s & 
maternity 
BDC HCP 

• Provider Services 
• BD&C HCP 
• CYP, families 
• Primary Care 
• Social Care 
• Specialist School Nursing 

services 

March 2023  
 

Evidence of pathway re 
delivery of Initial and 
Review Health 
Assessments within 
statutory timescales for 
children and young 
people who are in care 

  

  

P
age 62



 

 51 

How will we know that what we are doing is making a Difference? 
 
Outcome Indicators WSOA 4 Current 

baseline 
Mar 23 Sept 

23 
Mar 
24 

Sept 
24 

Average length of wait in weeks between referral and first 
appointment at the end of the reporting month (total) 

31 
weeks 
(June 
2022) 

31 weeks 29 
weeks 

27 
weeks 

26 
weeks 

Longest wait in weeks between referral and first 
appointment at the end of the reporting month (total) 

101 
weeks 
(June 
2022) 

90 weeks 60 
weeks 

52 
weeks 

45 
weeks 

% of referrals for diagnostic assessment started within 13 
weeks of referral 

0% 0.5% 3% 6% 12% 

Caveat: To deliver the above a modelling of the additional resource needed to achieve NICE guidance will be 
undertaken and the required resource identified.  

1.Autism/ADHD 

By March 2023 Signposting Information will be available 
for CYP/Parent Carers about the support that is available 
while CYP are waiting for ADHD/Autism assessment 

 Signposting 
Information 
available 

   

By September 2023 90% of CYP will wait no longer than 
18 weeks between referral and commencement of 
treatment in CAMHS *Excludes Eating Disorders and 
Neurodiversity referrals 

85% 85% 
 

90% 
 

90% 
 

90% 
 

2. CAMHS 

By March 2023 Signposting Information will be available 
for CYP/Parent Carers about the support that is available 
while CYP are waiting for commencement of CAMHS 
assessment and treatment 

 Signposting 
Information 
Available 
 

   

3. Speech 
Language 
Therapy 

By June 2024 90% of CYP will begin assessment by 
Speech Language Therapy services 18/52 following 
referral for assessment  

54% 65% 
 

75% 
 

85% 
 

90% 
 

P
age 63



 

 52 

By March 2023 Signposting Information will be available 
for CYP/Parent Carers about the support that is available 
while CYP are waiting for Speech Language Therapy 
assessment and treatment 

 Signposting 
Information 
Available 
 

   

By September 2024 80% of CYP receive specialist 
equipment within 18/52 following referral for assessment  

 50% 
 

65% 
 

75% 
 

80% 
 

4. Specialist 
Equipment 

By March 2023 Information and guidance will be available 
for CYP/Parent Carers about the support that is available 
while CYP are waiting for Specialist Equipment 

 Guidance 
Available 

   

By June 2023 80% of CYP receive a wheel chair within 
18/52 following referral for assessment  

75% 80% 80% 
 

80% 
 

80% 
 

5. Wheelchairs 

By March 2023 Information and guidance will be available 
for CYP/Parent Carers about the support that is available 
while CYP are waiting for a Wheel Chair  

 Guidance 
Available 
 

   

6. Dynamic 
Support 

Evidence of functioning CYPDSC (number of referrals and 
discharges per month, number of CYP on DSC, minutes of 
Panel) 

 Evidence 
Available 

   

For the Year 2022/23 70% of CYP aged 14-18 who are on 
the GP LD Register will receive an Annual Health Check 
For the Year 2023/24 80% of CYP aged 14-18 who are on 
the GP LD Register will receive an Annual Health Check 

2021/22 
66% 

70.0% 
 

YTD 
20.0% 
 

YTD 
80.0% 
 

YTD 
20.0% 
 

7. Annual 
Health Checks 
for CYP (14-25) 
with LD 

For the Year 2022/23 70% of CYP aged 19-25 who are on 
the GP LD Register will receive an Annual Health Check 
For the Year 2023/24 80% of CYP aged 19-25 who are on 
the GP LD Register will receive an Annual Health Check 

2021/22 
67% 

70.0% 
 

20.0% 
 

80.0% 
 

20.0% 
 

By Sept 24 90% of CYP will receive an Initial Health 
Assessment within 20 working days after coming into care 

4% 40% 
 

60% 
 

80% 
 

90% 
 

8. IHA/RHA for 
CLA 

By Sept 24 90% of CYP will receive a Review Health 
Assessment within statutory timescales (6/12 for 0-5 and 1 
year for CYP 5-18) 

37% 55% 
 

75% 
 

85% 
 

90% 
 

  

P
age 64



 

 53 

Improvement Area 4 Impact Statement 
The table below sets out what children, families and partners can expect, as a result of the actions set out in this WSOA. 

Objective How will this make a difference 
to children and families? An example in practice 

4.1  To reduce waiting times 
for autism/ADHD assessment 
and strengthen the support 
offer whilst waiting for 
assessment,  

 

Ensuring timely assessment for suspected autism/ADHD 
will help children and young people understand 
themselves better and will also help their parent carers, 
families and other key people such as school and health 
care staff understand them better too. Improved 
understanding means that if additional support is needed 
this can be provided in the right way to help the 
child/young person achieve the best outcomes they can in 
education and in life.   

Making sure support and information is available whilst 
waiting for assessment also helps children and young 
people, their parent carers and families access the best 
support they can as soon as they can.  This helps prevent 
any challenges or difficulties increasing and becoming 
worse.   

Alice was referred for assessment for ASD/ADHD.  Alice 
her Mum and Dad were provided with information and 
guidance about support that is available whilst Alice was 
waiting for assessment.  

Using the information provided Alice’s Mum and Dad 
accessed an understanding Autism workshop provided by 
BEAT and are receiving peer support and attending social 
events with Alice via AWARE membership.  

They now have a much better understanding of Alice’s 
needs and feel more confident in anticipating and 
managing Alice’s social interactions and behaviour.  This 
had led to them now spending more quality time as a 
family. 

4.2  To reduce waiting times 
for CAMHS services and 
strengthen support offer 
whilst waiting for assessment 
and treatment 

 

Ensuring timely assessment for children and young 
people’s mental health needs is important so that children 
and young people, their parent carers, families and other 
key people are aware of the emotional and mental health 
needs and difficulties that a child and young person may 
be experiencing 

This improved understanding means that if additional 
specialist mental health support is needed this can be 
provided to help the child/young person overcome, or 
better manage, their mental health difficulties and help 

Jigna is referred to CAMHS by her GP as she has been 
experiencing long-standing mental health challenges, 
including high levels of anxiety and escalating self-harming 
behaviours.  

When CAMHS receive the referral, the Duty Team contact 
Jigna and her family to talk about how things are and what 
things they can support her with.  Following this initial 
assessment, Jigna is sent a welcome booklet, which has 
been designed by a young person who has previously 
received support from CAMHS services.  The welcome 

P
age 65



 

 54 

them achieve the best outcomes they can in education and 
in life.   

Making sure support and information is available whilst 
waiting for assessment and treatment helps children and 
young people, their parent carers and families know about 
the support that is available while they wait; this enables 
them to access support and advice as soon as they can.  
This helps prevent any challenges or difficulties increasing 
and becoming worse.   

booklet provides details about CAMHS; what to expect and 
the different services and types of support that CAMHS 
offers. This helps Jigna feel less anxious about seeing her 
CAMHS worker. 

Initially Jigna is worried about working with CAMHS, 
however over time Jigna begins to learn strategies to 
better manage her feelings and her anxiety and self-
harming improves. 

4.3  To reduce waiting times 
for SaLT assessment and 
strengthen support offer 
whilst waiting for assessment 
and treatment 

 

Ensuring timely assessment for children and young 
people’s speech and language therapy is important so that 
children and young people, their parent carers, families 
and other key people such as schools are aware of the 
speech language and communication needs and 
difficulties that a child and young person may be 
experiencing 

This improved understanding means that if additional 
specialist speech and language therapy is needed this can 
be provided to help the child/young person improve their 
speech, language and communication and help them 
achieve the best outcomes they can in education and in 
life.   

Making sure support and information is available whilst 
waiting for assessment and treatment helps children and 
young people, their parent carers and families know about 
the support that is available while they wait; this enables 
them to access support and advice as soon as they can. 
This helps prevent any challenges or difficulties increasing 
and becoming worse.   

Zayn is 4 years old and has significant delay in his speech 
and language.  He was referred to Speech and Language 
Therapy following his 2-year review by his Health Visiting 
team 

Speech Therapists have been working with Zayn, his 
family and his nursery setting; providing advice and 
guidance to help him develop his speech and supporting 
him use Makaton and picture cards so he can express 
himself and make his needs known.  He is making good 
progress and is more settled and engaged in nursery. 

The Speech Therapist has been working with Zayn’s new 
school ahead of him starting in September so that school 
are aware of Zayn’s needs and so they know how best to 
support this speech, language and communication needs.  

This will help Zayn settle into his new school and support 
his learning and social interactions with his friends and 
teachers.  

P
age 66



 

 55 

4.4  To improve timeliness of 
provision of specialist 
equipment and wheelchairs 
for CYP with SEND 

 

Children and Young People will receive the postural and 
mobility equipment that is needed in a timely way to 
maintain or optimise their physical functioning and enable 
participation in age-appropriate activities including family 
life, social events and education. 

Parent carers will have improved quality of life as 
appropriate supportive equipment in place. 

An efficient pathway for equipment provision releases 
therapist time to support families in use of equipment and 
the associated health and well-being gains. 

Darryl’s walking ability has declined and he is referred to 
wheelchair services for assessment.  Darryl and his family 
receive a welcome pack explaining the wheelchair service, 
the care pathways and processes and the expected time 
to assessment and delivery of a wheelchair.  

After Darryl receives his wheelchair he can move about 
school more easily and get to his classes on time; he can 
also go outdoors at break time with his classmates.  His 
family are able to join in more social activities and doing 
daily activities such as going to the shop for groceries is 
much easier. This impacts positively on Darryl and his 
families, mental and physical health and well-being. 

4.5  To ensure a dynamic 
support co-ordination 
(register) approach is 
embedded for Children 
Young People with Autism, a 
Learning Disability, Mental 
Health or Social Emotional 
Mental Health need 

Dynamic Support Coordination (DSC) aims to ensure that 
children and young people with Autism, a Learning 
Disability, Mental Health or Social Emotional Mental Health 
need receive the right care, education, and treatment in 
their local community whenever possible, by working with 
the child/young person, their parent carers and the 
agencies who are involved in their care.  

Dynamic Support Coordination is about supporting 
services to come together to discuss whether changes can 
be made to care, education and/or treatment in a pro-
active and timely manner, to prevent escalation to a crisis 
situation.  The ambition is to prevent admission to a 
specialist in-patient hospital, breakdown of care or contact 
with the criminal justice service, ensuring children/ 

young people remain at home, or as close to home as 
possible, wherever possible 

Frank is 16 and lives at home with his Dad and 2 brothers; 
he has a Learning Disability. Dad is very experienced in 
supporting Frank and understands his needs. He is well 
supported by extended family and friends.  

Recently Frank’s behaviour has become increasingly 
erratic and agitated and he has started becoming 
aggressive towards Dad and his brothers.  Dad is 
struggling to understand the reasons for the change in 
Frank’s behaviour and is concerned Frank may hurt him or 
his brothers; he is worried that Frank may not be able to 
remain at home.  

Dad gives consent for Frank to join the Dynamic Support 
Co-Ordination. Services from across Specialist services 
discuss the best way to support Frank and his family; 
Learning Disability Trauma Informed Care (LDTIC) 
services offer to work with Dad and Frank to try and 
understand the changes in Frank’s behaviour. The LDTIC 
team identify that changes at Frank’s school have led to 

P
age 67



 

 56 

Dynamic Support Coordination is about ensuring local 
services know the people who are likely to need additional 
support and aims to enable services to deliver the right 
support at the right time. 

the change in Frank’s behaviour.  Strategies are put in 
place with both school and home and Frank’s behaviour 
settles and becomes less agitated. Frank is able to remain 
at home with his family   

4.6  To increase the uptake 
of Annual Health Reviews for 
CYP aged 14-25 

 

Annual Health Checks for Children and Young People 
aged 14-25 years who had a Learning Disability are 
important to help the young person to stay well.  

Having an Annual Health Check with the GP practice also 
helps the young person build relationships with staff at the 
practice and ensures that they start to know the people 
and the environment. If they are then unwell & need to visit 
the GP, the experience is less traumatic.  It also helps 
people get the medications they need.  Annual visits, also 
helps the GP practice identify family carers and ensure 
they are offered health checks and relevant vaccinations 
so that they themselves remain well and healthy 

Magda is 20 years old has a learning disability; she 
becomes scared and upset when she must visit places 
that she is unfamiliar with.  She has been visiting her GP 
practice for the past 5 years and is now familiar with the 
staff and the practice environment. 

At her Annual Health Check, the practice nurse finds that 
Magda has an infection in her urine. Magda is prescribed 
some liquid antibiotics as the practice nurse knows this is 
easier for Magda to manage.  The urine infection clears up 
and Magda has less pain and discomfort when she goes to 
the toilet; she is happier and her well-being improves.   

4.7  To improve the 
timeliness of Initial Health 
Assessments and Review 
Health Assessments for 
children in care 

Often Children in Care have experienced significant 
adverse childhood trauma; evidence indicates that children 
experiencing adverse trauma have increased health and 
well-being needs and poorer health outcomes.  

Ensuring timely Initial and Review Health Assessments is 
therefore important to ensure that the health needs of 
children/young people in care are identified as soon as 
possible; this is so services can be offered to meet needs 
and enable children in care to achieve the best health and 
life outcomes.   

 

Lyla was placed in care when she was 13 years old. She 
had previously lived with her mum and stepdad who both 
regularly drank alcohol excessively and used drugs.  

Lyla’s initial health assessment identified that she was 
extremely underweight, and she had low iron levels.  This 
left her feeling exhausted and unable to concentrate in 
class.  She was referred to a dietician and placed on iron 
replacement supplements.  She has since increased her 
weight to a healthy BMI and her iron levels have improved. 
She is now able to concentrate in class and she has more 
energy. Teachers report that she is progressing well 
academically and she is enjoying playing games and 
sports with her friends. 

P
age 68



 

 57 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 5 

Education, health and care services do not work together well.  The arrangements for joint commissioning are 
underdeveloped.  

SRO: Jane Wood, Assistant Director, Commissioning and Integration 
We recognise that our joint commissioning for children and young people with SEND has been under-developed and there is a 
need to increase the pace of change, alongside stronger collaboration across education, health and care, and children and 
families.  We are committed to collectively reform our partnerships and governance across the key partners to co-produce our joint 
commissioning plans. 

We will use the principles for working together outlined in the Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership Strategic 
Partnering Agreement (SPA) to build relationships with a collective focus to support clearer working arrangements.  The 
development of joint commissioning for SEND is a recognised priority area of development. We will optimise the use of all our 
shared resources to support our children and young people with SEND to achieve their maximum potential. 

We will ensure that our commissioning strategy and intentions are informed by clear assessment of need, and we will use a range 
of intelligence, from JSNA to EHCPs.  We will work with partners, to develop a strong and shared understanding of our population 
need to ensure that our services can meet the needs of children and young people with special education needs and disabilities. 

We will respond to the need for education, health and care services to demonstrate that we can work together. We will develop our 
arrangements in line with the requirement of the SEND Code of Practice.  We are fully committed to the principles of co-production 
in designing our new services.  This will allow us to integrate the voices and aspirations of children, young people and their families 
into the design, delivery and evaluation of our joint commissioning model and services.  

The SEND inspection has refreshed our commitment to creative partnership working with our communities to reduce inequalities 
and to jointly plan, deliver and evaluate our services that are collaboratively commissioned.  

P
age 69



 

 58 

We will align our approach to joint commissioning for SEND with the emerging joint commissioning and decommissioning 
arrangements for the Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership; to ensure consistency of approach in terms of 
shared priorities, alignment of systems and process for decision making and dispute resolution.  This approach will also allow us to 
ensure that any calls on the Partnership’s resources are managed in a co-ordinated manner and consider the wider impact on 
stakeholders and partners.   

We will improve relationships across health and care by recognising and owning the challenge.  Recent changes in leadership and 
staffing are already beginning to cement effective and productive discussions.  We are holding partner ‘checkpoint meetings’ and 
‘listening events’ to ensure our joint commissioning brings together education, health, social care and parent/carers along with the 
‘lived experience’ of children and young people with SEND.  

We are committed to developing commissioning strategies and plans to increase the availability of services identified in the 
inspection.  This will incorporate new plans to reduce waits and increase capacity in services including, but not exclusively related 
to: CAMHS, ADHD/ASD Services, Speech and Language Therapy, Deaf Signing clubs, Wheelchair Services, Specialist Equipment 
and Short Breaks provisions.   

We will ensure that the supporting legal and longer-term financial infrastructure is robust to support our ambitions.  We will do this 
by contributing to the refresh of our Section 75 (S75) Agreement which is being managed by the Health and Care Partnership’s 
Planning and Commissioning Forum. 

As a matter of priority, we are working on commissioning plans to address the specific gaps and area of weakness raised by the 
inspection.  Our joint commissioning strategy responds to all levels of provision to meet need from information and advice to 
specialist placement sufficiency. 

 

P
age 70



 

 59 

Table 5: Improvement Area 5 – Education, health and care services do not work together well.  The arrangements for joint 
commissioning are underdeveloped. 

Activity   Lead  Partners Timeframe  Success/Measure Progress   RAG 

Objective 5.1 To work together in-line with Bradford District and Craven’s Strategic Partnership Agreement to deliver arrangements for agreeing the 
education, health and social care provision required by local children and young people with SEN or disabilities. 

Objective 5.2 To effectively work as a partnership, to co-produce and jointly commission services and provision which meet the needs of children and 
young people (0-25).   

Objective 5.3 To expand our use of joint commissioning infrastructure to improve provision and outcomes for children and young people (0-25). 

Objective 5.1 Work together in-line with Bradford District and Craven’s Strategic Partnership Agreement to deliver arrangements for agreeing the 
education, health and social care provision required by local children and young people with SEN or disabilities. 

5.1.1 To use the principles for 
working together outlined in the 
Bradford District and Craven 
Health and Care Partnership 
Strategic Partnering Agreement 
to build relationships with a 
collective focus and to support 
clearer working arrangements.   
 

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 
Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• Children and 
young people 

• Parents/carers 
• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• Health 

providers who 
hold resources 
within the HCP 

December  
2022 

SPA Principles for 
working together 
shared widely 
 

  

5.1.2 To strengthen SEND joint 
commissioning governance 
structures to ensure strong 
accountability, effective 

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 

• Children and 
young people 

• Parents/carers 
• BDC HCP 

March 2023  
 
 

Terms of Reference, 
including governance 
structure, reviewed, 
updated.   

  

P
age 71



 

 60 

progress tracking and timely 
problem solving. 

Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• NHS Providers  

Revised arrangements 
agreed by SSPB and 
System Planning and 
Commissioning Forum 

Objective 5.2 To effectively work as a partnership, to co-produce & jointly commission services and provision which meet the needs of children and 
young people (0-25).   

5.2.1 To support the 
development of a System Joint 
Commissioning Strategy which 
will align with the SEND specific 
Joint Commissioning Strategy 
2020/23. 
The System Joint 
Commissioning Strategy will 
outline our principles for joint 
commissioning and our 
approach to decommissioning. 

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 
Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• Children and 
young people 

• Parents/carers 
• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• NHS Providers 

June 2023 Partnership 
Commissioning 
Strategy Published on 
Local Offer and Local 
Partnership Websites 
 

  

5.2.2 To publish an updated 
JSNA for SEND Services to 
show the current needs for CYP 
with SEND across the Bradford 
District. 
 

Director of 
Public Health  
CBMDC   

• Parents and 
Families 
Groups 

• Peoples 
Commissioning  

• Education and 
Learning 
Directorate  

• Public Health  
• NHS 

Foundation 
Trusts  

April 2023 JSNA Published on 
Local Offer and Local 
Partnership Websites  

  

P
age 72



 

 61 

5.2.3 To develop mechanisms to 
ensure that our commissioning 
strategy and intentions are 
informed by clear assessment of 
need. This will include: 
• The voice of CYP 
• The voice of parents/carers 
• Service gaps identified 

through the EHCP process  

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 
Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• Children and 
young people 

• Parents/carers 
• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• NHS Providers 

March 2023 Partnership 
Commissioning 
Strategy and 
Commissioning 
Intentions published on 
Local Offer and Local 
Partnership Websites  
 

  

5.2.4 To identify budgets aligned 
to SEND service provision to 
develop transparency and 
assurance in terms of spend 
across all areas. 

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 
Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• NHS Providers 

December 
2023 

Baseline understanding 
of SEND investment 
across BDC HCP 

  

5.2.5 To contribute to the 
refresh of the system S75 
Agreement.  

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 
Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• NHS Providers 

April 2023 Relevant SEND 
commissioning 
arrangements reflected 
in the S75 agreement 

  

5.2.6 To have oversight of all 
SEND specific jointly 
commissioned service provision 
and aligned services to inform 
future commissioning decisions. 

Assistant 
Director 
CBMDC 
Associate 
Director 
BDC HCP 

• Children and 
young people 

• Parents/carers 
• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 

December 
2023 

To have sight of all 
relevant data and 
annual reports 

  

P
age 73



 

 62 

• Education 
• NHS Providers 

Objective 5.3 To expand our use of joint commissioning infrastructure to improve provision and outcomes for children and young people (0-25) 

Joint commissioning 
plan to reduce waiting 
times for CAMHS 
services and strengthen 
support offer whilst 
waiting for assessment 

  

Joint commissioning 
plan to reduce waiting 
times for autism/ADHD 
assessment and 
strengthen the support 
offer whilst waiting for 
assessment. 

  

Joint commissioning 
plan to reduce waiting 
times for SaLT 
assessment and 
strengthen support offer 
whilst waiting for 
assessment. 

  

5.3.1 New Service Commission 
Plans for areas highlighted in 
the SEND Inspection.  
 
Ensure alignment with proposed 
overarching joint commissioning 
strategy to ensure we identify 
and address any gaps in service 
delivery. 

Assistant 
Director 
People’s 
Commissioning  

• BDC HCP 
• Public Health 
• Social Care 
• Education 
• NHS Health 

Providers 

March 2023  

Joint commissioning 
plan to improve 
timeliness of provision 
of specialist equipment 
and wheelchairs for 
CYP with SEND. 

  

P
age 74



 

 63 

Joint commissioning 
plan to support delivery 
of dynamic support co-
ordination approach 

  

Joint Commissioning 
Plan to increase 
availability of Short 
Breaks for children with 
Disabilities. 

  

Joint Commissioning 
Plan to review children 
in residential and out of 
district placements. 

  

Joint Commissioning 
Plan to develop clubs 
for signing activities 

  

    
  

P
age 75



 

 64 

How will we know that what we are doing is making a difference? 

Outcome 
Indicators  
 
 

• Demonstrate the principles of the Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership Strategic 
Partnering Agreement (SPA) 

• Revised Terms of Reference and Governance in place 

• Contributed to the development of the Partnership Commissioning Strategy which will reflect an 
understanding of the needs of children and young people with SEND and aligns with the system vision of 
‘supporting children to maximise their learning, growth and development and remain happy, healthy at home 
wherever possible’ 

• An established process for ensuring our commissioning strategy is informed by clear needs assessment 
including, but not exclusively, the voice of the children and young people, parents and carers and the JSNA 

• An understanding of the budgets aligned to SEND service provision 

• Contributed to the refresh of the System Section 75 agreement 

• Access to all relevant data and annual reports to inform our commissioning decisions 

• A process in place to ensure the full spectrum of joint commissioning approaches are considered for all SEND 
transformation areas 

 

Impact  
Measures 
 
 

All relevant colleagues aware of the Bradford systems commitment to joint commissioning and their individual 
responsibilities towards the development and delivery of the strategy;  

Partners across the local system hold each other to account for delivery of outcomes, with regular monitoring and 
constructive challenge processes in place; and 

Services and provision match need in local area according to local intelligence including the JSNA and are 
published on the Local Offer. 

  

P
age 76



 

 65 

Improvement Area 5 Impact Statement 

The table below sets out what children, families and partners can expect, as a result of the actions set out in this WSOA. 

  

WSOA 5 Objectives How will this make a difference 
to children and families? An example in practice 

5.1 To work together in-line with 
Bradford District and Craven’s 
Strategic Partnership Agreement to 
deliver arrangements for agreeing 
the education, health and social 
care provision required by local 
children and young people with 
SEN or disabilities. 

New arrangements consider the whole 
need of children and families, putting 
children’s commissions at the centre of our 
approaches to understand the needs of 
the population.  

Senior leaders can consider wholly the 
types of arrangements and services are 
needed for the future in line with the new 
SEND & Inclusion Strategy.  

The Children’s Health and Care Partnership Board consider a range 
of emerging trends relating to service commissions for children.  
Using the SPA Agreement and Commissioning Strategy they 
endorse medium term business cases to ensure that the needs of 
children are met.  

This provides commissioners with first stage approval to go to the 
internal and external markets to provide services which are then 
enabled over an 18 month period forecasting the changing trends of 
need amongst the SEND population of children. 

5.2 To effectively work as a 
partnership, to co-produce and 
jointly commission services and 
provision which meet the needs of 
children and young people (0-25).   

Families who have specific needs have 
those met ahead of them realising that 
these services are needed. Health, 
Education and Care intelligence accurately 
predicts that greater support is needed in 
differing parts of the system and 
longitudinal planning is put in place 
providing the right support at the right 
time.  

Service needs are articulated within the JSNA show a rising trend in 
the numbers of children who require further support and enrichment 
within schools for signing.  

A business case is brought to the Health and Care Partnership 
Board showing that greater support is required in 5 specific schools 
in the District.  A new alliance partnership commission is put in place 
where one school will act as lead provider to other schools to support 
signing in schools across Bradford.  

This commission has KPI’s that are SMART built in and progress is 
tracked for improving outcomes alongside other core values such as 
rising and decreasing needs / usage of services.  

P
age 77



 

 66 

5.3 To expand our use of joint 
commissioning infrastructure to 
improve provision and outcomes 
for children and young people (0-
25). 

Greater availability of services with 
reduced waiting times is provided in 
Bradford due to a mixture of aligned 
budgets, pooled budgets and agreements 
on commissioning and decommissioning 
needs for the District.  

These are clearly stated and signposting 
for services is shown on the Local Offer 
alongside the pathways to access these 
services.  

A review of Speech and Language Therapy is completed and an 
opportunity to align initially and pool the budgets the following year is 
agreed. Health agrees to be the lead commissioner to the Districts 
NHS Foundation Trusts, with Local Authority guidance on 
requirements to go into a revised contractual arrangement.  

A suite of indicators is agreed and regular reporting is provided via 
Providers to show the usage and needs of the service to inform 
contract monitoring and future commissioning activities.   

P
age 78



 

 67 

 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



April 2021
www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/about/choice/

Publications Gateway Number: 07661

Choice in mental 
health care
Guidance on implementing patients’ legal 
rights to choose the provider and team for 
their mental health care

P
age 81



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 2Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 2

Foreword .......................................................3
Patients’ legal rights to choice ................. 4

The Choice Offer ..........................................4
What do these rights mean? ................... 5
How far do these choices extend? .......... 7
When do the rights to choice  
not apply? ................................................ 8
Meaningful choice ................................... 9

For commissioners ....................................12
Commissioning services ....................... 12
Pricing and payment of mental health 
services ................................................. 13
Pricing and payment of mental health 
services ................................................. 14
Checklist for delivery ............................. 15
Assessing eligibility ............................... 16

For GPs .......................................................16
Considerations for  
clinical appropriateness ......................... 17
Conflicts of interest ................................ 18
NHS e-Referral Service (e-RS) ............. 19
Assessment services ............................ 20
Provision of mental health services ....... 21

For Providers ..............................................21
Supporting meaningful choice ............... 22
Service information ............................... 23
Service information ............................... 24
Integrated care ...................................... 25
Crisis care ............................................. 26
Receiving referrals ................................ 27
Pricing and payment of  
mental health services .......................... 28
Pricing and payment of  
mental health services .......................... 29
Pricing and payment of  
mental health services .......................... 30
Checklist for delivery ............................. 31

Programme of further work ......................32
Embedding the legal rights to choice .... 32

FAQs ............................................................33
Where the rights apply .......................... 34
Where the rights apply .......................... 35
How the rights work ............................... 36
Out of area referrals .............................. 37
Changes in referral patterns .................. 38

References ..................................................39

Contents

P
age 82



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 3Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 3

We are radically transforming mental health 
care in England.

The government has published its plans 
to provide better access to mental health 
services1 over the next five years and the 
NHS Five Year Forward View2 emphasises 
the need for the NHS to drive towards an 
equal response to mental and physical 
health, and towards the two being treated 
together. The Five Year Forward View 
commits to increasing the direct control 
patients have over the care that is provided 
to them and making good on the NHS’ 
promise to give patients choice over where 
and how they receive care.

In physical health, we know that only half 
of patients say they were offered a choice 
of hospitals for their care, and only half of 
patients say they are as involved as they 
wish to be in decisions about their care and 
treatment. In introducing choice in mental 
health, we have the opportunity to accelerate 
the drive for greater patient involvement in 
their care.

The changes in law that have given patients 
with mental health conditions the same legal 
rights as they have had in physical health 

services are significant steps towards parity. 
They are part of the more significant shift 
to increase the direct control patients have 
over their care and every one of us working 
in mental health has a part to play to help 
implement these rights and make them work 
well for patients.

Transparency is at the heart of making 
choice work well for patients. This includes 
transparency about the services available, 
the outcomes they offer patients, the 
experience that patients have when using 
them and the ways in which care can 
be delivered: at home, in communities 
through technology, as well as in traditional 
care settings. By gathering and sharing 
information about services we help patients 
make well-informed, meaningful choices, 
we empower healthcare professionals to 
compare themselves with others as a spur to 
improved performance, and we help CCGs 
and NHS England commission the right 
services, of the right quality, to meet patients’ 
needs and preferences.

This guidance has been developed with 
colleagues from across the mental health 
sector. It seeks to promote a common 

understanding of what mental health 
patients’ legal rights are, where they apply, 
and what they mean in everyday practice. It 
should enable consistency in the application 
of these rights, while also acknowledging the 
need for clinical judgments and decisions 
according to the circumstances of individual 
patients.

Embedding the legal rights to choice in 
mental health will take time and effort to 
achieve, and this guidance is part of a 
wider programme of work to support the 
implementation of choice.

I look forward to continuing to work with you.

Professor Sir Bruce Keogh 
National Medical Director NHS England

Foreword

P
age 83



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 4

Patients’ legal rights to choice in mental 
health were introduced in 2014 as part of 
the drive to achieve parity with physical 
health and increase patients’ direct control 
over their care. We know from physical 
health that these legal rights require 
interpretation to ensure that they are well 
understood and work well for patients. 
This guidance seeks to provide a clear 
interpretation of the legal rights that is 
meaningful to the mental health sector, and 
to support their consistent application.

The legal rights to choice covered in this 
guidance are:

• patient choice of mental healthcare
provider

• patient choice of mental healthcare team

The regulations introducing these legal 
rights state that: Patients must be offered, 
in respect of a first outpatient appointment 
with a team led by a named consultant or 
a named healthcare professional, a choice 
of any clinically appropriate health service 
provider with whom any relevant body has 
a commissioning contract for the service 
required as a result of the referral, and a 
choice of a team led by a named consultant 
or a named healthcare professional. This is 
subject to exclusions set out in legislation3.

This guidance seeks to interpret these 
regulations and set out the principles for 
how these legal rights to choice should 
operate. It is important to note that the right 
to choice does not mean that a patient 
only has their first outpatient appointment 

with their chosen provider: consistent 
with physical health care, once a patient 
has chosen a provider, that provider will 
normally treat the patient for their entire 
episode of care, unless the patient’s 
diagnosis changes significantly.

The Choice Offer

Patients’ legal rights to choice

P
age 84



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 5

The legal rights to choice of mental health 
provider and team apply when:

• the patient has an elective referral for a 
first outpatient appointment

• the patient is referred by a GP

• the referral is clinically appropriate

•  the service and team are led by a 
consultant or a mental healthcare 
professional

• the provider has a commissioning 
contract with any Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) or NHS 
England for the required service 

No prior commissioner approval is 
required for consultant-led elective care or 
in the case of mental health, services led 
by a healthcare professional, where the 
patient has exercised choice of provider 
under the legal rights set out in the NHS 
Constitution.

Commissioners may put in place 
arrangements such as single points of 
access (SPA). However, an SPA should 
not have the effect of restricting patient 
choice and where patients have a legal 
right to choose their provider, this should 
always be enabled.

•  Elective referral
- A referral by a GP where a patient wishes
to be referred for treatment that is not
urgent or emergency (crisis) care.

• Outpatient appointment
- An outpatient appointment is any
arrangement for a patient to receive
elective care from a healthcare
professional, where the patient is not
admitted as an inpatient.

• First outpatient appointment
- A patient’s first appointment with their
chosen provider at the start of their new
episode of care following a referral by a GP.

•  Clinically appropriate
- This is a clinical judgement about what is
in the best clinical interests of the patient,
working within the published National
Institute for Health and Care Excellence
(NICE) guidelines and specifications. See
fuller description of clinical appropriateness
on page 17.

What do these rights mean? Key terms explained: 

Yellow highlighting = updated from the Guidance published in Feb 2018 

P
age 85

AMcDadd
Highlight

AMcDadd_1
Highlight

AMcDadd_2
Highlight



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 6

• Team, led by a consultant or a mental
healthcare professional
- In physical health, elective referrals to
outpatient services are often to teams
led by a consultant in hospital outpatient
settings. In contrast, in mental health,
much of the equivalent provision occurs
in the community and is delivered by a
variety of mental health professionals.
To make the legal rights to choice work
well and on an equivalent basis in mental
health, the rights apply to teams led by a
mental health consultant or other mental
healthcare professional.

- For ease of reference, throughout this
guidance we use the term ‘team led by a
healthcare professional’ to cover both.

What do these rights mean?

Further information:

The Government’s mandate to NHS 
England states that from April 2015 
people with long term conditions who 
could benefit will have the option of 
a personal health budget. Services 
provided by a personal health budget 
are agreed during the care planning 
process, and operate outside of the 
independent funding review panel 
route. Further information is available 
online5.

P
age 86



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 7

Patients’ legal rights to choice in mental 
health are part of the drive to achieve parity 
with physical health. In seeking to deliver 
this, the following should be considered:

Community care 
Much mental health outpatient provision 
occurs in the community, and such provision 
is covered by the legal rights. Where the 
patient lives outside the area where the 
chosen mental healthcare community 
service is delivered, it will be necessary 
for the patient and the GP to consider how 
the patient would be able to travel to and 
from the provider, when making a choice of 
provider. It is important to note that there is 
no obligation on the provider of community 
services to travel to the patient. This is 
to facilitate as wide a choice as possible 
for patients while not placing impractical 
demands on providers.

Primary care 
Mental health services provided under a 
General Medical Services (GMS), Personal 
Medical Services (PMS) or Alternative 
Provider Medical Services (APMS) primary 
care contract are not covered by the legal 
rights to choice of provider and team.

Section 75 Agreements with local 
authorities 
The legal rights to choice apply when the 
chosen service is commissioned under a 
Section 75 Agreement of the Health Act 2006 
with a local authority.

Self-referrals 
As in physical health, patients’ legal rights 
to choice apply following a referral by a GP 
to any provider that has a Commissioning 
Contract with any CCG or NHS England for 
the required service. Patients may access 
some services, such as Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) and Children  
and Adolescents Mental Health Services 

(CAMHS), via self-referral or other locally 
agreed referral processes, e.g. through 
schools. In these instances, patients’ choices 
will be determined by commissioners’ local 
choice offers.

Beyond the first outpatient appointment 
Having chosen a provider, the patient must 
be treated by that provider for the entire 
episode of care for which the patient was 
referred (unless the provider does not 
provide the clinically appropriate service 
that the patient needs or, in the provider’s 
reasonable professional opinion, a patient is 
unsuitable to receive the relevant service, for 
as long as they remain unsuitable).

If a patient’s diagnosis changes significantly, 
the provider should contact the patient’s 
GP to discuss whether it is still clinically 
appropriate for the patient to be treated by 
that provider and whether the commissioner 
will continue to fund the episode of care.

How far do these choices extend?

P
age 87



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 8

There are some exclusions from these legal 
rights to choice.

These are where a patient is:

• already receiving mental health care 
following an elective referral for the 
same condition

•  referred to a service that is 
commissioned by a local authority, for 
example a drug and alcohol service 
(unless commissioned under a Section 
75 Agreement)

• accessing urgent or emergency (crisis) 
care

• accessing services delivered through a 
primary care contract

• in high secure psychiatric services

• detained under the Mental Health Act 
1983

• detained in a secure setting. This 
includes people in or on temporary 
release from prisons, courts, secure 
children’s homes, certain secure 
training centres, immigration removal 
centres or young offender institutions

• serving as a member of the armed 
forces (family members in England 
have the same rights as other 
residents of England).

Key terms explained:

•  Already receiving mental health care 
following an elective referral for the 
same condition 
 - The patient is already being treated by 
a healthcare professional, following an 
elective referral, for the condition for which 
they are presenting to their GP. 

•  Urgent or emergency (that is, crisis) 
care 
- In the same way that the legal rights to 
choice of provider do not apply in the case 
of a physical health care emergency, such 
as a heart attack or stroke, they similarly 
do not apply in situations requiring mental 
health crisis care. The Mental Health Crisis 
Care Concordat: Improving outcomes for 
people experiencing mental health crisis6 
sets out an effective approach to ensuring 
people experiencing mental health crisis 
can access the support they need, when 
they need it.

•  Services delivered through a primary 
care contract 
- Mental health services provided under a 
GMS, PMS or APMS primary care contract 
are not covered by the legal rights to choice 
of provider and team.

When do the rights to choice not apply?

P
age 88



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 9

The legal rights to choice must be offered at 
points where patients can make meaningful 
decisions about the provider and team from 
which to receive their care7. This decision 
might, for example, take place in their GP’s 
surgery, or when a patient is assessed 
following a GP referral. Further detail is 
provided below and in in the flow diagram on 
page 11.

Patient choice and the Mental Capacity 
Act 2005

As a guiding principle, patients should 
be involved as much as possible in 
decisions about their care, as set out in the 
Government’s response to Liberating the 
NHS: No decision about me, without me8.

Across the range of mental health conditions 
that patients might experience, patients may 
be vulnerable and their ability to exercise 
choice that is clinically appropriate could 
be compromised. Referrers are required 

under the Mental Capacity Act 20059 to 
support their patients in making decisions 
about their care. The Act requires all health 
professionals to take ‘all practicable steps’ 
to help people make their own decisions. 
When an impairment is such that the 
patient lacks capacity, the Act requires that 
he or she must be involved as much as 
possible in any decisions about their best 
interests. Moreover, when capacity is likely 
to deteriorate over time, the principles of the 
Act should form the basis of any discussions 
about the future.

GPs offering choice

In many cases the patient will have a 
long term relationship with their GP. Their 
GP will be well placed to understand the 
needs of the patient and have a meaningful 
conversation with the patient about what 
is clinically appropriate given the patient’s 
needs and preferences.

GPs should have as full a choice 
conversation with their patients as possible. 
This may include the need for further clinical 
assessment to determine the diagnosis 
and potential care options, or consideration 
of how the patient would be able to travel 
to and from a provider (such as a distant 
community healthcare provider which 
does not have an obligation to travel to the 
patient).

Assessment following GP referral

Prior to receiving care, a patient might 
need to be assessed. There are different 
models in use across the country, some of 
which offer a predominately administrative 
referral service while others offer a clinical 
assessment where the patient is reviewed by 
a healthcare professional and triaged to the 
most appropriate service. 

Meaningful choice

P
age 89



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 10

Common terms in use for such services include:

• clinical assessment services

• referral management centres

• single point of access.Given this variety, commissioners, 
providers and referrers will need to consider how the models in 
use will support patients to make choices about their provider and 
team at a point where those choices are meaningful.

Choice could become more meaningful if for example:

•  a patient attends a single point of access and receives further 
information about their diagnosis or care options

•  clinical assessment results in significant changes to the patient’s 
diagnosis and/or care options.

Providers of clinical assessment services, referral management centres 
or single points of access must consider the need to offer patients their 
legal rights to choice and do so impartially. Wherever a patient’s choice 
is clinically appropriate, providers are required to support the patient’s 
decision in line with the requirements in the Commissioning Contract.

Meaningful choice

P
age 90



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 11

Provider is able to offer the  
clinical services the patient needs

Patient wishes to proceed with care from  
the provider but choose an alternative team

Provider is not 
able to offer the 
clinical services 

the patient needs

Assessment 
service

No 
assessment 

service

Patient 
wishes to 
choose an 
alternative 
provider

Patient wishes 
to proceed 

with care from 
provider and 

team

Patient chooses which of the available 
providers and teams to be referred to

Patient chooses whether they wish to proceed 
with care from the chosen provider and 

team, now they are better informed of their 
diagnosis and care options

Where meaningful choice could  
take place in the referral pathway

GP identifies the need to electively refer  
the patient to a mental health outpatient service

GP decides that the patient is eligible  
to exercise the legal rights to choice

Provider takes appropriate steps to facilitate change of 
team and then proceeds to deliver the full episode of care

Patient attends 
provider for care

Patient discusses 
with GP (or 

with assessment 
service provider, if 

appropriate) choices 
for onward referral 

for treatment

Provider informs 
GP that it cannot 

provide the 
necessary clinical 

service

Provider 
proceeds to 

deliver the full 
episode of care

Provider informs 
the GP of patient 
decision to choose 

alternative provider 
for treatment

Patient discusses 
with GP (or 

with assessment 
service provider, 
if appropriate) 

choices for 
onward referral 
for treatment

GP has a choice conversation with the patient about  
the clinically appropriate choices available to them

Patient attends 
provider for clinical 
assessment service

Provider has discussion with the patient about their 
diagnosis and care options and whether is it able 
to provide the clinical services the patient needs

P
age 91



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 12

Commissioners are required to provide 
services that meet the reasonable needs 
of the populations for which they are 
responsible. In order to this they must 
determine what to commission for their 
population, and ensure that if a treatment/
service isn’t routinely available, there are 
processes in place to enable the patient to 
receive that treatment/service, if agreed to 
by both the responsible clinician, and the 
individual funding request panel.

To support patient choice commissioners 
must ensure that arrangements are in 
place for providers, irrespective of whether 
they are public, independent or third 
sector organisations, to qualify and secure 
commissioning contracts for the provision 
of elective outpatient services that meet 

patients’ needs. For this reason, it is not 
sufficient for a commissioner to do nothing 
more than recontract with existing qualified 
providers that are performing satisfactorily.

It is a statutory requirement for 
commissioners to secure the provision 
of clinical services, other than primary 
care, using NHS Standard Contracts. The 
terms of the NHS Standard Contract also 
provide commissioners with assurance 
that providers are obliged to meet high 
standards of quality and safety. Despite 
the requirement on commissioners to use 
the NHS Standard Contract, the legal 
right to choice extends to all clinically 
appropriate providers holding a contract 
with any NHS commissioner for provision 
of the service that a patient needs. Where 

a patient chooses a provider that is not 
commissioned using an NHS Standard 
Contract, commissioners should seek to 
put in place an NHS Standard Contract 
with that provider at the earliest possible 
opportunity.

Where a provider delivers an assessment/
triage service the commissioner should 
discuss with the provider how it will ensure 
that patients can exercise their legal rights 
to choice and should include relevant 
standards and reporting requirements within 
its contract with the provider.

For commissioners

Commissioning services

P
age 92



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 13

The National Tariff Document’s mental health 
guidance10 includes the following:

• Payment rules for mental health services: 
these require the implementation of 
transparent payment approaches for 
mental health services for working age 
and older people, and adult IAPT. These 
approaches require consideration of the 
needs of patients and reward improved 
quality and outcomes in line with Five 
Year Forward View for Mental Health. 
The guidance also provides specific rules 
requiring new ways of paying for mental 
health services for working age adults and 
older people, and adult IAPT services.

• Support local change with guidance: 
supports commissioners and providers to 
make progress in implementing payment 
approaches that meet the payment rule 
requirements.

•  Requirements and guidance on national 
data reporting: clarifies existing rules that 
require reporting of care clusters for Mental 

Health Services Dataset (MHSDS) and 
reference cost purposes, and requirements 
around data and information quality.

The National Tariff Document signals a 
clear move away from unaccountable block 
contracts and towards more transparent 
payment approaches that support improved 
quality and improvement in the outcomes 
that matter most to patients. Unaccountable 
block contracts do not facilitate a transparent 
understanding of the services being 
delivered, the outcomes achieved, or the 
costs of delivering effective services.

However, block contracts are not a reason for 
restricting a patient’s legal right to choice of 
provider, as arrangements can be put in place 
to facilitate choice where block contracts are 
in operation. Arrangements should include 
commissioners working with providers to 
monitor the impact of the right to choice of 
provider on patient referral patterns. Where 
commissioners have block contracts with 
providers, and those contracts do not contain 

caps and collars, if numbers of referrals vary 
outside anticipated levels, commissioners 
may wish to seek a variation to contracts to 
help ensure that money follows the patient.

For services covered by the nationally 
mandated currencies, NHS Improvement 
and NHS England have recommended 
that all mental health commissioners and 
providers move to contracts that are based 
on anticipated cluster caseload.

Paying for mental health services

Where a patient chooses a provider with 
which their responsible commissioner holds 
a Commissioning Contract for the outpatient 
services required, payment should proceed 
as per current arrangements.

Where patients choose a provider with which 
their responsible commissioner does not hold 
a Commissioning Contract, the responsible 
commissioner will need to pay the provider, 
consistent with the Who Pays?11 guidance.

Pricing and payment of mental health services

P
age 93



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 14

As set out in Who Pays?11, non-contract 
activity is undertaken by the provider on 
the terms of the NHS Standard Contract in 
place between the provider and its main host 
commissioner. A contract on those terms 
will be implied as between the patient’s 
responsible commissioner and the provider.

The provider should invoice the responsible 
commissioner for these services, in line with 
the normal requirements set out in Service 
Condition 36 of the NHS Standard Contract.

Consistent with the Guidance on mental 
health currencies and prices12, for non-
contracted activity, the commissioner 
should expect to receive an invoice for any 
assessment and/or care provided.

Where they exist, daily cluster prices should 
be used. This will introduce consistency 
in charging and will reduce the need for 
lengthy negotiations between providers 
and commissioners about the price of non-
contracted activity.

Reference costs for 2015/1613 are a 
source of indicative information, providing a 
breakdown of the reported costs of admitted 
and non-admitted care associated with each 
cluster, and the costs of a number of other 
specialist services.

Pricing and payment of mental health services

P
age 94



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 15

Commissioners have a responsibility for ensuring that patients’ legal rights to choice of mental health service provider and team are upheld in the 
commissioning and delivery of services. The following checklist may help commissioners to ensure that they are discharging this responsibility.

Checklist for delivery

Commissioning plan
  Publicly demonstrate how they are 
working within their local area to 
implement choice of mental health 
provider and team.

  Be clear about how they take into account 
patient preferences and how they change 
and emerge over time, when making 
decisions about which mental health 
services to commission.

Commissioning services
  Ensure arrangements are in place for both 
existing and new mental health services 
providers (public, independent and third 
sector) to qualify and secure contracts to 
provide services under a Commissioning 
Contract.

  Ensure that they take into account the 
National Tariff Document when putting in 
place contracts with providers.

Contract management
  Consider how they will utilise the 

Commissioning Contract to ensure that 
the mental health providers they contract 
with fulfil the requirements on them to 
support patient choice.

  Liaise with their local authorities to ensure 
that information is shared appropriately 
across organisations providing care to a 
patient.

  Ensure systems are in place to process 
non-contract activity invoices.

Referral protocols
  Make arrangements to ensure that, at the 
point of GP referral or after assessment, 
mental health patients in need of elective 
care are offered a choice of any clinically 
appropriate mental health service provider 
and team.

  Work with providers to ensure that choice 
is offered alongside clinical assessment 
services, referral management centres 
and single points of access.

  Inform GPs, and keep them updated, 
about the types of mental health services 

they routinely commission, since a GP 
referral constitutes authority to treat on 
behalf of the CCG.

  Approve providers’ services on NHS 
e-Referral Service (e-RS), thereby 
allowing GPs to refer to the services on 
e-RS.

  Make arrangements to ensure that, when 
upholding any complaint that an eligible 
patient did not receive the legal rights to 
choice, the patient is then offered a choice 
of any clinically appropriate provider and 
team.

Information for patients
 Publicise patients’ rights to choice.

  Inform patients where they can find 
information about mental health providers 
and teams in order to help them make 
choices.

  Inform patients how they can complain 
if they feel they have not been offered 
a choice or do not have access to 
information on which to base their choice.

P
age 95



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 16

‘The choice offer’ on page 4 of this guidance 
sets out which mental health patients, 
conditions and services are covered by 
the legal rights to choice, as well as those 
patients, services and circumstances for 
which the rights to choice do not apply.

For GPs

Assessing eligibility

P
age 96



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 17

Involving patients in decision making

  Discussing the patient’s personal 
circumstances.

  Discussing the patient’s continuity of 
care, for example any co-morbidities and 
existing care and treatment the patient is 
receiving or needs to receive.

  Discussing the patient’s rights to choose 
the provider and team at the points at 
which the choice is meaningful.

  Discussing whether the patient would 
benefit from accessing an advocacy 
service.

  Discussing whether the patient would 
benefit from receiving further information 
in a more accessible format.

Provider services and outcomes

  Whether the provider offers evidence-
based and effective care for the patient’s 
condition.

  The quality and clinical outcome indicators 
for the providers’ services.

  Patient and user feedback for the 
providers’ services.

Clinical considerations

  Whether there is risk of fragmenting care 
through the choice that a patient wishes 
to make, for example where a patient 
requires a high level of integrated health 
and social care.

  Any implications patient choice of provider 
has for the delivery of crisis care should it 
be required during their episode of care.

  Whether the patient has been recently 
discharged and the potential clinical 
benefits of continuity of care.

Practical implications

  Discussing how the patient would be able 
to travel to and from the provider if the 
patient lives outside the area served by 
the provider.

  Any local provision for patient transport to 
and from their chosen provider.

Considerations for clinical appropriateness
It is for the GP to decide what is clinically appropriate when offering eligible patients their legal rights to choice.

Particular consideration needs to be given to clinical appropriateness where a patient has complex mental health needs and requires an integrated 
package of health and social care to avoid their care being fragmented.

When discussing clinically appropriate choices with patients, using the information available at the point of referral, GPs should consider:

P
age 97



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 18

Where a non-primary care provider of mental 
health services has staff within a GP practice, 
either to provide advice on diagnoses and/
or to administer care, the GP may seek 
their advice to help determine the patient’s 
condition(s) and the type(s) of services that 
the patient needs. The mental health staff 
and the GP must however avoid any conflicts 
of interest in supporting the patient’s choice 
of provider to deliver the care.

Where a non-primary care provider of mental 
health services to which the legal rights apply 
has staff co-located within a GP practice to 
administer care, the GP practice may not 
prevent or otherwise restrict patients from 
other GP practices accessing those services 
if patients exercise their legal right to choose 
to be referred to those services for their first 
outpatient appointment.

Conflicts of interest

P
age 98



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 19

e-RS is well established as the principal 
electronic means of referring patients to 
outpatient services, and is being increasingly 
used for referrals to mental health services. 
GPs need to support patients in making 
informed choice and e-RS allows GPs to view 
available providers, send referral information 
electronically to that chosen provider, and 
enable the patient to be booked into an 
appointment slot.

e-RS:

• can facilitate the choice conversation 
between GPs and patients

•  includes a direct link to provider 
profiles on NHS Choices

• has the ability to support different 
referral pathways

• e-RS supports GPs in asking for 
advice and guidance before making a 
referral

• is secure and auditable for all users.

e-RS supports first elective referrals and the 
booking of adults, children and adolescents 
directly into an appointment, or to a mental 
health clinical assessment service, if 
required. Patients may be able to book their 
appointments while in the GP practice or 
later online or via the national Telephone 
Appointment Line (TAL).

Making an elective referral to a mental health 
service provider and team is broadly similar 
to an elective referral to any other service 
on e-RS. For new users of the system, 
the ‘Referring a Patient’14 e-learning tool 
available from the e-RS website gives a 
comprehensive step by step guide.

NHS e-Referral Service – Mental Health 
Services15 provides further guidance.

As with existing practice and where 
appropriate, GPs should ensure social 
services are kept informed of where the 
patient is being treated.

NHS e-Referral Service (e-RS)

P
age 99



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 20

Clinical Assessment Services, Referral Management Centres and 
Single Points of Access

Where a clinical assessment service, referral management centre, 
or single point of access sits between the initial GP referral and 
the provision of care, it is important that the GP discusses this 
arrangement with the patient as it may have implications for 
the point at which the patient can make a meaningful choice. 
Suggestions about the points at which choice is meaningful can be 
found on pages 9-11.

The patient’s rights to choice should be exercised at the point 
where the patient can make a meaningful choice about the 
provider and the team. If this occurs within the clinical assessment 
service, referral management centre, or single point of access the 
healthcare professionals having a choice conversation with patient 
should refer to the guidance on page 17 about supporting patients 
to make clinically appropriate decisions. In doing so providers 
must avoid any conflicts of interests7.

Assessment services

Further information

If a patient is receiving care from a provider or a team 
and the relationship breaks down this can result in the 
patient disengaging from care and can ultimately affect 
their likely clinical outcomes. If a patient is not happy 
with the service they are receiving they may discuss 
their concerns with a care professional. This may be 
with the provider in the first instance or the patient may 
return to their GP if for any reason they do not want to 
continue to receive care from their chosen provider. In 
which case, although the patient will not have a legal 
right to choose an alternative provider, the GP should 
discuss what is in the patient’s best interests, and any 
other options available.

P
age 100



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 21

Mental health is a sector where there 
is already a wide range of providers. 
There is potential for changes in referral 
patterns across existing providers and 
for new providers to enter the sector 
over the coming years in response to 
patients exercising their rights to choice. 
Commissioners must provide appropriate 
opportunities for new providers to qualify 
for and secure a contract to deliver such 
services.

For Providers

Provision of mental health servicesP
age 101



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 22

The right to choice of provider should be 
exercised at the point where the patient is 
able to make a meaningful, informed choice.

Providers of clinical assessment services, 
referral management centres or single points 
of access must consider the need to offer 
patients their legal rights to choice and do so 
impartially.

Wherever a patient’s choice is clinically 
appropriate, providers are required to 
support the patient’s decision in line with 
the requirements in the Commissioning 
Contract16 and with the guidance on 
complying with with the choice and 
competition licence conditions7. Supporting 
meaningful choice should form part of 
discussions between the commissioner 
and the provider of the clinical assessment 
service, referral management service or 
single point of access.

Supporting meaningful choice

P
age 102



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 23

Contractual requirements to make service 
information available

Meaningful and informed choice of provider 
for patients with mental health conditions 
depends on patients and GPs having access 
to good quality, up to date information from 
providers about the mental health services 
they offer. The Commissioning Contract 
requires providers to:

• describe and publish all relevant 
services (except high secure services) 
and associated appointment slots on 
e-RS

• make their service information 
available to the public on NHS 
Choices.

Mental health service providers who have 
a Commissioning Contract with a CCG or 
NHS England must meet these contractual 
requirements16.

NHS e-Referral Service

e-RS:

• can facilitate the choice conversation 
between GPs and patients

• allows providers to promote suitable 
mental health services online

• has the ability to support different 
referral pathways

• e-RS supports GPs in asking for 
advice and guidance before making a 
referral

• is secure and auditable for all users.

e-RS supports first elective referrals and the 
booking of adults, children and adolescents 
directly into an appointment, or to a mental 
health clinical assessment service, if 
required.

Service information

P
age 103



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 24

How to set up services on NHS e-Referral 
Service

The principles of setting up a mental health 
service are broadly the same as setting up 
any other service in e-RS.

Providers need to:

• decide which of their services are 
appropriate to publish on e-RS

• upload key clinical information for each 
service using Speciality/Clinic Types 
and SNOMED clinical terms (e.g. 
anxiety disorder)

• upload relevant information for 
each service about its single or 
multi-disciplinary teams, including 
information about the service’s named 
healthcare professional(s).

Guidance and information17 to support 
providers in setting up their services on 
NHS e-Referral Service is available.

Some existing and prospective mental 
health providers do not yet have electronic 
systems that communicate directly with 
e-RS.

They are still able to list their services 
on the e-RS system, but the booking of 
appointments requires manual intervention.

All mental health providers should therefore 
be able to make the necessary information 
about their services available to help 
patients and their GPs choose a clinically 
appropriate service to meet the patient’s 
needs. Further guidance is available in 
NHS e-Referral Service - Mental Health 
Services15.

Service information

P
age 104



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 25

To secure best outcomes many patients 
will need interventions from a range of 
health and social care professionals 
working together across organisational and 
geographical boundaries. Providers will 
currently have systems in place to support 
delivery of care for out of area patients, and 
where necessary these should be utilised 
to enable delivery of high quality care to 
patients who have exercised their legal right 
to choice.

The Commissioning Contract (Service 
Condition 4)16 requires providers to co-
operate with others and have due regard 
to the welfare and rights of patients 
including having a duty to ensure that a 
patient’s care remains integrated. Where 
a patient’s choice of provider has practical 
implications for any wider package of care 
the patient might be receiving, or needs to 
receive, or the patient’s choice raises issues 

about patient safety, the provider should 
discuss this with the patient and contact 
the referring GP to discuss and agree an 
appropriate way forward.

Sharing patient information between 
organisations

A key source of information for providers, 
which includes links to further guidance 
is Information: To Share or not to Share 
Government Response to the Caldicott 
Review18

When regular exchanges of information 
need to take place between different 
agencies it is important to have a formal 
agreement in place to ensure that everyone 
understands what information will be 
exchanged, for what purpose, and to whom.

Integrated care

P
age 105



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 26

Some patients with mental health conditions 
are more at risk than others of experiencing 
a crisis. Crisis might happen during the 
course of elective outpatient care. It is 
important that wherever patients receive 
crisis care, the provider of that care can 
access up to date information about the 
patient and any elective care they have 
been receiving.

The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat6 
was published in February 2014 and aims 
to improve the system of care and support 
so people in crisis are kept safe and helped 
to find the support they need. People should 
be helped to receive that support whatever 
the circumstances in which they first need 
help and from whichever service they turn 
to first.

Crisis care

P
age 106



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 27

Providers should accept referrals that are 
made to them through the exercise of 
patients’ legal rights to choice, in line with 
the conditions set out in the Commissioning 
Contract. Once a referral has been 
accepted the patient must be treated by that 
provider for their entire episode of care.

If a patient’s diagnosis changes significantly 
the provider should contact the patient’s 
GP to discuss whether it is still clinically 
appropriate for the patient to be treated by 
that provider and whether the commissioner 
will continue to fund the episode of care.

Receiving referrals

P
age 107



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 28

The National Tariff Document’s mental 
health guidance10 includes the following:

• Payment rules for mental health services:
these require the implementation of
transparent payment approaches for
mental health services for working age
and older people, and adult IAPT. These
approaches require consideration of the
needs of patients and reward improved
quality and outcomes in line with Five
Year Forward View for Mental Health.
Specific rules require new ways of paying
for mental health services for working age
adults and older people, and adult IAPT
services.

• Support local change with guidance:
supports commissioners and providers to
make progress in implementing payment
approaches that meet the payment rule
requirements.

• Requirements and guidance on national
data reporting: clarifies existing rules that
require reporting of care clusters for Mental
Health Services Dataset (MHSDS) and
reference cost purposes, and requirements
around data and information quality.

The National Tariff Document10 signals a 
clear move away from unaccountable block 
contracts and towards more transparent 
payment approaches that reward 
improved quality and improvement in the 
outcomes that matter most to patients. 
Unaccountable block contracts do not 
facilitate a transparent understanding of 
the services being delivered, the outcomes 
achieved or the costs of delivering effective 
services. However, block contracts are not 
a reason for restricting a patient’s legal 
right to choice of provider, as arrangements 
can be put in place to facilitate choice 
where block contracts are in operation. 

Arrangements should include providers and 
commissioners working together to monitor 
the impact of the right to choice of provider 
on patient referral patterns. Where block 
contracts are in place, and those contracts 
do not contain caps and collars, if numbers 
of referrals vary outside anticipated levels, 
commissioners may wish to seek a variation 
to contracts to help ensure that money 
follows the patient.

For services covered by the nationally 
mandated currencies, NHS Improvement 
and NHS England have recommended 
that all mental health commissioners and 
providers move to contracts that are based 
on anticipated cluster caseload.

Charging for mental health services

Where a patient chooses a provider that has 
a Commissioning Contract with the patient’s 
responsible commissioner, payment should 

Pricing and payment of mental health services

P
age 108



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 29

proceed as per current arrangements.

Where patients choose a provider that does 
not hold a Commissioning Contract with 
the patient’s responsible commissioner, 
the provider will need to charge the 
responsible commissioner, consistent with 
the Who Pays? guidance?11. The provider 
should invoice the patient’s responsible 
commissioner for these services, as they 
would for any other non-contracted activity. 
Non-contract activity is undertaken by the 
provider on the terms of the Commissioning 
Contract which is implied as between the 
patient’s responsible commissioner and the 
provider.

Who Pays?11 clarifies the general 
arrangements for services provided as 
non-contract activity and sets out how 
providers should invoice for such activity. 
There is specific guidance on mental health 
currencies and prices12 which includes 
a section on choice and non-contract 

activity. Using the principles set out in this 
document, where a provider receives a 
non-contracted activity referral through the 
exercise of the legal right to choice, the 
provider should use the following charging 
process:

• Separate out any assessment, non-
admitted and/or admitted care that has
been provided for the patient.

• Charge for the assessment and add the
appropriate daily cluster price (or locally
agreed alternative) per patient per day.

•  Invoice the patient’s commissioner on a
monthly basis.

Where any emergency, urgent or crisis 
intervention is required from a provider with 
whom the responsible commissioner does 
not have a contract, the commissioner will 
be expected to fund this as non-contracted 
activity, in line with the Who Pays?11 
guidance.

How mental health services are priced

When charging for non-contracted activity, 
daily cluster prices should be used, where 
they exist. The process for calculating these 
cluster prices can be found in the NHS 
Improvement and NHS England guidance 
on mental health currencies and prices12.

Reference costs for 2015/1613 are a 
source of indicative information, providing a 
breakdown of the reported costs of admitted 
and non-admitted care associated with each 
cluster, and the costs of a number of other 
specialist services.

NHS England suggests that where a patient 
requires services that are not included or 
specified within an existing priced cluster, 
the price the provider should charge the 
responsible commissioner should be 
calculated in a manner that is consistent 
with the principles of the National Tariff for 
local prices, particularly under section 6 of 

Pricing and payment of mental health services

P
age 109



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 30

the National Tariff Document’s mental health 
guidance10.

Charging for crisis care

The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat: 
Improving outcomes for people 
experiencing mental health crisis6 sets 
out an effective approach to ensuring 
people experiencing mental health crisis 
can access the support they need, when 
they need it.If the patient seeks crisis care 
from a provider with whom the responsible 
commissioner does have a Commissioning 
Contract, payment should proceed as per 
current arrangements.

If a patient seeks crisis care from a provider 
with whom the responsible commissioner 
does not have a Commissioning Contract, 
the commissioner will be expected to fund 
this as non-contracted activity, in line with 
the Who Pays?11 guidance. The provider 

should assess the patient and then assign 
the patient to the appropriate cluster. The 
provider should then proceed to invoice the 
commissioner as set out above.

Disagreement on payments

Commissioners and providers should 
work together in good faith to minimise 
disagreements relating to payment for 
non-contract activity. Any formal disputes 
over payment for non-contract activity 
should be resolved in accordance with the 
dispute resolution procedure set out in the 
Commissioning Contract.

Pricing and payment of mental health services

P
age 110



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 31

Checklist for delivery

Facilitating the exercise of legal rights to 
choice

  Accept all clinically appropriate referrals in 
line with the Commissioning Contract.

  Liaise with the patient’s GP where the 
provider considers the referral clinically 
inappropriate.

Supporting meaningful choice

  Consider how choice will be offered 
alongside any clinical assessment service, 
referral management service or single 
point of access the provider delivers.

  Comply with guidance regarding licence 
conditions7

  Provide staff with the appropriate 
information and training to enable them 
to hold a meaningful choice conversation 
with patients.

Making service information available

  Describe and publish all primary care 
referred services in the e-RS through a 
Directory of Service.

  Publish up to date service and team 
information on NHS Choices.

Supporting integrated care

  Ensure systems are in place to facilitate 
information sharing with the organisations 
relevant to a patient’s care, including 
where these organisations are not local.

  Consider putting in place additional 
information sharing arrangements where 
appropriate.

  Keep the patient’s GP informed of relevant 
aspects of the patient’s care.

Charging for services

  Price services delivered as non-contracted 
activity in line with the National Tariff 
guidance.

  Comply with requirements for information 
reporting and information quality.

  Invoice the responsible commissioner 
on a monthly basis, clearly stating prices 
for assessment and the appropriate daily 
cluster price (or locally agreed alternative) 
per patient per day.

Providers have a contractual responsibility for ensuring that patients’ legal rights to choice of mental health service provider and team are upheld, in line 
with the Commissioning Contract. The following checklist may help providers to ensure that they are discharging this responsibility.

P
age 111



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 32

The aim is to embed these legal rights, 
so that they operate well and in the best 
interests of patients. This means that:

• All patients with mental health conditions 
are aware of their rights, and have the 
information and support they need to 
make well informed choices that meet their 
needs and preferences.

• All GPs offer choice to eligible patients 
and support them in making informed 
decisions.

• All providers of mental health outpatient 
services make good quality, up to date 
information about their services available 
to enable meaningful choice by patients, 
and accept all appropriate patient referrals, 
in line with their Commissioning Contract.

•  All commissioners enable the right to 
choice of services by: 
- commissioning services that meet the 
needs of patients 
- having referral protocols with GPs that 
support patient choice 
- using the levers in the Commissioning 
Contract to ensure choice works well for 
patients.

Embedding the legal rights to choice in 
mental health will take time and effort 
to achieve. This guidance is part of a 
significant programme of work that will 
support the implementation of the legal 
rights. Details of this programme of work are 
available on the NHS England website19.

As part of this programme of work, 
additional resources to help support 
the implementation of the legal rights 
to choice, are available on the NHS 
England website19. There will be ongoing 
engagement with stakeholders as the 
programme progresses and additional 
supporting resources will be coproduced 
and added to the website.

Programme of further work

Embedding the legal rights to choice

P
age 112



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 33

Mental health patients and the 
circumstances in which they have a right to 
choice.

Q1: Do patients have a right to choice of 
clinically appropriate provider and team 
in circumstances where their mental 
capacity is impaired?

A: Patients should be involved as much 
as possible in decisions about their care. 
However, across the range of mental health 
conditions that patients might experience, 
patients may be vulnerable and their 
ability to exercise choice that is clinically 
appropriate could be compromised. All 
issues relating to mental capacity should 
be decided with reference to the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) 20059 and its Code 
of Practice. Under the Act, all referrers 

are required to support their patients in 
making decisions about their care, including 
patients with a mental impairment.

Patients aged 16 or over are assumed to 
have capacity to make their own decisions, 
including decisions relating to their 
healthcare. If all practicable steps have 
been taken to help a person to make their 
own decision, and the person is assessed 
to lack capacity in accordance with the 
MCA, then care decisions in the person’s 
best interests may be made for them.

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (Code of 
Practice)20 provides guidance on making 
decisions for people who are assessed 
to be lacking the capacity to make such 
decisions for themselves (see chapter 2 of 
the Code of Practice).

There are a number of sources of guidance 
on the law concerning consent to physical 
examination and treatment. The Department 
of Health’s Reference Guide to Consent 
for Treatment or Examination21 provides 
further advice on considering a person’s 
mental capacity when obtaining consent to 
treatment.

The General Medical Council guidance on 
consent, Consent: patients and doctors 
making decisions together22 and the British 
Medical Association’s Consent Tool Kit23, 
also provide useful guidance on making 
decisions about medical examination and 
treatment for people who lack capacity to 
make those decisions for themselves.

FAQs

Where the rights apply

P
age 113



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 34

Q2: Do patients have a legal right to 
choice of clinically appropriate provider 
and team when detained in a secure 
ward?

A: No. Patients who are sectioned under 
the Mental Health Act 1983 do not have 
legal rights to choice of provider or team, 
therefore any patient detained under the Act 
would not be eligible to exercise their legal 
rights to choice.

Q3: Do patients have a legal right to 
choice of clinically appropriate provider 
and team when being admitted to a 
locked acute ward?

A: No. The legal rights to choice of provider 
or team do not apply to inpatient services.

Q4: Do children and young people 
have the right to choice of clinically 
appropriate provider and team for their 
mental health care?

A: Patients aged 16 or over are assumed to 
have capacity to make their own decisions, 

unless there are grounds to suggest 
otherwise. If a patient is under 16 the GP 
should assess their Gillick competency and 
take a decision, with the patient, about their 
ability to make an informed choice. If the 
child is Gillick competent the GP should 
still include the child’s parents or guardians 
in their choices. If the child refuses, and 
the child’s well-being depends on their 
choices, and it is in their best interests to 
proceed without parental involvement, the 
GP should proceed accordingly (the ‘Fraser 
Guidelines’). Where a young person, aged 
16-17, has capacity under the Mental 
Capacity Act but is unable to make a 
decision because they are overwhelmed by 
its implications, the GP should involve the 
patient’s parents or guardians. If the patient 
is under 16 and is not Gillick competent 
then the patient’s parents or guardians may 
exercise choice on their behalf.

Children and young people should be kept 
as fully informed, just as an adult would 
be, and should receive clear, detailed 

information concerning their care, explained 
in an age-appropriate way they can 
understand. The Department of Health’s 
Reference Guide to Consent for Treatment 
or Examination21 provides further advice 
on when children and young people can 
consent to treatment and therefore make 
decisions about their own care. The General 
Medical Council’s 0-18 Years: Guidance 
for all doctors24 and the British Medical 
Association’s Consent Tool Kit23, also 
provide useful guidance on helping children 
and young people make valid consent 
decisions about their treatment.

Q5: Are learning disability services 
included in the legal rights to choice?

A: Yes. As long as the services meet the 
criteria set out in legislation then patients 
have a right to choose their learning 
disability provider and team.

Where the rights apply

P
age 114



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 35

Q6: Do patients have a right to choice if 
they require integrated health and social 
care?

A: Patients are eligible for choice of mental 
health provider and team including where 
they require integrated packages of care 
involving social care. Patients should 
discuss their options with their GP to ensure 
that their choices are clinically appropriate 
to meet their needs and preferences 
and to ensure that care can continue to 
be delivered in an integrated way that is 
effective in meeting their needs.

Q7: Do patients have a right to choose 
independent or third sector providers?

A: Yes. Patients have a right to choose any 
clinically appropriate mental health service 
provider, including an independent or third 
sector provider that has a Commissioning 
Contract with any CCG in England or 
with NHS England for the provision of the 
required services.

Q8: Is choice of provider and team 
compatible with personal health budgets?

A: Yes. As part of receiving a personal 
health budget, patients can choose to 
receive clinical services from any provider, 
including those who are not currently 
commissioned by a CCG or NHS England. 
This does not need to be agreed by an 
Independent Funding Review Panel but 
must be agreed by the party responsible 
for approving personal health budget 
plans within the patient’s CCG. CCGs 
should be in a position from April 2015 to 
offer personal health budgets to eligible 
individuals that would benefit from one. 
Further information is available on the 
personal health budget web page5.

Q9: What happens if a patient is not 
happy with the provider or team they 
have chosen: do they have a legal right to 
make further choices?

A: No. But, if a patient is not happy with the 
service they are receiving they may discuss 
their concerns with a care professional. This 
may be with the provider in the first instance 
or the patient may return to their GP if for 
any reason they do not want to continue 
to receive care from their chosen provider. 
In which case, although the patient will not 
have a legal right to choose an alternative 
provider, the GP should discuss what is in 
the patient’s best interests, and any other 
options available. Ultimately, if still not 
satisfied, the patient may choose to make 
a complaint through the NHS Complaints 
Procedure25.

Where the rights apply

P
age 115



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 36

Q10: What should patients do if they are 
not offered their legal right to choice?

A: GPs should ensure that patients are 
aware of their choice options and that 
eligible patients are offered the choices 
to which they are entitled. However, if 
choice is not offered, the NHS Choice 
Framework26 provides information on the 
steps that patients can take. Patients should 
contact their local CCG in the first instance. 
Ultimately, if still not satisfied, the patient 
may choose to make a complaint through 
the NHS Complaints Procedure25.

Q11: Do the legal rights to choice apply 
only to those services for which the 
18 week referral to treatment standard 
applies?

A: No. The legal rights to choice apply 
to all elective outpatient services led by 
a consultant or healthcare professional. 
Further details are outlined on pages 5-7. 
legislation then patients have a right to 
choose their learning disability provider and 
team.

How the rights work

P
age 116



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 37

Q12: Who meets the travel costs 
for patients attending outpatient 
appointments?

A: The NHS travel costs guidance 
Healthcare Travel Costs Scheme: 
Instructions and Guidance for the NHS27 
provides further information on the support 
available for the travel costs of people on 
low incomes.

Q13: Would patients exercising their legal 
rights to choice of provider and team wait 
longer for treatment?

A: All patients, whether accessing services 
through their legal right to choice or through 
standard, local referral protocols, should be 
treated equally with regards the time they 
wait to access services.

Mental health providers should provide 
waiting time information about their services 
on NHS Choices so that patients and GPs 
may take this into account when patients 
choose which provider they want to attend 
for their first outpatient appointment. e-RS 

shows the indicative waiting time for first 
outpatient appointments which can help 
patients and GPs make a more informed 
choice.

Q14: Should commissioners allow 
referrals to providers which offer an 
equivalent but more expensive service 
than those routinely contracted by the 
patient’s CCG?

A: Yes. Details on calculating the price to 
charge the responsible commissioner are 
on page 29.

Q15: If so, who pays?

A: The commissioner responsible for the 
patient pays. The guidance document Who 
Pays?11, clarifies the general arrangements 
for payment of services provided as non-
contract activity.

Out of area referrals

P
age 117



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 38

Q16: What should commissioners and 
providers do if changes to patient flows 
decrease to the point of making some 
services unsustainable?

A: It is unlikely that changes to patient flows 
resulting from the introduction of choice in 
mental health will be the primary reason for 
a service becoming unsustainable. Services 
should be designed around the needs of 
local communities and strive to achieve and 
demonstrate the best quality and patient 
outcomes. Where patients experience high 
quality local services, we do not anticipate 
significant changes in patient flows.

Mental health providers should provide 
quality, outcomes and waiting times 
information about their services on NHS 
Choices so that patients and GPs may take 
this into account when patients choose 
which provider they want to attend.

Changes in referral patterns

P
age 118



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 39

1.  Department of Health (2014). Achieving 
better access to mental health services 
by 2020.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
mental-health-services achieving-better-
access-by-2020

2.  NHS Five Year Forward View (2014).
www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf

3.  The NHS Commissioning Board and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(Responsibilities and Standing Rules) 
Regulations 2012 (Regulation 39).
www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2996/
contents/made as amended by the 
NHS Commissioning Board and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (Responsibilities 
and Standing Rules) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2013 www.legislation.gov.uk/
uksi/2013/2891/contents/made

4.  As set out in the Standing Rules (see 
endnote 3) the legal rights apply to 
elective referrals made by a general 
medical practitioner, general dental 
practitioner or optometrists (Regulation 
38). Of these, referrals to mental health 
services will be made by GPs so this 
term is used throughout this guidance.

5.  NHS England personal health budget 
web page. 
www.england.nhs.uk/personal-health-
budgets/

6.  Department of Health and Concordat 
signatories (2014). Mental Health Crisis 
Care Concordat. 
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/281242/36353_Mental_Health_
Crisis_accessible.pdf

7.  Monitor (2014). Choice and competition 
licence conditions: guidance for 
providers of NHS-funded services 
(page 16). 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
nhs-healthcare-providers-working-with-
choice-and-competition

8.  Department of Health (2012), Liberating 
the NHS: No decision about me, 
without me. 
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/216980/
Liberating-the-NHS-No-decision-
aboutme-without-me-Government-
response.pdf

9.  Mental Capacity Act 2005. 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/
contents

References

P
age 119



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 40

10.  Monitor and NHS England (2013) 
National tariff payment system 
2017/18 and 2018/19. 
https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/
national-tariff-1719/

11.  NHS England (2013). Who Pays? 
Determining responsibility for 
payments to providers. 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/resources/
resources-for-ccgs/#finance

12.  Monitor and NHS England (2013). 
Guidance on mental health currencies 
and payment. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/mental-health-currencies-
and-payment-guidance

13.  Department of Health (2014) NHS 
reference costs 2015 to 2016. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
nhs-reference-costs-2015-to-2016

14.  NHS e-Referral Service. 
www.content.digital.nhs.uk/referrals

15.  NHS e-Referral Service – Mental 
Health Services. 
www.content.digital.nhs.uk/
media/17209/Mental-Health-Services/
pdf/Mental_Health_Services.pdf

16.  NHS England. NHS Standard Contract. 
www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-
contract 
Service condition 6.3 in the 2017/19 
NHS Standard Contract sets out the 
requirements on providers to describe 
and publish all relevant services and 
associated appointment slots in the 
NHS e-Referral Service and to make 
information available on NHS Choices 
website. 2017/19 service conditions 
available from: www.england.nhs.uk/
nhs-standard-contract/17-18/

17.  NHS e-Referral Service – Providers. 
http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/
referrals/providers

18.  Department of Health (2013). 
Information: To share or not to share? 
Government response to Caldicott 
Review. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
caldicott-information-governance-
review-department-of-health-response

19.  NHS England website. 
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/pe/
patient-choice/

20.  The Stationary Office (2007). Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 Code of Practice. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice

21.  Department of Health (2009). 
Reference guide to consent for 
examination or treatment 2nd ed. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
reference-guide-to-consent-for-
examination-or-treatment-second-
edition

P
age 120



Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 41

22.  General Medical Council (2008). 
Consent guidance: patients and 
doctors making decisions together. 
www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/ethical_
guidance/consent_guidance_index.asp

23.  British Medical Association (2009). 
Consent tool kit. 
www.bma.org.uk/advice/employment/
ethics/consent/consent-tool-kit

24.  General Medical Council (2007). 0-18 
years: guidance for all doctors. 
www.gmc-uk.org/guidance/ethical_
guidance/children_guidance_index.asp

25.  NHS Choices website - Making a 
complaint. 
www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/
Rightsandpledges/complaints/Pages/
NHScomplaints.aspx

26.  Department of Health (2014). 2016 
Choice Framework. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
the-nhs-choice-framework

27.  NHS Choices website - Help with 
health costs. 
www.nhs.uk/nhsengland/Healthcosts/
pages/Travelcosts.aspx

P
age 121



Further resources
Additional supporting material is available on the  
NHS England website. Please visit:  
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/pe/patient-choice/

Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 42Guidance: Choice of provider and team in mental health care 42

P
age 122



An evidence-based plan 
for addressing the autism 

assessment and support crisis

A country that works for all 
children and young people

P
age 123



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 2

Contents

Contents
4

6

7

8

10

12

14

24

30

32

36

38

40

42

Foreword

Report details

Key insights

Defining autism  and associated developmental differences

Autism policy recommendations

Principles

The evidence

Innovative  approaches  trialled in  the real world

What “good” looks like in autism education

Limpsfield Grange experiences

Implementation

The role of educational psychology 

End word

References and author list

P
age 124



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisForeword

A growing number of children and young 
people (CYP) are being diagnosed as autistic. 
The most recent government estimate is that 
almost 2% of pupils in England now have an 
autism diagnosis, a number that has risen over 
recent years as awareness about autism has 
increased. Autistic CYP experience the world in a 
different way which can have an impact on social 
communication and interaction, interests, and 
can be characterised by restricted or repetitive 
behaviours. Autistic CYP may also have different 
ways of learning, moving, or paying attention. 

These factors can have a profound impact on the 
daily life of autistic CYP and their families, and 
most will face some challenges as they grow up. 
The education system can be difficult for some 
autistic CYP, particularly those at schools with 
very rigid policies. Only a quarter of autistic CYP 
say they feel happy at school – and it is perhaps 
unsurprising that an autistic CYP is twice as likely 
to be excluded from school as a child without 
Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND). 

Most autistic CYP – and their families – need 
some health service and other support as they 
grow up. Too often the gateway to receiving that 
support is complex. It requires an assessment to 
take place, yet as this report sets out, the UK has 
an autism assessment crisis. Thousands of CYP 
who need an autism assessment and support 
are not receiving timely help. As one parent 
seeking an assessment for her child told the 
report authors, “it was an absolute nightmare”.

Many thousands of families feel the same way, and 
they are being left to navigate a support system 
that is hampered by processing delays and long 
waiting lists. On average, only one in 10 CYP are 
receiving an appointment within 13 weeks of being 
referred, and as the statistics in this report show, 
girls and children from ethnic minority groups are 
even less likely to receive the support they need. 

This failure to provide the right autism support 
can lead to poor long-term outcomes for autistic 
CYP, including an increased prevalence of 
connected conditions such as mental ill health. 

As anyone who has worked with CYP in an 
education or secure setting knows, there can 
be huge costs and consequences of failing to 
support autistic CYP – reduced life chances, a 
higher risk of school exclusion or not attending 
school, and in the very worst cases a greater 
risk of harm, exploitation, or criminalisation.

The systems for those autistic CYP who do need 
health service support need to be transformed, 
and the way assessments are delivered and how 
information is shared needs urgent reform. As 
well as improving life chances, tackling this autism 
assessment crisis could have a beneficial knock-
on effect to the wider education, health, criminal 
justice systems, and reduce some of the enormous 
current financial pressures on those services.

This report sets out how change can happen. It 
has been produced by eight research-intensive 
universities in the North of England – the N8 
Research Partnership – combined with a wider 
academic community (the N8+) as part of the 
Child of the North initiative, and the new Centre 
for Young Lives thinktank. It is the first in a series 
of 12 Child of the North/Centre for Young Lives 
reports to be published during 2024, which 
together will look at how we can encourage 
government to reset its vision for CYP. 

The series of reports will show how putting the 
interests and life chances of CYP at the heart of 
policymaking and delivery is crucial to Britain’s 
future. They will shine a light on some of the biggest 
challenges facing government, including reducing 
child poverty, and improving support for CYP with 
mental health conditions, while also providing 
rigorous research and pragmatic, evidence-based 
recommendations which acknowledge the ongoing 
financial limitations on government spending. 

As we approach the next general election, 
there is no better time to make the case for 
changing the Government’s overall approach 
to improving the lives of CYP and families, 
whichever political party is in power.

Foreword by Anne Longfield and 
Camilla Kingdon

Page | 3

P
age 125



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 4

The series begins with this analysis of the 
current system of support for autistic CYP. 
It reveals that while we are spending large 
amounts on the system, and despite the 
publication of the Government’s autism 
strategy in 2021, the autism assessment crisis 
is continuing to worsen. Waiting times for 
assessment have soared since the COVID-19 
pandemic and the number of CYP accessing 
autism services is now at a record high. This 
is a system under unsustainable pressure.

In July 2022, more than 125,000 people 
were waiting for an autism assessment by 
mental health services, an increase of 34% 
since October 2021. By July 2023, this 
number had risen to more than 143,000. 
Figures published in September 2023 
show there were 157,809 patients with 
an open referral for suspected autism. 

On average, one out of 10 CYP 
are still to receive an appointment 
13 weeks after their referral.

More than one in four parents 
have waited over three years to 
receive support for their child. 

The evidence shows that early identification and 
support is crucial. CYP with autism and related 
issues, such as attention-deficit hyperactivity 
disorder (ADHD), can thrive in mainstream 
education if their needs are identified early.
Instead, too many autistic CYP are being left
without an assessment, and without early help, 
partly because the system places so much emphasis 
on assessment before support is provided. Too 
many CYP are not receiving the help needed in 
school without first receiving a medical diagnosis. 

Yet autistic CYP are at significantly greater risk of 
both social and school exclusion, and the group 
at greatest risk are those with a referral who are 
awaiting assessment. As waiting times increase, 
so will the risk of increased exclusion and poorer 
educational outcomes for these children. Some 
will end up in Alternative Provision (AP) – with 
its associated higher costs and generally lower 
academic outcomes – because they haven’t 
received support earlier in their school life. This is 
particularly frustrating given the evidence shows 

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, 
there has been a 306% increase 
in the number of children waiting 
for an autism assessment. 

Foreword

Anne Longfield CBE, 
Executive Chair of
the Centre for Young Lives

Dr Camilla Kingdon,
President of the Royal College 
of Paediatrics and Child Health

that when support is in place following a diagnosis, 
autistic CYP are less likely to be excluded.

We must move towards a needs-led approach, 
rather than just relying on a diagnosis-led 
system. Early identification and support, rather 
than waiting for a diagnosis, will lead to better 
long-term outcomes and reduce costs. As this 
report argues, improved information-sharing 
between the health and education systems 
and a more coordinated approach to support, 
including early help in nurseries and schools 
before formal diagnosis, is essential. 

Education settings can play such a major role in 
identifying and supporting autistic CYP, flagging 
CYP with a high likelihood of undiagnosed 
autism, and providing an environment for autism 
assessment. Health services can help schools 
prioritise children with increased likelihood 
of needing additional support. Government 
should be helping health and education 
systems to share information by using the 
NHS number as a single unique numerical 
identifier across public service records. 

As this report highlights with existing examples of 
good practice, the development of genuine formal 
partnerships at local authority level between health 
and school services and nurseries, and voluntary 
services, faith groups, universities, and businesses, 
is key to tackling the autism assessment crisis and 
creating autism-friendly environments. Government 
has a vital role to play in ensuring this coordination 
happens, although expecting Whitehall to solve 
this crisis will not be enough on its own. 

Bradford has shown how creating its own database 
of primary and secondary healthcare records 
across the District that links with education, social 
care, and policing data produces a powerful 
research tool that reveals the social issues facing 
different services. So, we now know that 77% 
of CYP diagnosed with autism in Bradford are 
male, and that large numbers of girls in Bradford 
are not being identified (a nationwide problem, 
as this report also makes clear). This analysis 
also confirms there are significant and troubling 
ethnic inequalities in autism diagnosis.  

The report makes a powerful case for how 
education data can identify autistic CYP “falling 
under the radar”, how autism assessments can be 
conducted successfully in schools, and how better 
training of education and health professionals 
can improve the needs of autistic CYP. It also 
stresses the importance of national and local 
political leadership to drive coordinated, whole 
system public service delivery at a local level. 

Too many autistic CYP are being held back because 
our institutions are failing to provide an autism-
friendly environment, and the system to provide the 
support they need isn’t working. One parent told our 
focus group that Children’s Mental Health Services 
admitted to her that they were in crisis and letting 
her child down, urging her in desperation to write 
to her MP. This is no way to run a support system 
for some of our most vulnerable CYP. Without 
urgent reform, we cannot hope to improve the 
life chances of the next generation. As this report 
shows, change is possible – and it is happening 
in some schools and local areas already. What is 
needed now is the determination from government 
and others to make it happen everywhere.

P
age 126



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisReport details

About Child of the North 

Child of the North is a partnership between 
the N8 Research Partnership and Health 
Equity North which aims to build a fairer 
future for children across the North 
of England by building a platform for 
collaboration, high quality research, and 
policy engagement. @ChildoftheNort1 

About the N8 Research Partnership

The N8 Research Partnership is a collaboration 
of the eight most research-intensive 
Universities in the North of England: Durham, 
Lancaster, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, 
Newcastle, Sheffield, and York. Working with 
partner universities, industry, and society 
(N8+), the N8 aims to maximise the impact of 
this research base by promoting collaboration, 
establishing innovative research capabilities 
and programmes of national and international 
prominence, and driving economic growth. 
www.n8research.org.uk @N8research

About Health Equity North

Health Equity North is a virtual institute 
focused on place-based solutions to public 
health problems and health inequalities 
across the North of England. It brings 
together world-leading academic expertise, 
from the Northern Health Science Alliance’s 
members of leading universities and 
hospitals, to fight health inequalities through 
research excellence and collaboration. 
www.healthequitynorth.co.uk @_HENorth

This report is a collaborative programme of 
work between Child of the North and the 
Centre for Young Lives.

Cite as: N8 Research Partnership (2024). A 
country that works for all children and young 
people: An evidence-based plan for addressing 
the autism assessment and support crisis.
doi.org/10.48785/100/195

A full list of authors and contributors can 
be found at the end of the report.

A note about language

“Autistic person” vs “person with autism”
Following extensive PPIE work, autism-first 
language is used throughout this document, 
i.e., “autistic person” rather than “person with 
autism”, as this moves us toward understanding 
autism as an integral part of an individual’s 
identity rather than an additional “condition”. 
While further research is needed to understand 
how we should talk about autism in a way 
that reflects the preferences of all autistic 
people (e.g., speaking and non-speaking, with 
and without intellectual disability), current 
guidance from autistic advocates suggests a 
preference for autism-first language [1, 2].  

Please note that this report often uses “schools” 
as shorthand for “schools, nurseries, and other 
educational settings such as pupil referral units 
and special schools”. One central message of this 
report is the need for a “whole system” approach 
that includes all relevant stakeholders, and this 
includes all parts of the education system. We 
highlight that special schools have limited spaces, 
meaning CYP who require the support of special 
schools are in mainstream education, where 
the current special educational needs support 
available cannot meet the growing demand.

About the Centre for Young Lives

The Centre for Young Lives is a new, 
dynamic and highly experienced innovation 
organisation dedicated to improving the lives 
of children, young people, and families in the 
UK – particularly the most vulnerable. Led 
by former Children’s Commissioner, Anne 
Longfield CBE, who has been at the forefront 
of children’s issues for decades, the Centre’s 
agile team is highly skilled, experienced, and 
regarded. It is already widely known and well 
respected across government departments, 
Parliament, local and regional government, 
academia, the voluntary sector, and national 
and local media. The Centre wants to see 
children and young people’s futures placed 
at the heart of policy making, a high priority 
for Government and at the core of the drive 
for a future for our country which can be 
much stronger and more prosperous.
www.centreforyounglives.org.uk

Quotations

The illustrative quotations throughout 
the report were taken from extensive 
qualitative work with children, families 
and professionals in the North of England 
conducted by Danielle Smith [3], Emily 
Chapman [4], and Leanne Rogan [5] as part 
of their Doctorate in Clinical Psychology.

Acknowledgements  

We would like to thank colleagues from the Bradford 
Priority Education Investment Area and Educational 
Alliance for Life Chances (and associated DfE 
colleagues) for their amazing work on addressing 
inequity and for their support with getting this 
report off the ground: Elizabeth Anoliefo; Lauren 
Batty; Ruby Bhatti; Anne-Marie Canning; Eve 
Chambers; Verity Cook; Carol Dewhurst; Craig 
Dillon; Kersten England; Ellen Flint; Jimmy Hinton; 
Nick Ireland; Duncan Jacques; Alexandra Jessup; 
Maryam Kapree; John Leese; Kathryn Loftus; Sue 
Lowndes; Andrew Morley; Naveed Mushtaque; 
Richard Padwell; Katie Pritchard; Charlotte 
Ramsden; Will Richardson; Alex Spragg; Lisa Stead; 
Laura Thompson; Linda Wright. We would like to 
thank everyone who participated in the research 
that is described in this report and would like to 
particularly highlight the wonderful contributions 
made by the participants from the Born in Bradford 
programme, led by Professors Rosie McEachan and 
John Wright. This work would also not be possible 
without generous funding from our UK and EU 
research funding bodies who are an essential part 
of the system that needs to work together in the 
best interests of CYP. The report benefitted from a 
knowledge exchange session kindly hosted by the 
Department for Education’s Science Team in general 
and Julia Erdlemann, Marium Orme, and Tony Carter 
in particular. The knowledge exchange session 
meant we benefitted immeasurably from the wisdom 
and insights of NHSE, DHSC and DfE colleagues – 
and special mention of Lorcan Kenny must be made 
in this regard. Finally, we would like to make special 
mention of Katie Pritchard and her colleagues from 
Liz Franey’s Department for Education Opportunity 
Area team – Lee Turner, Theo Brady, Naz Khan, and 
many others - who supported much of the research 
reported in this report (providing a tantalising 
glimpse of how the whole system can work together 
in the best interests of children and young people). 

©University of Leeds DOI: http://doi.org/10.5518/100/165.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons (CC-BY 4.0)

Schools, nurseries, and 
educational settings

Page | 5

P
age 127

https://twitter.com/ChildoftheNort1
https://www.n8research.org.uk/
https://twitter.com/N8research
http://www.healthequitynorth.co.uk
https://twitter.com/_HENorth
http://doi.org/10.48785/100/195
https://www.centreforyounglives.org.uk/


Page | 6

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisKey insights

Key insights

Prevalance and wait times
The number of children accessing autism services is at a record high.

As of September 2023...

School
Autistic children face additional barriers
in the school environment.

Ethnicity
Structural inequalities in autism pathways hinder 
the chances of children from ethnic minority 
backgrounds accessing timely support.

Gender
Autism can present differently in 
girls, meaning many children’s 
needs can go unnoticed.

Boys are referred for a diagnostic 
assessment.

Physical & mental health
Autism is associated with poor mental and physical health.

Children of white heritage are 50% more likely to 
receive an autism diagnosis compared to children of 
Asian heritages

306%
Increase in the amount 
of children waiting for 
an autism assessment 
since the COVID-19 
pandemic

Increase in 
new autism 

referrals in the 
last year

Of children did 
not receive an 
appointment 

within 13 weeks 
of being referred

The number of children 
still yet to receive an 
appointment after 13 

weeks has increased by...

GIRLS OF ASIAN HERITAGE HAVE:

Increase in 
closed autism 
referrals in the 

last year
36%

3X

21%

2X

93%

Since
COVID-19

Decreased odds 
of receiving an 
autism diagnosis 
compared to males

Of autistic girls are estimated 
as being unidentified

Of the girls who are identified 
and assessed, a further 20% 
are missed 4 IN 5

Autistic children are 2X 
as likely to be excluded 
from school compared 
to non-SEND children

3 in 4 parents said their 
autistic child’s school did 
not fully meet their needs

Of autistic 
children feel 
happy at 
school

More 
frequently
than girls

Decreased odds 
of receiving an 
autism diagnosis 
compared to children 
of white heritage

In the last 12 
months

46% 27%

50%

75%

2X

10X
10

8

6

4

2

0

Referral

ONLY
26%

Young autistic 
people have co-
occurring mental 
health conditions

Autistic people have a 
shorter life expectancy 

by up to...

YEARS
30

P
age 128



Defining autism  
and associated 
developmental 
differences

Autism is not an illness or disease 
– it is a term  used to describe 
people with a specified collection 
of behavioural characteristics. 
The World Health Organization 
categorises autism as a 
“neurodevelopmental disorder” 
within its International Classification 
of Diseases (ICD-11) [6]. ICD-11 is the 
framework used within UK healthcare 
to diagnose autism. In the USA, the 
American Psychological Association’s 
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 
of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) is 
used instead, but there are only 
minor differences between ICD-11 
and DSM-5, with some UK services 
using DSM-5 criteria in practice.

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 7

P
age 129



Page | 8

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisDefining autism and associated developmental differences

Healthcare professionals diagnose autism using 
tools that standardise observations of how someone 
behaves in a particular situation. These behaviours 
relate to difficulties with communication or social 
interactions; repetitive or restrictive behaviours; 
sensory differences (e.g., sound, vision, touch, 
taste, smell, temperature); and highly focused 
interests. It is important to emphasise that the 
observed behaviours lie on a continuum, with 
large proportions of the population exhibiting 
such characteristics. The diagnosis is therefore 
based on a clinical threshold where the behaviours 
are deemed to be occurring to an extent that 
warrants specialist healthcare support.

National Health Service England (NHSE) outline 
four major advantages to this approach: (i) it 
enables clinicians to recommend interventions 
that have been tested for safety, acceptability, 
efficacy, and effectiveness with people who face 
similar challenges within society; (ii) it ensures 
reasonable adjustments are made in general 
physical or mental health services (given the 
association between autism and the increased 
risk of poor general health); (iii) it helps develop 
a positive autistic self-identity and foster 
connections with the autistic community; (iv) 
it facilitates access to some forms of statutory 
protection beyond the healthcare context [7].
There are three critical points to make in the 
context of the above. First, children are constantly 
developing, and upstream experiences will shape 
their behaviours at an older age. This means that 
a child provided with adequate support at an 
early age may not subsequently need specialist 
healthcare intervention. Second, many children 
will not reach the clinical threshold, but will still 
need support. Third, the need for specialist 
healthcare does not imply that the responsibility 
for support falls on healthcare alone. The goal 
must be for appropriate support to be provided 
within homes and educational settings.

There is a danger that children who have autistic 
traits but do not reach clinical diagnostic thresholds 
fall into the gaps between health and education [8]. 
The World Health Organization’s (1980) International 
Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health 
(ICF) provides a useful framework for considering 
an individual’s functional abilities within the context 
of their nursery or school environment. The ICF 
defines disability as the inability to participate 
and engage in activities of daily living (which for 
children includes educational activities). The ICF 
emphasises that neurodevelopmental differences 
(albeit unhelpfully described as “impairments”) 
can cause disability if the environment (or 
activities) are not modified to accommodate these 
differences. This serves as a useful reminder 
that a child’s “disability” can be removed or 
decreased by adjusting activities and the classroom 
environment, regardless of a formal diagnosis.

There is a need for a shared understanding 
of the intersections between the ICD-11 and 
the ICF and how they can be better used to 
identify the specific role of health (ICD-11) and 
schools (ICF) in supporting autistic CYP.

The terminology for autism 
has evolved. Currently, some 
of the language adopted in 
international and national 
legislation is unhelpful and 
does not reflect the language 
preferred by those with lived 
experience [9]. Nevertheless, 
it is necessary to recognise 
the existing legislative 
terminology when discussing 
system reform to avoid 
confusion (noting that this 
does not preclude a change in 
terminology in the longer term).

P
age 130



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Autism policy 
recommendations 

The evidence is clear: human society 
can meet complex challenges 
through a concerted, collaborative 
effort to address a well-specified 
problem (from splitting the atom 
to the COVID-19 vaccine) [10]. To 
facilitate the UK in its mission to 
improve autism health service 
support in a systematic and scientific 
manner, we make three evidence-
based recommendations.  

Page | 9

P
age 131



Page | 10

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisAutism policy recommendations 

Build effective partnerships between 
education and health professionals for 
assessing and supporting autistic children. 
This should include delivering assessments 
in education settings and making a holistic 
offer of support in schools and nurseries 
before and after a formal diagnosis is made. 

The evidence is clear – educational settings can 
play a major role in identifying and supporting 
autistic CYP. Education data, specifically data 
routinely collected through the Early Year 
Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP), can flag 
children with a high likelihood of undiagnosed 
autism, often at an earlier age than is possible 
via health routes [11]. Autism assessments can 
be conducted efficiently in education settings 
[3, 12]. Meanwhile, health information can help 
schools and other educational settings prioritise 
children with increased likelihood of needing 
additional support. The exchange of information 
and genuine partnerships between health and 
education services can offer a more effective 
and efficient approach to assessment than the 
current model. Adopting this approach could 
begin to reverse the autism assessment crisis 
and reduce the structural inequities revealed 
by the research. A coordinated approach 
could allow children’s needs to be supported 
before a formal diagnosis has been made.

Provide and extend access to mandatory 
Continuing Professional Development (CPD) 
courses for health, education, and social care 
professionals that improve understanding 
and awareness of autism (and related issues). 
These courses should include information 
on how to create “neurodiverse friendly” 
environments, and particularly raise awareness 
of autism in girls and ethnic minority groups. 
Additional training should be co-produced by 
individuals with lived experience, delivered to 
professionals, and integrated into undergraduate 
health and education professional training, to 
improve the identification of autistic girls.

The evidence is clear – structural inequity can 
be seen in autism assessment so girls, ethnic 
minorities, and lower socioeconomic groups receive 
support later than their peers (see “Inequity must 
be addressed in autism pathways” section) [13]. 
The evidence suggests that improving awareness 
across professionals could address some of these 
issues and accelerate the creation of autistic led 
and coproduced health and education provision 
[3, 14]. Inclusive spaces are characterised by 
flexibility, whereby reasonable adjustments are 
made with the potential to benefit everyone 
[15]. Schools and colleges should measure 
success in this area by reporting on attainment, 
attendance, elective home education rates, 
exclusion, and suspension for autistic CYP.

Create formal partnerships at a local authority 
level comprising sector leaders (including schools, 
health, voluntary services, faith, universities, 
educational psychologists, and businesses) to 
oversee a prioritised governmental ward-level 
approach to addressing the autism crisis. The 
partnership should focus on its most disadvantaged 
wards and provide leadership in trialling data-
driven, community and family co-produced, 
“whole system” approaches to improve autism 
support with and through education settings.  

The evidence is clear – the complex needs of 
autistic CYP and their families need public services, 
businesses, and the voluntary sector to collaborate 
and create “autism-friendly” places [16]. The 
creation of autism-friendly places, such as sensory 
rooms, must be tailored to the cultural backdrop 
of an area. The evidence suggests this is best 
achieved at the ward-level and this, in turn, allows 
a strategic approach to addressing inequity [17]. 
The “Integrated Care Systems” (42 systems across 
England responsible for delivering health and social 
care services) provide an outstanding opportunity 
to implement such approaches supported by the 
Core20PLUS5 NHS inequality initiative [18].
  

1 2 3

“You’re blocked from 
accessing services until 
you get that [diagnosis]… 
parents are forced 
down this route.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

These recommendations have resource implications but offer immense potential for decreasing the long-term costs 
associated with not acting early (i.e., the health, social care and criminal justice bill that results from not supporting children’s 
needs); they will help the UK benefit from the economic growth available if the autistic population’s talents were deployed 
within the workforce.

P
age 132



Principles

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

The evidence on current autism 
support across the UK paints a 
compelling and worrying picture: 
there is an urgent need for the UK 
to transform its support systems 
for autistic CYP and their families. 
We cannot keep doing more of the 
same (e.g., throw some additional 
resource at conducting a few more 
assessments in hospitals to reduce 
autism waiting list times – a costly 
approach tried many times, in many 
places, with no lasting impact). 
We need a radical overhaul of our 
approach to supporting autistic CYP 
and – most critically – to trial new 
approaches that better connect 
health and education.

Page | 11

P
age 133



Page | 12

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

“It just makes me so angry that we’re all going 
through the same thing. It’s like we’re rewriting 
it over and over again, aren’t we, for each child 
and the amount of time that it’s taken.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

“It’s not just CAMHS. I’m talking health visitors, 
probably midwives, school nurses, social workers, 
across the board… we’re assigned these workers 
who do not understand what our children need 
and what we need.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

Principles

Putting our children first – The future of a country 
depends on a healthy workforce, equipped with the 
skills needed by the economy and society. Childhood 
determines long-term health and is the critically 
important period for developing the core skills needed 
to function within society [3]. Logic thus dictates that 
the UK must prioritise children if we want to enjoy a 
healthy future. A more proactive and timely approach to 
meeting the needs of autistic CYP will ensure that they 
are able to reach their potential, and reduce the longer-
term demand for health, social care, and other services. 

Addressing inequity – This will reduce the financial 
burden of poor population health on public services. 
Concurrently, economic stagnation must be reversed to 
generate wealth and ensure the UK makes the best use 
of all its assets (i.e., the brilliant young minds located 
across all our communities). The UK’s structural inequity 
is laid bare within the autism assessment pathways 
and a failure to support this population will starve the 
UK of talented individuals within the future workforce. 

Adopting place-based approaches – Geography, 
culture, economic activity, and other factors vary 
between localities, changing the way that support 
needs manifest, and the way communities prefer to 
engage with services. New approaches to reaching 
and helping families must be planned and aligned 
to the needs and preferences of the locality and its 
communities. There are many cultural factors that 
impact autism assessment, including stigma and 
reduced autism awareness, and these local contexts 
must be addressed for efficient service delivery. 

Working together effectively across our public 
services – The needs of children and families cannot be 
neatly divided into silos such as “health”, “education”, 
“social care”, “criminal justice” etc. We must recognise 
that our current organisational arrangements are 
not fit for purpose and find new ways of delivering 
connected public services so that the necessary 
holistic (“whole system”) solutions to complex 
problems can be implemented. We recommend in 
this report how such connected service delivery can 
be operationalised from the perspective of autism. 

Putting education at the heart of public service delivery 
– Schools and other educational settings need to be at 
the epicentre of support. For example, typical “outside 
support” from specialist services (e.g., child and adolescent 
mental health services (CAMHS)) needs to be delivered 
within the school gates. In doing so, we start to remove the 
additional barriers encountered by the most disadvantaged 
children, reduce the burden placed on families, and 
destigmatise autism support. A genuine attempt to improve 
autism healthcare delivery will involve closer working 
between health services and education settings.

Establishing Universities as the “Research and 
Development” departments for local public services – 
Universities can bring together insights from across multiple 
disciplines, ensure decisions are based on the best possible 
evidence, oversee evaluation of service delivery and train 
future health, social care, and education professionals. 
There is a wide scientific literature that captures international 
approaches to improved autism care and universities must 
draw on existing evidence, as well as researching specific 
inequalities, to support public service colleagues [21].

Using and sharing information across public service 
providers effectively – Data are currently collected within 
organisational silos, which fails to reflect the reality of how 
families interact with services. Only by connecting our public 
service data (i.e., education, healthcare, social care etc.), 
can we: (i) begin to understand how services intersect and 
interact within families; (ii) allow the essential information 
sharing that will safeguard children. The information held 
within education systems can help clinicians (and services 
such as social care) to make more accurate decisions, 
faster. Information held within health systems could help 
schools and other educational settings identify children 
with a greater likelihood of having autism and thereby 
decrease the time for children to enter the autism pathway.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Overview Our seven principles

The recommendations within this report relate to the population 
of autistic CYP who have needs that require specialist medical 
support. A future report will address the wider population who 
require additional special education support but do not meet 
the clinical threshold for specialist healthcare intervention.

The evidence shows that the problems affecting autism healthcare 
pathways are complex – where complexity is defined as an inability 
to address the problem through action in a single component 
part of the system [19]. It follows that successful solutions will 
transcend the NHS and involve multiple stakeholders working 
in partnership with affected CYP and their families. Central and 
local government have a necessary role to play in connecting, 
coordinating, supporting, and challenging systems, but government 
action alone is insufficient. The time has come for everyone to cross 
organisational and geographical boundaries and commit to working 
together in the best interests of autistic CYP and their families.

Our recommendations are based on seven principles and the 
evidence that underpins the recommendations is laid out within 
this report. The recommendations are pragmatic in nature and 
recognise that the UK will be in a perilous financial state in 
2024, meaning that solutions must make best use of existing 
capacity and not simply involve cash injections (which we would 
argue are anyway insufficient). What is needed is a change in 
mindset, rather than changes to funding allocations per se.
We note that the autism assessment and support crisis 
worsens each year despite decades of attempts to 
reverse the problems [20]. Thus, we argue that there is 
a need for the next UK government to act at pace. 

These recommendations do not pretend there is a magic wand. 
Rather, they avoid the trap where the impossibility of perfection is 
a barrier to improvement (so nothing changes). They do provide a 
platform that would allow the UK to harness the scientific method to 
learn what works best for which community – noting that science is 
society’s most powerful tool for improving health and wellbeing.

P
age 134



The evidence

A failure to provide appropriate 
autism support results in poor 
long-term outcomes in social and 
individual functioning, high rates 
of associated health problems, 
and an increased prevalence of 
connected conditions (such as 
sleep difficulties and mental ill 
health) [22]. The recommendations 
within this report  are based 
upon consideration of the 
following evidence and our seven 
principles previously outlined.

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 13

P
age 135



Page | 14

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisThe evidence

£1.5M
The UK government must prioritise 
support for autistic CYP

to support an 
autistic person over 
their lifetime [12] 

The evidence is clear: CYP with autism and common, 
co-occurring conditions such as ADHD, and/or 
anxiety, can thrive in mainstream education if their 
needs are adequately supported in a timely manner. 

It is estimated that it currently costs £1.5 million to 
support an autistic person over their lifetime due 
to the complexity of their needs and the greater 
need for specialised help [16]. Autism and other 
commonly co-occurring neurodevelopmental 
disorders increase the risks of physical health 

morbidity and multimorbidity in later life [23]. 
Early identification and support can mitigate 
the negative effects on an individual’s 
physical health and the associated costs.

The evidence is equally clear that CYP often do 
not receive the support they need for many years, 
exacerbating their needs and causing stress and 
frustration to the family (often creating associated 
mental health problems which generates 
yet further pressure on our systems) [24]. 

“Professionals are becoming resentful 
of parents because they think we’re 
obsessed by getting a diagnosis and 
it’s not that at all, it’s that we can’t get 
[support] without it… so it’s just this silly 
catch-22.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

A major barrier in our existing systems is the 
perceived need for a medical diagnosis of autism 
before any child can receive support. In many 
cases, there is no legal need for a diagnosis but 
the perception among schools and the wider 
community that this is a requirement prevents 
children from accessing support [25]. This relates 
to another problem within our current system 
around the “medicalisation” of developmental 
difference. This often means that a child needs 
(or is perceived to need) a medical diagnosis to 
access support, but the health system simply 
cannot meet the demand for all such assessments 
[5]. In turn, this can prevent timely access to the 
essential help a child needs in school. Autistic 
CYP who have newly immigrated to the UK also 
need a formal diagnosis in the UK before they 
can access service support, despite having a 
diagnosis in their home country; a simpler process 
is desperately needed. From an educational 
perspective, this lack of equitable provision can 
result in children “failing while waiting” because 
of system failures. As a society, we cannot afford 
the costs associated with young people leaving 
school without core skills (e.g., literacy which 
relates closely to health literacy and, in turn, 
long term health prospects in adulthood). 

Some children who show developmental 
differences require specialist healthcare 
assessment and support – and, indeed, have a 
statutory right to access such healthcare. One 
major difficulty in debates around improved 
autism support is a tension between groups 
who understandably wish to avoid the perils of 
“medicalisation” and groups who wish to ensure 
that children obtain the healthcare support 
they need. While these groups may differ in 
their views on autism identity, all these groups 
are notably motivated by a common desire to 
support children, and debates are often the 
result of miscommunication on both sides. Thus, 
there is a need for precision in language, and 
rigorous frameworks that provide a structure 
for considering the pathways of developmental 
difference. Page 9 details two World Health 
Organization frameworks that provide a useful 
structure for approaching debates around support 
for autism and related developmental differences.

The evidence suggests we need to further 
promote, refine, and define a “needs-led” approach 
instead of relying on a “diagnosis-led” system 
[3]. Early identification is the norm in a “needs-
led” approach and faster, effective support can 
be offered, without relying on a diagnosis. The 
sooner individual needs are identified, the sooner 
they can be supported, leading to better long-
term outcomes (and reducing the long-term costs 
on public services). Future reports will highlight 
evidence-based suggestions for creating “needs-
led” approaches across a range of issues.

“Giving support 
regardless, even if 
they don’t have a 
diagnosis of autism.”
- Autistic young person

“Unless [you’ve] got 
a physical diagnosis, 
schools won’t support, 
which I completely 
disagree with, because if 
you’re on the waiting list 
or you’re trying to get that 
diagnosis, you’re going 
years without support.”
- Autistic young person

P
age 136



Autism assessment and support crisis Child of the North

The UK is struggling with problems associated 
with inequity. Inequity can be illustrated vividly 
through a comparison between the North and 
South of England. Children in the North of 
England are more likely to live in poverty than 
their Southern peers – and increasingly so [26]. 
Poverty leads to worse physical and mental 
health outcomes, lower educational attainment, 
and lower lifelong economic productivity [26]. 
Poverty also maps onto healthcare inequity (i.e., 
access to the appropriate health systems) and this 
can be seen clearly via the prism of autism [3].

The evidence shows that children born to mothers 
without educational qualifications will receive 
an autism diagnosis two years later than their 
peers and are two times less likely to receive the 
diagnosis compared to children born to mothers 
with A-level qualifications or above [27, 27].

The issues around timely identification and support 
are exacerbated for girls, who are more likely to 
be misdiagnosed and diagnosed later than boys, 
or not at all [5]. These differences are likely to 
be due to diagnostic criteria, assessment tools, 
professional training, and general awareness of 
autism being based on male presentation and 
the ability of girls to mask their autistic traits.
 
Bradford has created a first-of-its-kind connected 
database that contains the primary- and secondary-
care health records of citizens across the Bradford 
district that are linked with education records, 
social care, policing data, etc. [28]. The database 
is an incredibly powerful research tool that allows 
scientists, working with policymakers, to undertake 
holistic data science that can shine a light onto 
critical social issues that span disparate services. 

Evidence from the Connected Bradford database 
showed that 77% of CYP diagnosed with autism 
were male, indicating large numbers of autistic girls 
in the district who had not been identified (given 
national norms) [5]. These quantitative insights were 

explored further through interviews with people 
who have lived experiences of the autism pathways.

Parents reported waiting over four years for an 
autism assessment for their daughters, which is in 
stark contrast to the recommended three months 
[29]. Although males also face long wait times, 
figures suggest that males were on average more 
likely to be diagnosed younger than females 
[3]. Therefore, many girls are being failed by not 
receiving a timely assessment and related support. 
This research demonstrates the power of connected 
datasets coupled with qualitative investigation 
in identifying and understanding problems.

The Bradford district provides a devastating 
illustration of the continuously increasing wait times 
for autism assessments. Bradford autism services 
have the capacity to conduct 90 assessments a 
month but receive over 200 referrals every month 
on average. In the 2022/23 academic year, there 
were 926 dual assessment referrals for autism 
and ADHD, which has increased by 575% since 
2019/20. In June 2023, 2579 CYP were waiting to 
be seen by autism services (1285 waiting for an 
autism assessment and another 1294 waiting for 
an autism and ADHD assessment), with waiting 
times up to 110 weeks (over 2 years). After waiting 
for an assessment, most of these children will 
receive a diagnosis of autism (in Bradford the 
“conversion rate” is 86%). This highlights the 
importance of needs-led approaches, to prevent 
CYP going for years without the support they need.

Figure 1: Percentage of individuals diagnosed with autism or ADHD by sex and ethnicity. Note that analyses use 
demographic data from the Department for Education school census. The category of ethnicity is therefore Asian, in 

alignment with census categories, but the sample is predominantly South Asian – and primarily Pakistani – in heritage.

“Girls have been diagnosed 
later because of failings 
in people’s training and 
responsibility.”

- Autistic young person

Moreover, these systems show structural 
inequalities as can be seen clearly in Figure 1, 
showing the percentage of CYP diagnosed in a 
particular demographic for autism or ADHD from 
newly analysed Connected Bradford data. For 
example, around 0.7% of Asian females were 
diagnosed with autism, around 1% of “Other” 
females, and around 2% of White females. White 
individuals are far more likely to have a diagnosis 
across the board for both autism (2.63x) and ADHD 

(5.32x) when compared to Asian individuals. 
Furthermore, males are, on average, far more 
likely to have a diagnosis than females (Autism: 
2.70x, ADHD: 3.32x). While this research included 
males and females, it is worth noting that people 
of non-binary genders often face additional 
barriers to accessing autism pathways [30]. 
Autism pathways are reported as being the most 
difficult chronic health condition for transgender 
and non-binary people to navigate [31].

Inequity must be addressed in autism pathways

The evidence

Page | 15

P
age 137



Page | 16

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Continued...

Qualitative work also highlighted several issues 
raised by autistic females [5]. Females consistently 
reported “masking” (a coping mechanism in which 
individuals minimise autistic characteristics to fit 
into the social environment) as a deliberate decision 
that became an unconscious activity with time and 
practice, although some girls may never be aware 
of their masking behaviours [5, 32]. CYP described 
the fear of negative social evaluation if they did not 
mask and said that disguising their social interaction 
difficulties resulted in internalised mental ill health 
symptoms (such as anxiety and depression) [33]. 

The ability to “mask” their difficulties hindered 
the recognition and support of the autistic girls, 

with education professionals dismissing parents’ 
concerns if behaviours were not observed within 
the school environment. Furthermore, participants 
felt that schools did not recognise or support their 
needs until academic attainment was directly 
impacted by their difficulties [34]. 

The evidence suggests that improving awareness 
and education about sociodemographic differences 
in autism presentation could accelerate the process 
of identification and support [3]. However, the 
evidence also suggests that this would require 
a multifaceted approach, with a concerted effort 
across education and health services, with families 
involved in the planning process [17]. 

“I was holding up to 
the standards they 
had… it was never a 
concern to them to 
look into maybe the 
weird things that I 
did do, because the 
only thing they were 
looking at was if I 
could get the grades.”
- Autistic young person

“The person I was at 
school and the person I 
was automatically at home 
were two completely 
different people.”
- Autistic young person

The evidence

P
age 138



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Evidence from across the UK shows that CYP 
from ethnic minority backgrounds experience 
lower rates of identification of autism and often 
experience more severe difficulties [35]. There 
is compelling evidence of underdiagnosis 
among bilingual CYP and ethnic minority CYP in 
comparison to White British CYP (see Figure 1) [36]. 

Clinician bias, discrepancies in diagnostic 
measures, reduced awareness, masking, cultural 
beliefs, biological reasons, and access to services 
across ethnic groups all contribute to ethnic 
inequalities [35]. The geographical concentration 
of ethnic groups can help explain why a place-
based approach is so important when addressing 
structural inequity in autism assessment.

These issues are further compounded by 
intersecting factors such as gender and 
socioeconomic disadvantage [3]. The current 
fragmented system and lack of data linkage 
between health and education sectors also 
contribute to challenges in accessing timely support. 

Analysis of the Connected Bradford dataset 
confirmed previous reports of ethnic inequalities 
in autism diagnosis and revealed similar patterns 
across the Bradford District [3]. These quantitative 
insights were explored further through interviewing 
people with lived experiences of the autism 
pathways. The evidence showed that stigma, lack 
of understanding, and cultural beliefs about autism 
were major barriers in acquiring a diagnosis and 
receiving support, with parents facing blame, 
privacy concerns, and a lack of awareness. Parents 
with autistic CYP report not raising concerns 
about their child’s unmet needs to schools out 
of fear that their parenting would be judged 
[37]. Language barriers also posed challenges, 
especially for those less proficient in English [3].

The evidence from Bradford has emphasised 
the need for culturally competent practice; 
information on autism should be made available 
in community languages, and for interventions 
to be culturally sensitive. Evidence suggests 
that the most promising interventions for autistic 
children up to eight years old are naturalistic 
developmental behavioural interventions, these 
take place in natural settings and involve the child 
and professional taking equal roles when using 
behavioural strategies to learn skills [38, 39].

Many of those interviewed suggested that raising 
awareness of autism and the support that is 
available in South Asian (and other ethnic minority) 
communities was key, as well as ensuring any 
intervention or support is culturally sensitive [3]. In 
addition, it is vital that the pathways to receiving 
support are made much easier to navigate. As well 
as pathways differing across regions, services are 
continuously changing criteria to access support, 
adding to the complexities of navigating the 
pathway. By connecting services (i.e., schools, 
healthcare, and specialist services) and working as 
one, children and families can be better supported 
and, ultimately, autistic CYP will be able to thrive.

“Kids that are higher functioning from a South Asian 
background are then even more disadvantaged.”
- Focus group participant

“If you’re raising 
concerns about your 
child, it’s gonna be easier 
to speak to someone 
in your own language 
to do that, isn’t it?”
- Parent of an autistic young person

Place-based approaches must be adopted
when addressing the autism crisis

The evidence

Page | 17

P
age 139



Page | 18

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

There is under-investment in autism research in the 
UK compared to the US and Australia. In addition, 
autism research efforts do not always reflect the 
views and priorities of the autistic community or 
involve the community in shaping the research 
agenda, its implementation, and the dissemination 
of its findings [41, 42]. We need more inclusive 
research involving partnership and collaboration 
with community members; citizen science where 
researchers partner with community-led projects 
(e.g., looking at what can be developed and 
changed in schools to mitigate the challenges 
autistic students may experience, such as anxiety 
around transitions, or problems with social 
interaction [43]).

Participatory approaches can contribute to 
practical knowledge by valuing the perspectives 
of the autistic community on the strengths, skills, 
needs, and support priorities of autistic CYP, to 
optimise learning and wellbeing [44]. Participatory 
approaches challenge the “traditional, unidirectional 
research pipeline from basic science to intervention 
development” which is evident in much of the autism 
research, or the use of measures and interventions 
that do not always make sense to autistic people, or 
are inconsistent with their views and experiences 
[45, 46].

“I think the training 
would be really 
helpful if it was 
put together [by] 
people with lived 
experience.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

Collaboration between community and academic 
partners can build capacity for effective services 
and improving clinical outcomes [45]. These 
collaborations can build local capacity and 
contribute to the development of culturally and 
contextually appropriate interventions that address 
locally perceived needs [47].

University education departments can also play 
an important role in supporting schools to become 
more autism-friendly. Australia is far ahead of the 
UK in this respect with the world’s first national, 
cooperative research effort focused on autism under 
the Australian Government’s Cooperative Research 
Centres (CRC) [48].

Autism CRC provides independent, national capacity 
to develop and deliver evidence-based outcomes 
through a unique collaboration with the autistic 
community, research organisations, education and 
health professionals, industry, and government. 
A similar collaborative partnership between 
universities, schools, other educational settings, 
and health professionals would be greatly beneficial 
within the UK.

Universities must become the “Research and 
Development” departments for local public services

Through community engagement, universities (in partnership with hyperlocal charities, schools and 
other institutions) can play a key role in ensuring that research is relevant and useful. The Lancet 
Commission brought together leading clinicians and other healthcare professionals, researchers, 
and autism community representatives (autistic people, their parents, carers, teachers, and allied 
professionals) from six continents to identify strategies to improve the future of care and clinical 
research in autism [40]. The Commission called for coordination and collaboration between 
healthcare, education, finance, and social sectors across the lifespan, and the active inclusion and 
participation of autistic people and their families in the decisions made about them. This responds 
to an increasing demand from autistic people for opportunities to be involved in the research- and 
practice-based decisions that impact on their lives, as exemplified by “nothing about us without us”.

The evidence

P
age 140



Autism assessment and support crisis Child of the North

Supporting schools, parents, and carers
and professional development for teachers

Relaxing school 
uniform policies – 
this supports pupils 
with sensory issues 
who cannot tolerate 
wearing the uniform. 

Removing the 
sounding of a bell 
between classes, 
which generates a 
calmer atmosphere 
for all.

On page 35, autistic 
young people share 
their 12 top tips 
for supporting the 
autistic community.

Providing absolute 
clarity of expectations 
for all students 
and staff, regularly 
communicated.

Delivering low 
arousal teaching, 
with short, clear 
instructions 
delivered in a calm 
and even tone. 
Multiple methods 
of communication 
should be used by 
staff, including both 
written and verbal 
communication. 

Maintaining a 
consistently 
structured school 
day, and structured 
and calm transitions 
and lunch times.

Creating a visually 
accessible 
environment by 
reducing “visual 
clutter” and providing 
materials against 
a plain or dark 
background to 
minimise visual effort 
and maximise visual 
attention - including 
teacher clothing and 
wall/floor coverings. 

There is also a need for improved teacher 
education – both initial teacher education 
and ongoing professional development, to 
enhance understanding of autism and support 
schools to consider, implement, and evaluate 
changes to the learning environment. 

In Australia and the US, there are online 
resources to support teacher awareness (e.g., 
inclusionED which is an online professional 
learning community, co-designed with 
educators, for educators). It provides evidence-
based teaching practices and tools to support 
diverse learners in inclusive classrooms.
https://www.inclusioned.edu.au/

Additionally, the Autism Education Trust 
developed an extensive collection of 
resources which have been co-produced 
with the autistic community.
https://www.autismeducationtrust.
org.uk/resources

These adjustments would likely 
also help both other neurodivergent 
and neurotypical pupils. 

Researchers argue that planning and resourcing for diverse needs should be “baked 
into our school systems, rather than overlaid as optional extras” [15]. This requires 
schools to be shaped by a neurodiversity affirmative model, to inform thinking 
about classroom adjustments that could be made to support autistic CYP.

The evidence

Page | 19

P
age 141

https://www.inclusioned.edu.au/
https://www.autismeducationtrust.org.uk/resources
https://www.autismeducationtrust.org.uk/resources


Page | 20

Research suggests that autistic CYP are at an increased 
risk of being excluded from school. Using data from 
the Connected Bradford database, analyses found that 
children who had been referred, but were still awaiting 
an assessment, were at greatest risk of being excluded 
from secondary school [4]. Autistic CYP who had a 
diagnosis were less likely to be excluded from school, 
compared to those awaiting an assessment, suggesting 
a diagnosis, and subsequent support, has a protective 
effect [4]. With waiting times increasing nationally, this 
represents a growing risk to education outcomes, as well 
as individual and societal costs. The evidence suggests 
that many autistic CYP end up in Alternative Provision (AP) 
with much higher associated costs than education [49]. 

School exclusion has profound negative implications, 
affecting children’s academic performance and overall 
well-being [50]. According to studies, only 7% of 
permanently excluded or frequently suspended students 
pass crucial exams, demonstrating the negative impact 
of exclusions and insufficient AP [4]. The parents of 
autistic CYP are often unable to engage in the economic 
workforce because of their child’s exclusion. Exclusion 
also has long-term effects on a child’s psychological 
well-being, contributing to higher risks of crime 
involvement, anti-social behaviour, social isolation, 
and limited social capital [49]. Schools are often unable 
to explore drivers of behaviour and instead rely on a 
clinical diagnosis and other services for assistance. 

These findings demonstrate the issues around 
“diagnostic-led” systems, whereby children identified 
as having difficulties and referred for further 
assessment but still waiting for that clinical diagnosis 
do not receive the necessary support. This lack of 
support causes a myriad of difficulties within the 
classroom and means existing problems escalate.

Notably, the evidence shows that once appropriate 
support is in place (following diagnosis), autistic 
CYP are less likely to be excluded [49]. These 
findings emphasise the need for an integrated 
approach to the implementation of autism 
across health and education settings.

Health and education must work 
together for autistic CYP

Autism assessment and support crisis Child of the NorthThe evidence

7%
of permanently excluded 
or frequently suspended 
students pass crucial 
exams, demonstrating 
the negative impact of 
exclusions and insufficient 
Alternative Provision [4].

“It’s a broken system that we need to reset 
because it’s identifying and supporting 
need, no matter what that is, without that 
necessity for EHCP or a diagnosis.”
- Focus group participant

ONLY

P
age 142



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisThe evidence

Schools, nurseries and other educational settings 
must be at the heart of autism service delivery   

The evidence is clear: the divide between health 
and education service delivery means that 
autistic CYP frequently fall in the gaps between 
schools and health services. Thus, many CYP 
experience health barriers to education that 
could and should be supported, but their needs 
are not being met due to siloed working.

An example of a national programme linking health 
and education is the Special School Eye Care 
Service, launched in 2021 [51]. Fewer than 7% of 
CYP with special educational needs have had 
an eye check, yet those with special educational 
needs are 28 times more likely to have a vision 
problem. Providing in-school assessments has 
allowed children requiring help to access vision 
support more effectively. Special School Eye 
Care Services allow strategies that improve 
visual learning to be given directly from health 
to education professionals in real time [52].

The long-term consequences of not supporting 
autism are devastating, with evidence showing that 
such health needs increase the risk of CYP being 
absent from school and ultimately becoming NEET 
(Not in Education, Employment or Training) [53]. 
Moreover, the evidence shows that improving the 
educational attainment of CYP decreases the risk 
of long-term physical and mental health problems.

There is accumulating evidence that health and 
education can work together effectively to ensure 
that CYP’s health, education and social needs are 
met in a timely fashion [3]. Autistic CYP frequently 
possess a plethora of strengths, such as attention to 
detail, and have the potential to thrive in education 
if appropriately supported. The SEND crisis and 
the waiting list problems associated with autism 
(and other developmental differences) is just one 
example of the need for health settings to work in 
partnership with educational settings to effectively 
tackle problems that affect both services. 

The evidence suggests that multidisciplinary clinical 
teams can work effectively in school settings, and 
this opens the possibility of new ways of working 
(especially in our most disadvantaged communities). 
In the next section (“innovative approaches trialled 
in real world settings”), we highlight an innovative 
approach (SUCCESS) where autism assessments 
were conducted in partnership with schools [54].

Integrated care systems provide an 
outstanding opportunity for such integration, 
but schools and nurseries must be properly 
represented within these groups.

“CAMHS said to me, ‘we’re in crisis. We’re 
letting children down. Please, can you write 
to your MP’ And I was like, if I had time, I 
would do that.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

Fewer than 7% of 
CYP with special 
educational needs
have had an eye 
check, yet those 
with special 
educational needs 
are 28 times more 
likely to have a
vision problem.

Page | 21

P
age 143



Page | 22

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisThe evidence

Information must be shared across health and 
education when identifying autistic CYP

The evidence is clear: the inability of public service 
organisations to share information acts as a major 
barrier to planning and delivering integrated care [3].

Public services are organised and delivered within 
specialist organisations (e.g., education, health, social 
care, and policing). Policies are developed within 
political structures that map to these organisations both 
centrally (e.g., Department for Education, Department for 
Health and Social Care, Ministry of Justice, etc.) and at 
a local level (e.g., multi-academy trusts, hospital trusts, 
local authorities, and regional policing authorities).

As already discussed, the fundamental problem 
with this structure is that the lives of families and 
individuals do not fall neatly within these organisational 
silos. This underpins the drive to move towards 
“integrated care systems” where organisations 
are better connected. Unfortunately, the planning 
of integrated care is prevented through a lack 
of knowledge about how services intersect and 
interact within the lives of families. The delivery of 
integrated care is hindered because practitioners 
cannot share information across organisations. 

For example, health services are often aware of 
children with rare chromosomal conditions known as 
“neurodevelopmental copy number variants” (ND-CNVs). 
ND-CNVs are minor genetic rearrangements where a 
small segment of a chromosome is missing or duplicated. 
Cardiff University research has found that a range of ND-
CNVs have been robustly associated with autism [55].  

It has been found that 1.99% of children in the Born in 
Bradford cohort have at least one of these ND-CNVs, 
highlighting that, although each of these conditions is 
individually rare, they are collectively common within 
the population [56, 57]. Upon examination of the Early 
Years Foundation Stage Profile scores, children with 
ND-CNVs exhibited early indications of language 
and communication challenges, as well as physical 
development concerns and autistic traits in comparison 
to their peers [57]. Given the significant impact ND-
CNVs can have on many functional domains, children 

with these conditions often require specialist care. 
Yet, recent research into the school experiences of 
this group reports the “fight” parents have with public 
services to secure SEND support for their child. Almost 
a quarter (23.1%) of parents of children with a ND-CNV 
are dissatisfied with their educational support [58].

The challenges experienced by parents of children 
with a ND-CNV when trying to access support are 
reflective of the SEND review findings – with parents 
struggling to navigate a complex, underfunded, 
and structurally unequal system, which is more 
accessible to individuals of higher socioeconomic 
status and riddled with processing delays [59]. 
Under these difficult circumstances, parents of CYP 
with a rare chromosomal condition face additional 
challenges in proving need due to limited awareness 
of these conditions. In some cases, parents seek 
additional and more known neurodevelopmental 
diagnoses (such as autism) to secure support, even 
when the needs of their CYP are already apparent, 
contributing to even longer waiting lists for autism 
diagnostic services and inefficient use of resources.

The number of children diagnosed with a ND-CNV 
early in life is increasing as diagnostic technologies 
improve, and this can be expected to continue 
considering the ambitions of the UK regarding the 
future of genomic medicine [60]. The opportunity 
for early intervention for children diagnosed with 
a ND-CNV is great but will require information 
sharing across health and education if we are to 
provide comprehensive support to these children.

The evidence shows that it is possible to integrate 
information across health and education and understand 
the intersections and interactions between services to 
ensure early school support is in place for vulnerable 
children, such as those with a ND-CNV. Bradford has 
proved the principle with Connected Bradford and 
provided a methodology that should be scaled up 
across the UK to inform a national approach [28].

“You absolutely have to have a 
governance… governance in place so that 
health, education, social care do work 
together and are prepared to share their 
budgets and be flexible in their approach.”

- Focus group participant

HOW GOVERNMENT CAN HELP HEALTH AND 
EDUCATION SYSTEMS SHARE INFORMATION TO 
CREATE THE BEST OUTCOMES FOR CYP

Education systems record children’s Unique Pupil Number 
(UPN), while health systems record NHS numbers. The 
lack of a common denominator currently hinders data 
linkage. To facilitate cross-sector data sharing, the 
UK government must take the following action:

Use an individual’s NHS number as a single unique 
identifier across public service records.

This government action will enable information sharing and 
allow our public sector organisations to work together more 
effectively to meet the needs of the autistic population.

P
age 144



The recommendations made within this report 
are based on innovative ways of working that 
have been trialled in real-world settings. 

We highlight five evidence-based approaches – new 
tools and ways of working – designed in alignment to 
the principles set out in this report. We also highlight the 
incredible work undertaken in Limpsfield Grange school 
which shows there are solutions to the challenges. These 
approaches demonstrate the capacity of our schools, 
universities, and health institutes to innovate through 
applied research. They represent and show what can 
be achieved by combining academic expertise with the 
skills and knowledge of front-line professionals and the 
insights of children and families with lived experience.

These approaches show that it is possible to take different 
approaches to the identification and support of autism that 
do not follow the traditional models of service delivery. We 
show that education data can identify autistic CYP falling 
“under the radar” (underpinning our first recommendation 
around information sharing). We show that autism 
assessments can be conducted successfully in schools 
(hence our second recommendation for “whole system” 
partnership working). We highlight how these innovations 
have been developed in other areas (supporting our 
recommendation for place-based working). We showcase 
an oral health intervention that illustrates the usefulness 
of providing training around the needs of the autistic 
population (our third recommendation). Finally, we draw 
attention to the availability of psychoeducation tools.

Innovative  
approaches  
trialled in  the 
real world

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 23

P
age 145



Page | 24

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisInnovative approaches trialled in the real world

1
Using education 
data to identify 
autistic CYP

The Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) is a 
universal teacher-reported assessment completed for 
all children in Reception classes across England.   

Evidence suggests that the EYFSP could act as a “red flag” for 
identifying unmet needs within the population [61]. This could 
then trigger a process of assessment and support provision. 
Such practice could be particularly useful in addressing 
structural inequalities (i.e., identifying the CYP who are more 
likely to slip under the radar because of ethnicity, gender, or 
socioeconomic inequalities). This highlights the need for tailored 
support-led tools which can identify children with difficulties in 
communication and social skills throughout their time at school.

The evidence also shows that the education system has 
information that could be useful to clinicians when assessing a 
child for autism [7]. Autism assessments are lengthy processes 
typically conducted in environments unfamiliar to the child 
(i.e., clinics). The ability to efficiently share information on how 
a child behaves in the classroom could speed up the autism 
assessment process and help reduce waiting list times.

In many geographical areas, CYP sit on a waiting list for several 
years before being assessed for autism. The inherent difficulties 
in navigating the autism pathways mean that most children on 
the waiting list will be diagnosed with autism (e.g., in Bradford 
the “conversion rate” is 86%) [17]. This observation suggests 
that it would be reasonable to assume an autism diagnosis and 
provide support to all children currently on the waiting list in 
many locations. It further suggests that examining the EYFSP 
for children on the waiting list could provide a rapid indication 
of the likelihood of a child being autistic with good sensitivity 
and specificity. We recommend that such approaches are 
explored to address the unacceptable waiting times that currently 
plague the system and fail to serve CYP and their families. 

The EYFSP covers a range of academic (e.g., mathematics and 
literacy) and non-academic (e.g., socioemotional development, 
language) elements. Teachers report on many of the behaviours 
that form the basis of standardised clinical autism assessments, 
raising the prospect that the EYFSP could flag unidentified autistic 
CYP, with a low score indicating that the expected progress in 
a domain has not been met. This hypothesis was tested using 
data from the Born in Bradford longitudinal birth cohort study 
through the ‘Digitally Acting Together As One’ (DATA1) project.

The evidence showed that children with low total scores 
on the EYFSP were over 25 times more likely to receive 
a diagnosis of autism [61]. Similarly, children who failed to 
reach a good level of development were 4.8 times more 
likely to have an autism diagnosis than those who did; 
similar findings have also replicated in a larger population-
based cohort (the Connected Bradford database) [5]. 

The research further mapped some EYFSP elements onto four 
aspects of autism (social skills; language and communication; 
imagination; and repetitive behaviour) to create an “autism-specific 
weighted sub-score” [61]. Analyses revealed that children who 
scored poorly on the autism-specific score were approximately 
50 times more likely to receive a confirmed autism diagnosis, 
compared to children who did not receive a low score [61]. 

These results show that teachers are well-positioned to identify 
developmental differences. This is intuitive, as teachers can often 
draw on years of experience about the behaviours expected of 
a child at a given age. In contrast to a snap-shot assessment by 
a health professional, teachers observe children throughout the 
year, enabling a fuller picture of the child’s global functioning, and 
facilitating the identification of the children who show different 
behaviours. We acknowledge the growing pressure placed on 
teaching staff to take on additional responsibilities on top of their 
already overstretched workload. Therefore, our recommendations 
focus on reasonable adjustments that can be easily implemented 
within the classroom as part of inclusive high quality teaching. 

“If it was easier 
[to access help], I 
think more people 
would pick up 
on the signs a bit 
earlier.”
- Focus group participant

P
age 146



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisInnovative approaches trialled in the real world

2
Autism 
assessments
in schools 

The SUCCESS (Supporting Understanding of Children’s 
Communication, Emotional and Social Skills) project was 
trialled in 10 Bradford primary schools through the Department 
for Education’s Opportunity Area programme [13].

SUCCESS involved the deployment of multi-disciplinary teams 
within the school gates to conduct autism assessments for 
children identified as being at risk of undiagnosed autism (and 
other neurodevelopmental disorders) [54]. The evidence showed 
that clinicians were able to combine their clinical observations 

“Even if we ignore 
diagnosis and focus 
on the needs… the 
relationship between 
the school and 
the parents is so 
important.”

- Focus group participant

with those of teachers, who observe the child working, 
learning, and playing in a familiar environment every day. 
Many of the additional barriers that families often face, such as 
hesitancy about mental health services due to cultural beliefs, 
were overcome due to the trust families placed in the school. 
The SUCCESS approach allowed more children to access autism 
services and thereby reduce the likelihood of missed appointments 
and the resultant costs [54]. The evidence from the SUCCESS trial 
suggests this approach could provide major long-term savings 
and reduce waiting times for autism assessment and support [54].

“...to be able to participate in that 
piece of work was fabulous... 
[it’s] enabled us to facilitate work 
between services that would 
normally only be available post-
diagnosis.”

- Educational psychologist

Page | 25

P
age 147



Page | 26

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisInnovative approaches trialled in the real world

3
Tailoring
promising 
approaches
to place 

Innovative approaches should not be “dragged and dropped” 
from one locality to another. Instead, they should come with 
guidance and methodologies to help local leaders create 
something tailored with and for their communities.  

DATA1 and SUCCESS were implemented in Bradford and found 
to be useful approaches. However, these approaches need to be 
tailored to the needs and priorities of an area, given the differences 
in autism pathways and cultural milieu across different regions.  

In line with this “place-based” principle, DATA1 and SUCCESS 
have been trialled successfully in different areas across 
England (Cambridgeshire, East Sussex, Barnsley, and 
Manchester) using a “test and learn” methodology through the 
Department for Education’s Opportunity Area initiative [61]. 

In Cambridgeshire, for example, the approach was adopted 
to focus mainly on girls in Years 5 and 6 (9-11 year olds), who, 
according to previous research, were less likely to be identified 
due to the masking of their difficulties in the classroom [34]. It 
was also noticed locally that autistic girls showed behaviours that 
were missed by traditional methods of diagnosis, (e.g., the Autism 
Diagnostic Observation Schedule; ADOS) [5, 37], with additional 
investigation often needed to uncover behavioural issues.
 
The team in Cambridgeshire further found that specialist teachers 
could observe girls skilfully masking their autism behaviours, but 
this required experience. The evidence suggested that subtle 
behavioural markers (e.g., discrete stimming in the form of small 
finger movements) would go unnoticed in a busy classroom if 
teachers were not trained to recognise these characteristics.

The Cambridgeshire project highlighted the need for more 
specialist training around the presentation of autism across 
different demographic groups [37]. The project also showed 
the value of listening to voices from different disciplines and 
viewpoints (including pupils, families, schools, health, and 
specialist teachers). This multifaceted approach enabled 
rich discussions on the appropriate support for a child, 
support that was based on true triangulation of need. 

In East Sussex, the Early Identification of Autism and Teacher 
Training in Primary School Settings Project provided autism 
training to teachers, teaching assistants and SENCOs to promote 
identification and needs-led support for potentially autistic pupils. 

“We’re not having 
a universal offer. 
It’s a bit of a 
postcode lottery 
really.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

Teachers and parents were actively involved in the screening 
process for autism and the diagnosis process was conducted 
in schools by assessors with relevant training and background 
on autism. Clinicians supervised the diagnostic process via 
video recordings. This was proved to be a successful pathway 
to autism diagnosis and early identification of the pupils needs, 
significantly reducing clinician’s time spent on each diagnosis. 

In Mansfield and Ashfield, the Young Wellbeing Hub: Early 
Identification Project implemented SUCCESS [62 ]. They found 
that by outsourcing caseloads to a “Young Wellbeing Hub”, it was 
possible to provide more efficient support than available through 
overstretched services (such as CAMHS). The evidence showed 
a reduction in waiting times, waiting lists, and patient numbers – 
meaning more CYP received the support they needed to thrive. 

In Nottinghamshire, the Early Identification of Autism project 
aimed to identify communication and interaction needs 
in 7–11-year-olds to reduce assessment waiting lists and 
promote early intervention. The project brought together 
health and education colleagues to undertake assessments 
so that timely, appropriate support could be identified and 
delivered to CYP, families, and schools at a much earlier 
stage in a child’s educational journey. The evidence showed 
that training allowed school staff to gain a unique insight 
into the diagnostic process and improve knowledge about 
autism. In turn, this led to children’s needs being identified 
and tailored support offered at an earlier stage.

“I think schools need a lot more 
training on autism in girls. I think 
when you get autism training, 
it’s mainly looking at kind of how 
boys portray it and girls can be 
completely different to that.”
- Autistic young person

P
age 148



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisInnovative approaches trialled in the real world

4
Oral health 
approaches for 
autistic CYP

The toothPASTE project works with autistic children, their 
families, and healthcare professionals to co-design an oral health 
support package. toothPASTE aims to help prevent tooth decay, 
a significant public health concern [63]. Around one in four five-
year-olds in England have tooth decay and is the primary reason 
for hospital admissions, incurring over £50 million annually 
in NHS costs [64, 65] Tooth decay leads to a domino effect of 
significant consequences, such as pain, problems with speech, 
sleep disruption, altered eating habits, and financial impact on 
families (including time off work) [66]. The evidence is clear: poor 
oral health has a direct impact on school attendance, potentially 
widening educational inequalities [67].

Tooth decay is largely preventable, however, twice-daily brushing 
with fluoride toothpaste and reducing sugary foods and drinks, can 
be challenging. Communication and sensory differences and rigid 
behaviour patterns can make oral health routines more complex 
for autistic children [68]. For example, toothpaste can be felt as an 
“explosion in the mouth” [69]. Research demonstrates that autistic 
children are less likely to visit the dentist [70]. When attending, 
they’re less likely to receive preventative treatments. This disparity 
is alarming, particularly as autistic CYP are twice as likely to need 
their dental treatment provided under a general anaesthetic – with 
each operation costing the NHS around £1,000 per child.

Parents of autistic CYP commonly report feelings of isolation and 
confusion, frequently describing tooth brushing as a “battle” [69]. 
The advice that parents receive around oral health is often generic 
and does not address specific autism challenges. This leaves 
these parents to seek guidance from professionals they encounter 
across early-year health, education, and the third sectors. Yet, 
evidence indicates that these professionals have limited training 
in oral health and are often unsure about what advice they should 
offer [71].

The experiences of parents and children within dental 
environments identify a crucial, yet often overlooked need – the 
necessity for “autism-friendly” places and mandatory training for 
health and educational professionals, aligned to an NHS clinical 
standard [72]. Parents reported feeling judged or dismissed by 
their dentist. Moreover, research shows sensory challenges are not 
only limited to inside the mouth, they also include the harsh glare 
of bright lights, the loud sounds of drills and electric toothbrushes, 
and overpowering smells in the bathroom and clinic [73]. This not 
only highlights the necessity for training professionals but also the 

“I just feel for some 
of these parents 
that probably don’t 
know how to find 
this information and 
they’re struggling.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

importance of empowering and supporting parents in their homes. 
In response to these challenges, the toothPASTE project 
has worked with autistic CYP, their families, and early years 
professionals to develop a detailed prototype that aligns with 
their preferences and needs. The toothPASTE research identified 
what oral health support families need (including a website and 
resources) and a training package for early years professionals 
[69]. The training package, ready for September 2024, will allow 
early years professionals to feel confident that the oral health 
support they provide is correct and sensitive to the family’s needs.

The toothPASTE support package will aim to break the cycle 
of siloed working. This involves making the programme freely 
accessible to families (without the need for a formal diagnosis), 
while the training package will be simultaneously available 
across early years professionals, not just within healthcare. This 
whole-system implementation plan will be continuously refined 
in collaboration with local authorities and key stakeholders in 
West Yorkshire to ensure local relevance and effectiveness. This 
will learn from, and collaborate with, other programmes such as 
Healthier Together and Autism Central [74, 75].

Page | 27

P
age 149



Page | 28

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisInnovative approaches trialled in the real world

5
Psychoeducation
for autistic CYP 

Researchers from the University of Sheffield have collaborated 
with the University of Derby, NIHR’s Children and Young 
People Medtech Cooperative (CYPTECH) and Sheffield Hallam 
University’s Lab4Living to co-design psychoeducational 
resources that help primary-aged children with autism 
or ADHD. Psychoeducational resources are those that 
teach an individual about their condition by providing 
support, information, and management skills [76]. Whilst 
psychoeducation interventions are recognised as being 
beneficial for these groups [77, 78] and recommended by UK 
clinical guidelines, there is little age-appropriate material 
currently available for CYP attending mainstream schools. 

“The training needs to 
be wider, not just the 
teachers. I’m talking 
about the caretaker. 
I’m talking about the 
lunchtime supervisors… 
everybody should 
have all that same 
understanding.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

The resources developed within this project include workbooks 
for the CYP to complete themselves and help lay the foundations 
for the development of self-advocacy. Providing accessible self-
advocacy training for CYP with autism and ADHD is fundamental 
for individuals’ success in the long term [78] but particularly 
important for girls [79] due to the additional barriers they often 
face within educational settings [80, 81]. CYP, their families, 
clinicians, educational professionals, charities, and academics, 
have been central to the project throughout all stages of 
developing these resources; from identifying unmet need, to co-
designing the content of the resource, to testing and developing 
initial prototypes. The resources have now been adopted by 
several schools and NHS Trusts and Councils across the UK [82]. 

“I think there’s something 
about that accessibility 
of information... it’s that 
real self-help element.”
- Focus group participant

P
age 150



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Limpsfield Grange, in Surrey, is the UK’s only 
special school solely for autistic girls aged 
11-16 years. Their work shows that there are 
solutions to the challenges CYP face, that need 
to be adapted into neurodiversity affirmative 
mainstream school environments. Many of 
the students have additional needs including 
ADHD; speech, language, and communication 
needs; medical needs; and emotional difficulties 
associated with their autism. All the students 
have an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 
that outlines their needs. Many Limpsfield 
Grange students have had an incomplete 
experience of primary school, often with 
very poor attendance due to their previously 
undiagnosed autism, which led to persistent 
levels of anxiety that affected their wellbeing.

What “good” 
looks like in 
autism education

Page | 29

P
age 151



Page | 30

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisWhat “good” looks like in autism education

The holistic approach to educating the 
whole person within Limpsfield Grange 
leads to great outcomes for their students 
who make excellent progress in their 
academic studies, with 100% of students 
each year successfully transitioning to 
and sustaining a post-16 placement. 

Limpsfield Grange alumni attend 
universities across the country; have 
jobs and apprenticeships; they pay taxes; 
have friends; and lead rewarding and 
fulfilling lives. Limpsfield Grange aims for 
all autistic girls to have the support and 
opportunities offered to them to enable 
them to thrive.

Limpsfield Grange offers a broad and balanced, challenging, 
and relevant curriculum, delivered by experienced and 
dedicated staff. Staff build relationships with students 
based on a deep understanding of their needs, and these 
relationships are key in supporting students to fulfil their 
potential. The aim of the school is to fully prepare autistic 
girls for successful lives in wider society, so that they 
can work and make their contribution to the world. 

Limpsfield Grange believe that their students should be 
just as successful in their wellbeing, communication, and 
independence, as they are academically. This gives them 
the greatest possible chance of success as learners and in 
the wider world. This unique school teaches these skills as 
a unique subject area known as WACI (Wellbeing; Academic 
Achievement; Communication; and Independence). 
WACI underpins the curriculum and is credited as the 
reason Limpsfield Grange students are successful.

Wellbeing - promoting the importance of self-awareness and 
self-care that enhances both physical, and mental wellbeing 
so that each student develops the resilience to cope with 
the ups and downs of everyday life. Students develop their 
understanding of healthy and unhealthy relationships so that 
they are able to recognise any red flags and understand how 
to respond in a range of situations, with friends, family, online 
and in the wider community. They learn a range of tools for 
living safely online and develop the ability to recognise and 
manage the risks they may encounter online and offline.

Achievement - developing skills and knowledge, validated 
through externally recognised qualifications such as GCSEs, 
BTECs and Functional Skills that enable each student to 
successfully transition to their next education placement.

Communication - good communication skills are 
important for enabling our students to understand 
and be understood by others. We teach students how 
to interact with their peers and with both familiar and 
unfamiliar adults. Students develop social communication 
and interaction skills so they can engage confidently 
and meaningfully in a range of scenarios.

Independence - developing independence skills enables 
our students to manage their own lives and make 
their own decisions. Most functional life-skills can be 
learnt at home, so our focus is on developing skills for 
the workplace, managing money and understanding 
how to be a responsible and active citizen.

P
age 152



Limpsfield 
Grange
experiences

Some of the wonderful 
students at Limpsfield 
Grange reflect on 
their experiences.

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 31

P
age 153



Page | 32

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisLimpsfield Grange experience

This is what Connie, Sally, Darya, D’Arcy, Elizabeth, 
Rose, Baylei, Beth, Ellie, and Georgia had to say about 
life before Limpsfield:

When I was in primary school, 
I couldn’t keep up with the 
work and was made fun of 
– people called me “dumb” 
and “stupid”. People always 
left me out of things including 
games at breaktime. I felt like 
an outsider and got cross. It’s 
not nice to be in that position. 

I don’t remember a lot 
from primary school, but I 
struggled with being with 
other people and got left 
out a lot of the time. With 
learning, I was put in a group 
with three boys away from the 
classroom. I didn’t like that. 

I wasn’t allowed to sit my SATs 
at primary school. I felt left 
out. I wasn’t allowed to do 
them because I was dyslexic. 

I always felt in primary school 
that people never got me. I had 
one TA who was really nice to 
me. In maths I was only taught 
the basic things so I was never 
able to catch up with everyone.  

My experience of getting 
diagnosed was a rollercoaster. 
I was diagnosed with ADHD 
before autism, my autism 
diagnosis was a bit of a shock. 

My diagnosis took a while. The 
doctors thought I was hard of 
hearing then I was diagnosed with 
autism at around 8 years old. ADHD 
diagnosis was really weird – I didn’t 
want to sit through the assessment 
and I remember them chasing me 
round and round trying to do the 
assessment. It was really stressful. 

My parents told my primary 
school about my diagnosis and 
the primary school kicked me out 
because they didn’t believe me. 

They need to realise that girls can 
have autism too. It’s not fair that 
they only diagnose boys. There 
needs to be more ways to help, not 
just CAMHS, but doctors should 
have an autistic department as well. 

They said I shouldn’t have 
emotions. If I’m stressed out, 
I should be allowed to feel 
that way but staff at primary 
school didn’t understand and 
would just say “stop it”. 

“ “ “

““

“

“

“

“

P
age 154



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisLimpsfield Grange experience

This is what Connie, Sally, Darya, D’Arcy, Elizabeth, 
Rose, Baylei, Beth, Ellie, and Georgia had to say about 
how health and education systems should change:

People should all get what they need to be 
successful, not just autistic people. Everyone 
should have the tools to be a success. 

They need to stop separating neurotypicals 
and autistic people. There should be a fair and 
understanding system. People never understand 
us. It’s really selective and there should be 
something different done. If they need help 
someone should be there to help them. People 
who can’t get a diagnosis and haven’t got a 
special school place should be offered help 
in the classroom rather than be taken out.

Try not to have as much discrimination. 
I was called so many names in primary 
school because I was different. 

Sometimes schools can have stereotypical 
views. They just think it’s a characteristic, 
not that it’s a symptom of having autism.
 
Teachers and TAs in all schools should 
get a better understanding of autism. 

We should be taught about autism, 
neurodiversity, and mental illness. This could 
help students more because lots of teachers 
don’t understand their students’ needs. 

Autism is different in everyone so they 
should know that, and also that you can 
have more conditions than just autism.

“
“
“

“

“

“

“

Page | 33

P
age 155



Page | 34

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Movement breaks could really 
make a difference to autistic 
CYP in mainstream schools. 

Primary schools could add 
an area where people can 
have a break if they’re 
feeling stressed. 

A changes board (where 
changes in routine are 
recorded) can really help so 
changes aren’t a surprise. 

Schools could have swings 
to help if someone is 
feeling really stressed. 

Make teaching more 
specific – things are better 
when everything is clear 
and easy to understand. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11

12

10

And here are their 12 top tips 
for supporting autistic CYP: 

Regular check-ins with a 
teacher or staff member are 
important for autistic people. 
Everyone should be offered 
check-ins if they need them. 

Offer a counsellor to help 
people talk about their 
experiences. It would 
help with diagnoses.

More explanations on social 
rules that must be obeyed, 
to help autistic people to 
understand. People shouldn’t 
get in trouble for reacting in 
a non-neurotypical way. 

It’s important for students 
in mainstream to be taught 
that autistic people might 
not understand things that 
they find straightforward.

Provide allowances for sensory 
needs (e.g., allow “fidgets” or 
students to undertake activities 
like crochet and doodling). 

Schools should allow autistic 
CYP the option to choose their 
own timetable or provide more 
flexibility about the timetable. 

If a student is feeling stressed, 
they should be able to ask 
for help and know that 
someone will speak to them.

Limpsfield Grange experience

P
age 156



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

NHSE have provided two 
important and useful documents 
that could and should guide 
the implementation of the 
recommendations made 
within this report:

National framework to deliver improved 
outcomes in all-age autism 
assessment pathways

Operational Guidance to deliver 
improved outcomes in 
all-age autism assessment pathways

Implementation  

Page | 35

P
age 157

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/operational-guidance-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/operational-guidance-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/operational-guidance-to-deliver-improved-outcomes-in-all-age-autism-assessment-pathways-guidance-for-integrated-care-boards/


Page | 36

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisImplementation

The societal challenge is twofold. First, we must 
determine how these guidelines can move from 
abstract (and easily ignored) aspirations to concrete 
and measurable actions across the UK. Second, 
we need to transform our systems so that the 
responsibility for implementing autism support 
does not lie solely with the health system. 

The first challenge can be operationalised via 
existing NHS structures and frameworks. The 2022 
Integrated Care Boards (Establishment) Order 
legally established 42 Integrated Care Systems 
(ICS) across England, with each ICS comprising 
an Integrated Care Board (ICB), an Integrated 
Care Partnership, local authorities, place-based 
partnerships, and provider collaboratives. ICBs 
provide a useful organisational structure through 
which autism services can be transformed [83]. 

We recommend that ICBs work together to create 
a single regional “point of truth” where families, 
expectant families, practitioners, and educational 
providers can obtain evidence-based health 
advice on autism. The advice can be hosted 
on NHS webpages and capture core principles 
whilst ensuring the messages are tailored for the 
region. The Healthier Together programme shows 
the effectiveness of such an approach [74].

Likewise, an existing NHSE framework for 
addressing health inequalities can be utilised to 
create change at pace. Core20PLUS5 advocates 
a system level approach to inequity that targets 
the most deprived 20% of the national population 
(‘Core20’) [18]. Core20PLUS5 encourages use of 
the national Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) to 
identify where efforts must be concentrated. The 
IMD is the official measure of relative deprivation 
in England (with similar measures available across 
the devolved nations). IMD2019 combines and 
weights 39 factors across seven domains of 
deprivation (income; employment; education; health; 
crime; housing and services; living environment) 
[84]. IMD2019 allows geographical “hotspots” of 
deprivation to be identified and serves as a useful 
geographical guide to target health interventions.

Thus, Core20PLUS5 identifies where actions should 
be prioritised within an ICB area. Importantly, it 
recognises that the system cannot simply throw 
a switch and transition to new ways of working 
in every area across the UK. Pragmatically, 
we recommend that around three of the most 
disadvantaged wards are selected within each local 
authority area and new approaches to supporting 
autistic CYP are developed in each of these wards. 
We recommend working at a ward-level to reflect 
the existence of a democratic elected councillor 
who can provide local political support for the work. 

The implementation of innovative approaches to 
the transformation of autism pathways within a 

small number of wards will allow an area to “test 
and learn” what works best and scale up a system 
level transformation in a manageable fashion.

Core20PLUS5 suggests that specific populations 
should be prioritised at a local level (the “PLUS” 
part of its name) [18]. Examples include ethnic 
minority communities, people with a learning 
disability, and autistic people. We strongly 
advocate an approach where ICBs prioritise 
improvement of their autism pathways. 

We note that the evidence presented in this report 
also applies to other developmental differences 
(e.g., ADHD). Importantly, a sustained focus on one 
condition (autism) would allow the issues associated 
with system transformation to be trialled in a 
manageable fashion. This approach will yield the 
wider changes required in a shorter time frame than 
an approach that tries to achieve everything at once.

To ensure that addressing the autism support and 
assessment crisis remains a priority, we recommend 
that “Futures Groups” be established to support 
ICBs. Humber and North Yorkshire ICB have 
established such a group, and the Futures Group 
provides advice on how the ICB can effectively 
implement a prevention strategy. These groups 
could utilise academic capacity within regional 
universities with experts who have the bandwidth 
necessary to help ICBs focus on the long-term 
agenda. The immediate demands on ICBs (from 
doctor strikes to A&E waiting times) otherwise 

The “Framework” and “Operational Guidance” documents were co-produced with a wide 
range of stakeholders including people with lived experience (autistic people, their families, 
and carers). The documents identify barriers to the autism assessment pathway and provide 
evidence of good practice.  

“I think services need to 
try and engage with the 
children as well, rather 
than just completely 
ignoring them and 
going to the parents.”
- Autistic young person

“I wish that there were 
just more services 
available for them... 
in all honesty, there’s 
hardly anything... our 
kids are the ones that 
struggle the most, 
but they get the least 
services offered to them.”
- Parent of an autistic young person

hinder a sustained focus on inequity prevention. 
The evidence from Humber and North Yorkshire ICB 
is that there is an academic community willing and 
able to advise and support the ICB on such matters.

In summary, we need political leadership to drive 
coordinated public service delivery at a local 
level. This would ensure autistic CYP and their 
families receive the holistic care they need. The 
delivery of coordinated services requires the 
creation of formal partnerships at local authority 
area level. These partnerships can then enable 
services such as schools, health services, local 
authorities, voluntary services, faith leaders, 
and businesses to propel data driven, “whole 
system” approaches to improving outcomes for 
autistic CYP through schools and nurseries [24]. 

There is a role for central and local government 
to mandate and oversee such pragmatic 
approaches, providing challenge and support.

“Access to sort of 
a single source of 
information whether 
that be service users 
or professionals or 
anybody else who 
might want to look at 
information around 
neurodiversity.”
- Focus group participant

P
age 158



The role of 
educational 
psychology

Workforce issues will need to be 
addressed as part of the solution 
to the problems affecting autism 
assessment and support services. 

Educational Psychologists (EPs), 
along with other professionals 
such as speech therapists 
and occupational therapists, 
play an important role in the 
support available to schools.

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

Page | 37

P
age 159



Page | 38

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisThe role of educational psychology

Educational 
psychologists 
can help schools 
increase their 
capacity to meet 
needs through 
regular training 
and support.

EPs can cotribute to supporting autistic CYP and their 
schools and families. They work with the 0-25 age range and 
support pre-schools, schools, and post-16 settings at the 
organisational level (e.g., providing training and helping with 
developing general systems of support), as well as working 
with individual children with and without a medical diagnosis. 
EPs work across settings providing transition support, 
including support with the transition to adulthood [85].

Autism-focused activities can form a large part of an EP’s 
workload. They can work with schools to assess autistic 
CYP’s needs; advise on or provide interventions and 
therapeutic work; provide training for staff and parents; work 
collaboratively with families, school staff and other services; 
support the development of the local autism strategy, such 
as autism assessment pathways; and some have specialist 
roles as part of autism diagnostic teams [86, 87]. 

Through their knowledge of individual schools and communities, 
EPs’ school-based work can assist in developing staff knowledge 
of autism, for instance by helping staff to understand different 
presentations of autism such as autism in girls or co-occurring 
difficulties such as selective mutism, anxiety or emotionally 
based school avoidance [88, 89]. However, as young people 
have emphasised, this needs to be sustained support as an 
afternoon’s training is not enough. EPs can help schools increase 
their capacity to meet needs through regular training and support 
with implementation of evidence-based approaches such as 
visual supports or social stories and by collaborating with school 
staff and families to develop individualised plans for pupils. 

Increasing the number of EPs may potentially increase capacity 
for them to be able to focus on this important area of work, 
although there are concerns about continuing shortages. It 
is promising that since 2020 the Department for Education 
has increased the number of educational psychology training 
places available from 160 to 204 per year [90]. Nevertheless, 
EPs are leaving the service at a greater rate than they are being 
replaced and there are geographical inequalities impacting 
the availability of EPs in parts of the UK. For instance, there 
is no EP training provision within West Yorkshire, and this 
means that local authorities such as Leeds and Bradford 
struggle to recruit. Innovative approaches are required 
within the profession of educational psychology – such as 
the development of Masters level apprenticeship grades 
which enable graduates to apply their skills within schools 
under the supervision of a Doctorate level qualified EP.

P
age 160



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

End word

Nat
Merrick

Megan
Roker

Evie
Shore

Jennifer
Shaw

Page | 39

P
age 161



Page | 40

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisEnd word

END WORD: Evie Shore, Jennifer Shaw, Megan Roker and Nat 
Merrick (The Research and Implementation Fellow Team from Born 
in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research)

One of the struggles which resonates with us 
most is the impact of the COVID-19 lockdowns 
and the effect they had on young people’s 
educational experience. During this period, we 
experienced struggles with isolation, where 
we felt a lack of support and an absence of 
social interaction. CYP with autism and/or 
additional needs have been disproportionately 
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and have 
faced additional barriers to accessing support 
during this time. Post-pandemic, the burden 
on health services because of this global crisis 
means CYP are unable to access support 
for many years, suffering with subsequent 
mental and physical ill health. The inherent 
inequalities and complexities of navigating 
autism pathways are leaving CYP and their 
families without the resources they need. 

Having only recently exited the school system 
we can testify to the major role that school plays 
in a young person’s daily life. We completely 
agree with this report’s conclusion that the 
school system should be utilised to identify and 
support autistic CYP. Additionally, as teachers 
observe the behaviour displayed by CYP daily, 
their insights are invaluable when identifying 
individuals with unmet needs, as well as 
advising clinicians during autism assessments. 
Through working with the Centre for Applied 
Education Research (CAER) in Bradford, we 
have witnessed the need for place-based 
approaches, the importance of which is 

highlighted by the socioeconomic and cultural 
differences seen across the District. We also 
recognise that these developments must be 
evidence-based, using research and high-
quality data. We have observed the success 
of using this approach in creating appropriate 
interventions that have real world benefits. 

We wholeheartedly agree that working 
alongside autistic CYP is vital to ensure services 
are equipped to best support their needs. 
People with autism are best equipped to 
identify the challenges they face and propose 
efficient approaches. This can be seen in the 
toothPASTE project, helping support oral 
health through working with autistic CYP and 
their families. Psychoeducational resources 
produced with autistic CYP also highlight the 
importance of co-production; autistic CYP 
have often been wrongfully excluded from 
decisions about autism service provision, 
despite their expertise and insight.

Evie Shore: As part of the CAER team, and as a 
female autistic young person who has navigated 
the education system without additional support, 
I feel that the challenges I have personally 
experienced have been recognised by this 
report. It is refreshing to see so many practical 
recommendations be made, with the offer 
of an accessible needs-led approach. In the 
same breath, it is disheartening to discover the 
numbers of CYP who are being continuously 
failed by the system. The lack of awareness 
among healthcare professionals regarding 
how autism presents in girls is hindering CYP’s 
chances of excelling in the classroom and 
beyond. Going for years unnoticed and without 
support can have profound negative effects on 
CYP’s mental health considering the challenges 
of school transitions, and the complexities 
of secondary school social life. It is crucial to 
provide thorough training co-produced by CYP 
with lived experience, regarding the presentation 
of autism in girls, including what adjustments 
can be put in place to meet the needs of 
autistic girls earlier and more effectively.  

As young people from the North of England, we are grateful that attention is finally being paid 
to the struggles and inequalities impacting CYP, with an immediate call for action. We are 
excited to have had the opportunity to contribute to this report and highlight the perspectives of 
young people, including those with autism.

One of the struggles 
which resonates with us 
most is the impact of the 
COVID-19 lockdowns 
and the effect they 
had on young people’s 
educational experience.

We need a government 
who will put CYP at 
the forefront of their 
decision making 
and deliver the 
recommendations given 
by this report. We need 
system-wide change, 
and we need it now.

P
age 162



References
and author list

Page | 41

P
age 163



Page | 42

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisInfographic references

Ambitious About Autism. (2023). Position 
statements. Ambitious about Autism. https://www.
ambitiousaboutautism.org.uk/what-we-do/policy-
and-campaigns/position-statements

Aylward, B. S., Gal-Szabo, D. E., & Taraman, S. 
(2021). Racial, Ethnic, and Sociodemographic 
Disparities in Diagnosis of Children with Autism 
Spectrum Disorder. Journal of Developmental & 
Behavioral Pediatrics, 42(8). https://doi.org/10.1097/
dbp.0000000000000996

Care Quality Commission. (2023, October 20). 
Inequalities - Care Quality Commission. Www.cqc.
org.uk. https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/major-
report/state-care/2022-2023/inequalities

Constantino, J. N., Abbacchi, A. M., Saulnier, C., 
Klaiman, C., Mandell, D. S., Zhang, Y., Hawks, 
Z., Bates, J., Klin, A., Shattuck, P., Molholm, S., 
Fitzgerald, R., Roux, A., Lowe, J. K., & Geschwind, 
D. H. (2020). Timing of the Diagnosis of Autism 
in African American Children. Pediatrics, 146(3), 
e20193629. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3629

Crane, L., Pellicano, L., Adams, F., Harper, G., & 
Welch, J. (2017). Ambitious about Autism. https://
rb.gy/k1roit

Department for Education. (2023). Special 
Educational Needs in England. Explore-Education-
Statistics.service.gov.uk. https://explore-education-
statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-
educational-needs-in-england

Department of Education. (2019). The unequal 
representation of ethnic minorities in special 
education in England: Extent, causes and 
consequences. University of Oxford.

Johnson, M., Doherty, M., & Shaw, S. C. (2022). 
Overcoming barriers to autistic health care: Towards 
autism-friendly practices. British Journal of General 

Practice, 72(719), 255–256. https://doi.org/10.3399/
bjgp22x719513

McCrossin, R. (2022). Finding the true number 
of females with autistic spectrum disorder by 
estimating the biases in initial recognition and 
clinical diagnosis. Children, 9(2), 272. https://doi.
org/10.3390/children9020272

National Autistic Society. (2023a). Autism 
assessment waiting times. Www.autism.org.uk. 
https://www.autism.org.uk/what-we-do/news/
autism-assessment-waiting-times-3

National Autistic Society. (2023b). Education Report 
2023. Education Report Series. https://www.
autism.org.uk/what-we-do/news/education-report-
2023#:~:text=It

NHS Digital. (2023a). Autism Statistics, October 
2022 to September 2023. Autism Waiting Time 
Statistics. NHS Digital. https://digital.nhs.uk/data-
and-information/publications/statistical/autism-
statistics/october-2022-to-september-2023

NHS Digital. (2023b). Learning Disability Services 
Monthly Statistics, AT: November 2023, MHSDS: 
September 2023 & October 2023. NHS Digital. 
https://rb.gy/8cfkqk

NHS Digital. (2023c). Mental Health Services 
Monthly Statistics, Performance October 2023. NHS 
Digital. https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/
publications/statistical/mental-health-services-
monthly-statistics/performance-october-2023

North Yorkshire Council, North Yorkshire Autism 
Group, Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care 
Board, Community First Yorkshire, Inclusion North, 
& Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust. 
(2023). North Yorkshire All-age Autism Strategy. 
Health and Wellbeing Board North Yorkshire.

O’Nions, E., Petersen, I., Joshua E.J. Buckman, 
Charlton, R. A., Cooper, C., Corbett, A., Happé, 
F., Manthorpe, J., Richards, M., Saunders, R., 
Zanker, C., Mandy, W., & Stott, J. (2023). Autism in 
England: assessing underdiagnosis in a population-
based cohort study of prospectively collected 
primary care data. The Lancet Regional Health, 
29, 100626–100626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
lanepe.2023.100626

Smith, D. L. (2023). A District Level Population-
Based Study of Structural Inequalities in Autism 
Pathways. DClin Psycology Thesis. The University of 
Leeds, School of Medicine, 2023.

Infographic references

P
age 164



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisReport references

Report references

[1]   Autistic Self Advocacy Network, “Identity 
First Language,” 2021. [Online]. Available: https://
autisticadvocacy.org/about-asan/identity-first-
language/. 

 [2]  National Autistic Society, “How to talk and write 
about autism,” 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.
autism.org.uk/contact-us/media-enquiries/how-to-
talk-and-write-about-autism. 

 [3]  D. A. Smith, “A district level population-based 
study of structural inequalities in autism pathways,” 
DClin Psycology Thesis. The University of Leeds, 
School of Medicine, 2023.

 [4]   E. Chapman, “Preventing Unmet Need Leading 
to School Exclusion: Empowering Schools to Identify 
Neurodiversity Earlier,” DClin Psycology Thesis. The 
University of Leeds, School of Medicine, 2023. 

 [5]   L. Rogan, “Exploring factors related to delayed 
diagnosis for autistic girls through the Connected 
Bradford Cohort Daatabase,” DClin Psycology 
Thesis. The University of Leeds, School of Medicine, 
2023.  

 [6]  M. Jit, A. Ananthakrishnan, M. McKee, O. 
Wouters and P. Beutels, “Multi-country collaboration 
in responding to global infectious disease threats: 
lessons for Europe from the COVID-19 pandemic,” 
The Lancet Regional Health, vol. 9, 2021.  

 [7]  A. Likhar, P. Baghel and M. Patil, “Early Childhood 
Development and Social Determinants,” Cureus, vol. 
14, no. 9, 2022.  

 [8]  Qualter, Bond, Jefferson, Verity and Farzinnia, 
“Evaluation of the Early Identification of Autism,” 
Department for Education, 2023.  

 [9]   P. Geelhand, P. Bernard, O. Klein, B. van 
Tiel and M. Kissine, “The role of gener in the 
perception of autism severity and future behavioural 
development,” Mol Autism, vol. 10, no. 16, 2019.  

 [10]  Department for Education and The Department 
of Health and Social Care, “The national strategy for 
autistic children, young people and adults: 2021 to 
2026,” 2021. 

 [11]   A. Buescher, Z. Cidav, M. Knapp and D. Mandell, 
“Costs of autism spectrum disorders in the United 
Kingdom and the United States,” JAMA Pediatrics, 
2014. 

 [12]   NHS England, “Operational guidance to deliver 
improved outcomes in all-age autism assessment 
pathways: Guidance for integrated care boards,” 
2023. 

 [13]  NHS England, “Core20PLUS5 (Adults) - an 
aproach to reducing healthcare inequalities,” 2021. 
[Online]. Available: https://rb.gy/vcepz1. 

 [14]  C. Featherstone, R. Sharpe, N. Axford, S. 
Asthana and K. Husk, “Health and wellbeing 
outcomes and social pescribing pathways in 
community-based support for autistic adults: A 
systematic mapping review of reviews,” Health and 
Social Care in the Community, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 
e621-e635, 2022.  

 [15]   National Autistic Society, “Autism Assessment 
Waiting Times,” 2023. 

 [16]  World Health Organisation, 15 September 
2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.who.int/
publications/i/item/9789240080232. 

 [17]   L. Kenny, C. Hattersley, B. Molins, C. Buckley, 
C. Povey and E. Pellicano, “Which terms should be 
used to describe autism? Perspectives from the UK 
autism community,” Autism, vol. 20, no. 4, 2015.  

 [18]  World Health Organisation, “International 
Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related 
Health Problems, Eleventh Revision (ICD-11),” 2021. 

 [19]   NHS England, “A national framework to deliver 
improved outcomes in all-age autism assessment 
pathways: guidance for integrated care boards,” 
2023. 

 [20]  S. Chawner, J. Doherty and et al., “A Genetics-
First Approach to Dissecting the Heterogeneity 
of Autism: Phenotypic Comparison of Autism Risk 
Copy Number Variants,” The American Journal of 
Psychiatry, vol. 178, no. 1, 1 1 2021.  

 [21]   H. Steinhausen, C. Mohr Jenson and M. 
Lauritsen, “A systematic review and meta-analysis of 
the long-term overall outcome of autism spectrum 
disorders in adolescence and adulthood,” Acta 
Psychiatr Scand., 2016. 

 [22]   M. Micai, L. Fatta, L. Gila and et al., “Prevalence 
of co-occurring conditions in children and adults 
with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic 
review and meta-analysis,” Neuroscience and 
biobehavioural reviews, vol. 155, 2023.  

 [23]   M. Menezes, M. Robinson, C. Harkins, E. 
Sadikova and M. Mazurek, “Unmet health care 
needs and health care quality in youth with autism 
spectrum disorder with and without intellectual 
disability,” Autism, vol. 25, no. 8, 2021.  

 [24]  C. Wallace-Watkin, J. Sigafoos and H. 
Waddington, “Barriers and facilitators for obtaining 
support services among underserved families with 
an autistic child: A systematic qualitative review,” 
National Autistic Society, vol. 27, no. 3, 2022.  

 [25]   M. Mon-Williams and M. Wood, “Addressing 
Education and Health Inequity: Perspectives from 
the North of England. A report prepared for the Child 
of the North APPG,” Health Equity North, 2023. 

 [26]   B. Kelly, S. Williams, S. Collins, F. Mushtaq, M. 
Mon-Williams, B. Wright, D. Mason and J. Wright, 
“The association between socioeconomic status and 
autism diagnosis in the United Kingdom for children 
aged 5–8years of age: Findings from the Born in 
Bradford cohort,” Autism, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 131-140, 
2019.  

 [27]  K. Sohal, D. Mason, J. Birkinshaw, J. West, 
R. McEachan, M. Elshehaly, D. Cooper, R. Shore, 
M. McCooe, T. Lawton and M. Mon-Williams, 

“Connected Bradford: a whole system data linkage 
accelerator.,” Wellcome Open Research, vol. 7, 2022.  

 [28]  National Institute of Health and Care 
Excellence, “Autism spectrum disorder in under 19s: 
recognition, referral and diagnosis. Clinical guideline 
[CG128],” National Institute of Health and Care 
Excellence, London, 2017. 

 [29]   J. Hall, Batza, K, C. Streed and et al., “Health 
Disparities Among Sexual and Gender Minorities 
with Autism Spectrum Disorder,” Autism Dev Disord, 
vol. 50, pp. 3071-3077, 2020.  

 [30]   C. Saunders, A. Berner, J. Lund and et al., 
“Demographic characteristics, long-term health 
conditions and healthcare experiences of 6333 
trans and non-binary adults in England: nationally 
representative evidence from the 2021 GP Patient 
Survey,” BMJ Open, vol. 13, no. 2, 2023.  

 [31]  M. Tubio-Fungueirino, S. Cruz, A. Sampaio, 
A. Carracedo and M. Fernandez-Prieto, “Social 
camouflaging in females with autism spectrum 
disorder: A systematic review,” J Autism 
Developmental Disorders, 14 09 2020.  

 [32]   J. Beck, R. Lundwall, T. Gabrielsen, J. Cox 
and M. South, “Looking good but feeling bad: 
“Camouflaging” behaviors and mental health in 
women with autistic traits,” Autism, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 
809-821, 2020.  

 [33]  A. Cook, J. Ogden and N. Winstone, “Friendship 
Motivations, Challenges and the Role of Masking for 
Girls with Autism in Contrasting School Settings,” 
European Journal of Special Needs Education, vol. 
33, no. 3, pp. 302-315, 2017.  

 [34]  S. Tromans, V. Chester, E. Gemegah, K. 
Roberts, Z. Morgan, G. Yao and T. Brugha, “Autism 
identification across ethnic groups: A narrative 
review,” Advances in Autism, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 241-
255, 2021. 
 

Page | 43

P
age 165



Page | 44

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisReport references

[35]  S. Beeger, S. Bouk, W. Boussaid, M. Terwogt 
and H. Koot, “Underdiagnosis and referral bias of 
autism in ethnic minorities. Journal of autism and 
developmental disorders,” Journal of Autism and 
Developmental Disorders, vol. 39, pp. 142-148, 2009.  

 [36]   PinPoint Cambridgeshire, “Early Identification 
of Autism Project (EIA),” 03 2023. [Online]. Available: 
https://pinpoint-cambs.org.uk/early-identification-of-
autism-project-eia/. 

 [37]   L. Schreibman, G. Dawson, A. Stahmer and 
et al., “Naturalistic Developmental Behavioral 
Interventions: Empirically Validated Treatments for 
Autism Spectrum Disorder,” J Autism Dev Disord., 
vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 2411-2428, 2015.  

 [38]  C. Lord, T. Charman, A. Havdahl, P. Carbone, 
E. Anagnostou, B. Boyd, T. Carr, P. Vries, C. 
Dissanayake, G. Divan, C. Freitag, M. Gotelli, C. 
Kasari, M. Knapp, P. Mundy, A. Plank, L. Scahill, 
C. Servili, P. Shattuck, E. Simonoff, A. Singer, V. 
Slonims, P. Wang, M. Ysrraelit, R. Jellett , A. Pickles, 
J. Cusack, P. Howlin, P. Szatmari, A. Holdbrook, C. 
Toolan and J. McCauley, “The Lancet Commission 
on the future of care and clinical research in autism,” 
The Lancet, vol. 399, pp. 271-334, 12 2021.  

 [39]   E. Pellicano, A. Dinsmore and T. Charman, 
“Community views and piorities from the United 
Kingdom,” Autism, vol. 18, no. 7, 2014.  

 [40]   S. Fletcher-Watson, K. Brook, S. Hallett, F. 
Murray and C. Crompton, “Inclusive practices for 
neurodevelopmental research.,” Curr Developmental 
Disorders Rep, vol. 8, pp. 88-97, 2021.  

 [41]  A. Stahmer, A. Aranbarri, A. Drahota and 
S. Rieth, “Extending translational science from 
research to community and back again,” Autism, vol. 
21, no. 3, pp. 259-261, 2017.  

 [42]   S. Jones, “Measuring the wrong thing the right 
way? Time to rethink autism research tools,” Autism 
Adulthood, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 104-109, 2022. 

 [43]  Cooperative Research Australia, “About the 
Cooperative Research Centres Programme,” 2021. 
[Online]. Available: https://cooperativeresearch.org.
au/cooperative-research/crc-program-australian-
government/. 

 [44]  L. Robinson, C. Bond and J. Oldfield, “A UK 
and Ireland survey of Educational Psychologists’ 
intervention practices for students with Autism 
Spectrum Disorder,” Educational Psychology in 
Practice, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 58-72, 2018.  

 [45]   S. Saddrendini, C. Bond and J. Oldfield, “ How 
do educational psychologists in the UK and Ireland 
assess the needs of autistic children and young 
people?,” Good Autism Practice, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 
41-49, 2019.  

 [46]  C. Neilson and C. Bond, “After a long period of 
being in hibernation – these little green shoots were 
growing.” Lived experiences of effective support 
for autistic young people who have experienced 
extended school nonattendance.,” Journal of 
Research in Special Educational Needs, 2023.  

 [47]  S. O’Hagan and C. Bond, “The role of 
Educational Psychologists in supporting autistic girls 
in education.,” Hebron J & Bond, C (Eds) Education 
and girls on the autism spectrum: developing an 
integrated approach, 2019.  

 [48]  J. White, C. Bond and C. Carroll, “An exploration 
of how selective mutism training informs teachers’ 
understanding and practice,” Support for Learning, 
vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 3-20, 2022.  

 [49]  Department for Education, “Educational 
psychology services: workforce insights and school 
perspectives on impact.,” Research Report RR1354 
DfE, 2023. 

 [50]  B. Graham, C. White, A. Edwards, S. Potter and 
C. Street, “School exclusion: a literature review on 
the continued disproportionate exclusion of certain 
children,” 2019. 

[51]  T. Ford, Parker, C, J. Salim, R. Goodman, S. 
Logan and W. Henley, “The relationship between 
exclusion from school and mental health: a 
secondary analysis of the British Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Surveys 2004 and 2007,” 
Psychological Medicine, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 629-641, 
2018.  

 [52]   NHS England, “Engagement – in school eye 
testing for pupils in special schools in England,” 
2023. [Online]. Available: https://rb.gy/x9d7pq. 

 [53]   NHS England, “Special schools eye care – 
proof of concept evaluation report,” 2023. [Online]. 
Available: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/
special-schools-eye-care-proof-of-concept-
evaluation-report/. 

 [54]   I. Ringbom, J. Suvisaari, A. Kääriälä, A. 
Sourander, M. Gissler, T. Ristikari and D. Gyllenberg, 
“Psychiatric Disorders Diagnosed in Adolescence 
and Subsequent Long-Term Exclusion from 
Education, Employment or Training: Longitudinal 
National Birth Cohort Study,” BR J Psychiatry, 2022.  

 [55]   B. Wright, K. Konstantopoulou, K. Sohal, B. 
Kelly, G. Morgan, C. Hulin, S. Mansoor and M. Mon-
Williams, “Systematic approach to school-based 
assessments for autism spectrum disorders to 
reduce inequalities: A feasibility study in 10 primary 
schools,” BMJ Open, vol. 11, 2021.  

 [56]   S. Chawner, M. Owen, P. Holmans, F. 
Raymond, D. Skuse, J. Hall and M. van den Bree, 
“Genotype–phenotype associations in children 
with copy number variants associated with high 
neuropsychiatric risk in the UK (IMAGINE-ID): a case-
control cohort study,” The Lancet Psychiatry, vol. 6, 
no. 6, pp. 493-505, 2019.  

 [57]  R. Birnbaum, B. Mahjani, R. Loos and A. Sharp, 
“Clinical Characterization of Copy Number Variants 
Associated With Neurodevelopmental Disorders 
in a Large-scale Multiancestry Biobank,” JAMA 
Psychiatry, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 250-259, 2022.  

[58]   N. Ali, “Neurodevelopmental and 
neuropsychiatric disorders in individuals with rare 
pathogenic genetic variants: Analysis in clinical and 
population-based cohorts.,” Cardiff University, 2023. 

 [59]   L. O’Dononan, “School experiences of children 
with rare genetic conditions associated with high 
risk for neurodevelopmental difficulties.,” 2023. 

 [60]   Department for Education; Department of 
Health and Social Care, “SEND Review: Right 
support, right place, right time. Government 
consultation on the SEND and alternative provision 
system in England.,” 2022. 

 [61]  HM Government, “Genome UK: the future of 
healthcare.,” 2020. 

 [62]  B. Wright, M. Mon-Williams, B. Kelly, S. Williams, 
D. Slims, F. Mushtaq, K. Sohal, J. Blackwell and J. 
Wright, “Investigating the association between 
early years foundation stage profile scores and 
subsequent diagnosis of an autism spectrum 
disorder: a retrospective study of linked healthcare 
and education data,” BMJ Paediatritcs Open, vol. 3, 
no. 1, 2019.  

 [63]   Care Quality Comission, “Young Wellbeing 
Hub,” [Online]. Available: https://youngwellbeinghub.
co.uk/autism/. 

 [64]  The Centre for Applied Education Research, 
“Supporting Parents of Children with Autism with 
Oral Health (ToothPASTE),” [Online]. Available: 
https://t.ly/U71cu. 

 [65]  National Dental Epidemiology, “National Dental 
Epidemiology Programme (NDEP) for England: 
Oral Health Survey of 5 Year Old Children,” 2022. 
[Online]. Available: https://shorturl.at/einzA. 

 [66]   Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, 
“Hospital tooth extractions in 0 to 19 year olds 
2022,” 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/
government/statistics/hospital-tooth-extractions-in-
0-to-19-year-olds-2022/hospital-tooth-extractions-
in-0-to-19-year-olds-2022. 

P
age 166



Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisis

[67]   Public Health England, “Health matters: child 
dental health,” 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.
gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-
child-dental-health/health-matters-child-dental-
health. 

 [68]  M. Rebelo, J. Vieira, J. Pereira, L. Quadros 
and M. Vettore, “Does oral health influence school 
performance and school attendance? A systematic 
review and meta-analysis,” International Journal 
of Peadeatric Dentistry, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 138-148, 
2019.  

 [69]   J. Parry, S. Brosnan, T. Newton, C. Linehan and 
C. Ryan, “Brief Report: Analysis of Dental Treatment 
Provided Under General Anaesthesia for Children 
and Young Adults with Autistic Spectrum Disorder 
and Identification of Challenges for Dental Services,” 
Autism Developmental Disorders, vol. 51, no. 12, 12 
2021.  

 [70]   Linktree, “toothPASTE,” [Online]. Available: 
https://linktr.ee/toothpastestudy. 

 [71]   A. Sherriff, R. Stewart, L. Macpherson, J. Kidd, 
A. Henderson, D. Cairns and D. Conway, “Child 
oral health and preventive dental service access 
among children with intellectual disabilities, autism 
and other educational additional support needs: A 
population‐based record linkage cohort study. ,” 
Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, vol. 51, 
no. 3, pp. 494-502, 2023.  

 [72]  Public Health England, “Local authorities 
improving oral health: commissioning better oral 
health for children and young people,” 2014. 

[73]   NHS England, “Clinical standard - oral 
healthcare for autistic children and young people 
and/or those with a learning disability in special 
educational settings,” 2023. 

 [74]   National Autistic Society, “Dental care and 
autism – a guide for dentists,” 2020. [Online]. 
Available: https://rb.gy/3izfiv. 

 [75]   Healthier Together, “Healthier Together- A 
National Programme,” [Online]. Available: https://
rb.gy/j0p336. 

 [76]  Autism Central, “Autism Central,” [Online]. 
Available: https://www.autismcentral.org.uk/. 

 [77]   G. N. Bai, Y. F. Wang, L. Yang and W. Y. Niu, 
“Effectiveness of a Focused, Brief Psychoeducation 
Program for Parents of ADHD Children: Improvement 
of Medication Adherence and Symptoms,” 
Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment,, pp. 2721-
2735, 2015.  

 [78]   L. A. Powell, J. Parker, A. Weighall and V. Harpin, 
“Powell, L. A., Parker, J., Weighall, A., & Harpin, 
V. Psychoeducation intervention effectiveness to 
improve social skills in young people with ADHD: A 
meta-analysis,” Journal of Attention Disorders, vol. 
26, no. 3, pp. 340-357, 2022.  

 [79]   B. Doran and H. J. Kang, “Autonomy, Self-
Realization, and Self-Advocacy and the School- and 
Career-Related Adjustment of Adolescent Girls With 
Disabilities,” Career Development and Transition for 
Exceptional Individuals, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 132-143, 
2016. 
 
 [80]   L. Lindstrom, R. M. Harwick, M. Poppen and B. 
Doren, “Gender gaps: Career development for young 
women with disabilities Lindstrom, L., Harwick, R. M., 
Poppen, M., & Doren, B. (2012).,” Career development 
and transition for exceptional individuals, vol. 35, no. 
2, pp. 108-117, 2012.  

 [81]  B. Doren and M. R. Benz, “Gender equity issues 
in vocational and transition services and employment 
outcomes experienced by young women with 
disabilities,” in Double Jeopardy: Addressing gender 
equity in special education, Albany, State University 
of New York Press, 2001, p. 289–312. 

[82]   K. Powers, J. Hogansen, S. Geenen, L. E. 
Powers and E. Gil‐Kashiwabara, “Gender matters 
in transition to adulthood: A survey study of 
adolescents with disabilities and their families,” 
Psychology in the Schools, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 349-
364, 2008.  

 [83]   U. o. Sheffield, “Learning About Autism: 
Activites for children, young people and their 
families,” 2023. [Online]. Available: https://
www.adhdfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2023/10/Learning-About-Autism_web.pdf. 

 [84]   NHS England, “The Integrated Care Boards 
(Establishment) Order,” 2022. [Online]. Available: 
https://rb.gy/pgrc67. 

 [85]   Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, “The English Indices of Deprivation,” 
2019. [Online]. Available: https://rb.gy/4bjvme. 

 [86]  D. Aitken and S. Fletcher-Watson, 
“Neurodiversity affirmative education: why and 
how?,” The Psychologist, 15 12 2022.  

 [87]   M. Sandbank, K. Bottema-Beutel, S. Crowley, M. 
Cassidy, K. Dunham, J. Feldman and T. Woynaroski, 
“Project AIM: Autism intervention meta-analysis for 
studies of young children,” Psychological Bulletin, 
vol. 146, no. 1, pp. 1-29, 2020.  

[88]  S. Fletcher-Watson, J. Adams, K. Brook, T. 
Charman, L. Crane, C. James, S. Leekam, D. Milton, 
J. Parr and E. Pellicano, “Making the future together: 
Shaping autism research through meaningful 
participation,” Autism, vol. 23, no. 4, 05 2019.  

 [89]   R. Poulsen, P. Dwyer, D. Gassner, M. 
Heyworth and Z. Williams, “The INSAR Community 
Collaborator Request: Using community-academic 
partnerships to enhance outcomes of participatory 
autism research,” Autism Research, pp. 1-6, 2023.  

Report references

Page | 45

P
age 167



Page | 46

Editors

Mark Mon-Williams

Evie Shore

Megan L. Wood

Core editorial team

Lydia Gunning

Nat Merrick

Mallory Morehead

Lowri O’Donovan 
Alistair Quaile 
Megan Roker

Jennifer Shaw 

Contributing experts

Christian Bunting
Diane Daley
Nicole Dempsey
Ava Green
Jo Green
Margriet A. Groen
James Lauder
Margaret Nash

Core writing team

Nabila Ali
Anna Purna Basu
Sara Basuc
Caroline Bond
Eleanor J. Bryant
Emily Chapman
Amrit Chauhan
Samuel J.R.A Chawner
Peter Day
Emily Douse
Lucy Eddy
Mai Elshehaly
Rai Fayette
Melissa Gladstone
Kara Gray-Burrows
Karen Guldberg
Sean Harris
Calum Hartley
Judith Lunn
Prithvi Perepa
Rachel Pilling
Lauren Powell
Pamela Qualter
Judith Rankin

Sue Robson
Leanne Rogan
Fiona Routh
Nikki Rutter
Rebecca Salmon
Danielle Smith
Kuldeep Sohal
Lydia Gabriela Speyer
Paul Sullivan
Jacqueline Taylor
Paraskevi Triantafyllopoulou
Marianne B.M. van den Bree
Matthew Warburton
Nicole Webb
Harriet Whitaker
Sarah Wild 

Cardiff University 
Newcastle University; Great North Children’s Hospital 
Fenland and East Cambridgeshire Priority Area
University of Manchester
University of Bradford
University of Leeds
University of Leeds
Cardiff University 
University of Leeds; Bradford Community Dental Service
Healthwatch York
University of Bradford
City, University of London
University of Manchester
University of Liverpool
University of Leeds
University of Birmingham
Tees Valley Education
Lancaster University
Lancaster University
University of Birmingham
University of Bradford
University of Sheffield
University of Manchester
NIHR Applied Research Collaboration North East and North 
Cumbria; Newcastle University
Newcastle University
University of Leeds
University of Central Lancashire 
Durham University
Cambridgeshire County Council
University of Leeds
Bradford Institute for Health Research
Lancaster University 
University of Bradford
Cambridgeshire Community Services
University of Kent
Cardiff University 
University of Leeds
Young Wellbeing Hub
Young Wellbeing Hub
Limpsfield Grange School

Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research;
University of Leeds
Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research;
University of Leeds
Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research;
University of Leeds

Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research; 
University of Leeds
Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research; 
University of Leeds
Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research; 
University of Leeds
Cardiff University 
University of Leeds
Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research;
University of Leeds
Born in Bradford’s Centre for Applied Education Research;
University of Leeds

St Edmund’s Nursery School; Bradford Birth to 19 
Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Dixons Academies Trust
Bradford District Care Trust
Centre for Young Lives
Lancaster University
Dixons Academies Trust
AWARE

Child of the NorthAutism assessment and support crisisAuthor list

Author list

P
age 168



P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



       
 

Clinical Priority for Neuro Development Assessments 
Children and young people referred for neuro developmental (ND) assessment are routinely 
assessed in chronological order from date of receipt of referral, with the exception of those 
children and young people who are categorised as a clinical priority. 

A local and regional clinical priority policy supports a consistent approach across providers. 
The policy would inform children, young people, parents and carers under which 
circumstances a neurodevelopmental assessment could be prioritised and provide 
reassurance that otherwise children and young people are assessed chronologically 
according to referral date. 

The clinical priority inclusion categories describe children and young people were their level 
of risk and need was appropriate to require clinical prioritisation, whilst avoiding this being a 
significant number of children which would lead to an increase in waiting times significantly 
for all other children and young people referred for a ND assessment. 

Clinical Priority Inclusion Categories 

1. Children Looked After who are in an unstable family unit/placement at risk of 
breakdown 

2. Asylum seekers 
3. Children and young people under the care of the CAMHS Crisis team, where 

behaviour is escalating toward crisis 
4. Any child or young person where there is a risk of breakdown of the family home 

necessitating social care involvement 
5. Any child and young person who has been excluded from school despite an EHCP 

and reasonable adjustments being made 
6. Children and young people under the Youth Offending Team 
7. Children or young people on the Dynamic Support Register/Co-ordination 

Consideration to the need for watchful wait for children and young people in the 
above clinical priority categories 

The child or young person must be sufficiently clinically and psychologically stable to 
complete the assessment in order to determine an outcome. Some children and young 
people may require a period of watchful wait, with periodic review until their assessment can 
be commenced. 

Where there is a high level of need a multi-agency approach should be taken to complete a  
holistic assessment with supporting agencies. 

Exclusions to the above categories 

Consideration was given to inclusion of the following categories; however it was felt the 
children and young people where the following apply would only be a clinical priority in the 
presence of one of the clinical priority inclusion categories above: 

1. Looked after and adopted children and young people where the child or young 
person is in a stable family unit/placement. 

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Healthy Minds: our strategic 
plan for mental health, learning 
disability, neurodiversity, and 
substance use 

Bradford District and Craven
Health and Care Partnership

Page 173



2

Dear me
By Nicky J Rae

Mind in Bradford Creative Writing Group

Dear me, I know we’ve had disagreements,
and that we don’t always see eye to eye.

But the last thing I want for you,
is to feel like you have to say goodbye.

Dear me, I know you’ve been hurting a long while,
and I know you’re sick of the misery.

But just keep holding on a day at a time,
and someday you’ll find yourself set free.

Dear me, I know you’ve been crying,
I’ve seen your demons give chase.

Smile inside for things will get better,
Wipe those tears from off your face.

Dear me, I know your heart is breaking,
like your being shattered in two.

But please - don’t give up just yet,
for the survival rate is too few.

Dear me, I see that you are struggling,
that you feel like you’re on the brink.

But keep pushing forward, keep fighting,
you’re much stronger than you think.

Dear me, I feel so proud of you,
you’ve made it out alive.

You’re happy now with all you’ve gained,
you’ve reached all things for which you strived.

Acknowledgements
We dedicate this strategy to the communities we serve across Bradford District and Craven. 

Our gratitude goes to everyone - people, carers, colleagues in frontline roles, operational 
and strategic leadership and our partners - for their support in helping to deliver this plan.

Page 174



3

Table of contents
Executive summary: happy, healthy at home ............................................................................................................4

Healthy Minds – overview ......................................................................................................................................................... 6

Working together – our principles and framework ..............................................................................................15

Our work programmes ............................................................................................................................................................ 16

    Mental health ..............................................................................................................................................................................17

    Learning disability ................................................................................................................................................................. 24

    Neurodiversity ...........................................................................................................................................................................27

    Substance use ............................................................................................................................................................................31

Our partnership ............................................................................................................................................................................ 34

    System priorities: Working with our health and care partnership priorities ................................. 34

    System enablers: Working with our enabler programmes ........................................................................35

Sustainability and social value ............................................................................................................................................36

    Volunteering for Healthy Minds  ...................................................................................................................................36

Measuring our success ........................................................................................................................................................... 38

Conclusion  ......................................................................................................................................................................................40

Notes on this strategy ............................................................................................................................................................... 41

Contacting us ................................................................................................................................................................................46

References ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 47

Page 175



4

Executive summary: happy, healthy at home
 
Healthy Minds is our strategic health and care system approach, to achieve better lives and 
improve the support we offer to people with mental health, substance use needs, learning 
disabilities or are neurodiverse. 

As a health and care system, we believe that when we ‘Act as One’ we can support people 
across Bradford District and Craven, with the best start in life and fulfil our shared purpose 
to ensure everyone can be ‘happy, healthy at home’. This ambition was set out in the 
Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership Strategy1 which was launched 
in 2022, where we set out our commitment to deliver for our population and our place by 
meeting people where they are, working with them to access the tools and opportunities to 
enable them to live longer in good health.

Where we live, study, work and develop relationships is important to ensure good mental 
and physical health and wellbeing. The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has shone a 
spotlight on long-standing health inequalities2 and the needs of our communities and we 
know that some communities struggled more than others. Our partnership approach led 
the way during the pandemic to come together, understand our population needs, build 
support and better access to care. As a district, we learned what is possible when we ‘Act as 
One’3 to make a difference for people who need us the most.

Our Healthy Minds Strategy sets our plan to promote, respect and improve the wellbeing 
of everyone to be active citizens, but also to prioritise our efforts for people needing access 
to care and support for mental health conditions, substance use, neurodivergent needs or 
those living with a learning disability.

This strategy has three clear priorities to achieve this ambition:

We established the Healthy Minds Board4 to bring together health and care partners 
to jointly oversee and propel our commitment to achieving the best outcomes for our 
population. We do this by understanding need, setting strategy, measuring outcomes, 
clearly defining our objectives and priorities and aligning resources, managing risk 
and overseeing the development and delivery of the all-age integrated mental health 
transformation programme. This ensures we deliver on the NHS Long Term Plan5 and 
statutory duties while maintaining a focus on prevention, protection, early intervention, 
and independence. This work will contribute to our West Yorkshire Integrated Care System6 
(ICS) partnership commitments.

1 2 3

We Act as One to keep 
people happy, healthy 

at home

Our purpose
Supporting the delivery of 
our priorities and a better 

experience of health 
and care

Our population
Making our district the 
best place to live, work 

and study

Our place
Greater value through the 
best use of our collective 

resources, minimising 
duplication and waste

Our partnership

Promote better lives respect rights; and improve support.

Page 176



5

We recognise the opportunities working closer together brings while making sure we 
understand and address the unique needs of individuals with mental health conditions, 
substance use issues, learning disability, autism and/or other neurodiverse needs. This 
strategy tries to be clear where appropriate on this distinction. We have learned a lot since 
we published our first partnership wellbeing strategy about being ambitious and dynamic, 
yet delivering on our commitments with realistic plans that are developed in partnership 
with people, our staff, and carers. 

We all have a part to play in making Bradford District and Craven a great 
place to live, work and study. As a partnership board, our role is to work 
together and make the biggest positive difference possible to enable 
people to live brighter, better lives.

Thank you.

Councillor Susan Hinchcliffe
Leader of Council and Chair of the  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
City of Bradford Metropolitan  
District Council

Iain MacBeath
Strategic Director, Adult Social Care and 
Health for Bradford Council 
Director of Integration for Bradford District 
Care NHS Foundation Trust
Chair of Healthy Minds Partnership Board 

Helen Davey
Co-chair of the Mental Health Provider 
Forum and Voluntary and Community 
Sector Lead for Mental health
Chief Executive, Mind in Bradford

Professor Mel Pickup
Place Lead, Bradford District and Craven 
Health and Care Partnership 
(NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board)
Chief Executive, Bradford Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust

Therese Patten
Chief Executive, Bradford District Care NHS 
Foundation Trust
Vice Chair of Healthy Minds Partnership 
Board

Dr Louise Clarke
Director of Strategy, Transformation, 
Primary, and Community
Priority Director for Healthy Communities
Bradford District and Craven Health and 
Care Partnership (NHS West Yorkshire 
Integrated Care Board)
 

Page 177



6

Healthy Minds – overview

Context

Vision

Outcomes

People living with mental health conditions, substance use, learning disability or 
neurodiversity experience poorest life expectancy and healthy life expectancy.

We will work together to meet increasing demand for support within a finite resource, 
delivering health and social care integration that is focussed on quality personalised 

outcomes for all.

Involve people so they are 
informed to make choices and 

receive equitable access 
to opportunities.

Support people with high 
quality, accessible, 

personalised care that 
promotes wellbeing.

Promote better lives Respect rights Improve support

Happy, healthy at home

If we do this, what will be di�erent...

Better lives

Partnership PurposePlacePopulation

Respect rights

Act as one to keep everyone happy, healthy at home

Improve support

• No gaps - services 
designed for people

• Integrated working
• Better transitions

• Support and care close 
to home

• Clear defined 
support routes

• Right care, right time
• High quality care
• Valued workforce

• Easy to access
• Reduced waiting times
• Needs-led not 

diagnosis-led

I am a person with 
abilities, possibilities 

and a future

I am supported 
through the stages 
of life where things 

can be dicult

I am not defined
by my mental health 

diagnosis and the 
level of distress

You

Promote better lives

You

Improve support
I have access to 

information, support 
and care that is close 

to home and meets 
my cultural choices

When I need help I can 
access it quickly and easily 
and services approach me 

with kindness, compassion 
and understanding

I will know the 
name of the person 

who coordinates 
my care

My family or carer
who may support me will be 

respected and actively 
involved in my care, with 

access to information and 
support they need

You

Respect rights
My voice is 
heard and 
included

I am supported to 
maintain my rights and 

dignity and to make 
choices that enable me 

to live a healthier, 
happier life

I am in control and 
actively involved in 

my care and 
support

Ask for my consent 
and share information 

appropriately so I 
don’t have to repeat 

myself

Page 178



7

Delivery framework

Guiding principles

System enablers

Specialist supportHealthy Communities 
Support in your community

Community support
Support to live well Support to get well

Urgent and emergency care
Support when you need it

Promote hope & better lives

Happy, healthy at home

Kindness and compassion in
our approach

Understanding awareness 
of trauma

No decision about me
without me

Co-designed

Challenge stigma and be 
inclusive

Reduce inequalities

No wrong door to services

Easy to move between 
services

Trusted shared assessments

High quality recovery 
focussed care

Page 179



8

Bradford District and Craven is the fifth-largest metropolitan district in England spanning 
rural and urban areas and representing 25% of the West Yorkshire population. Younger 
aged people dominate a large population of Bradford, and the city has the third-highest 
population percentage for people aged under 16 years in England and there is a rapidly 
growing older population. A review by the Centre for Mental Health7 highlighted the 
impact our demographics, housing, poverty, age, gender, and the COVID-19 pandemic 
has on people with mental health, substance use, neurodivergent needs or living with a 
learning disability. While we have challenges, the profile of both our population and district, 
bring with them opportunities and assets including diversity, entrepreneurship, resilience, 
creativity and ambition. 

The lived experience of people and carers is at the heart of our Healthy Minds Strategy. 
We have listened to people, carers and staff sharing their journeys, their challenges and 
their aspirations for how our services must evolve and what we must hold on to that works 
well. They told us why these three priorities are important, what this looks like for them in 
practice and what our outcomes should be.

Figure 1: Healthy Minds 
priorities and outcomes as 
codesigned by people, carers 
and practitioners.

Healthy Minds – promote, respect, improve

Involve people so they are 
informed to make choices and 

receive equitable access 
to opportunities.

Support people with high 
quality, accessible, 

personalised care that 
promotes wellbeing.

Promote better lives Respect rights Improve support

If we do this, what will be di�erent...

Better lives

Partnership PurposePlacePopulation

Respect rights

Act as one to keep everyone happy, healthy at home

Improve support

• No gaps - services 
designed for people

• Integrated working
• Better transitions

• Support and care close 
to home

• Clear defined 
support routes

• Right care, right time
• High quality care
• Valued workforce

• Easy to access
• Reduced waiting times
• Needs-led not 

diagnosis-led

I am a person with 
abilities, possibilities 

and a future

I am supported 
through the stages 
of life where things 

can be dicult

I am not defined
by my mental health 

diagnosis and the 
level of distress

You

Promote better lives

You

Improve support
I have access to 

information, support 
and care that is close 

to home and meets 
my cultural choices

When I need help I can 
access it quickly and easily 
and services approach me 

with kindness, compassion 
and understanding

I will know the 
name of the person 

who coordinates 
my care

My family or carer
who may support me will be 

respected and actively 
involved in my care, with 

access to information and 
support they need

You

Respect rights
My voice is 
heard and 
included

I am supported to 
maintain my rights and 

dignity and to make 
choices that enable me 

to live a healthier, 
happier life

I am in control and 
actively involved in 

my care and 
support

Ask for my consent 
and share information 

appropriately so I 
don’t have to repeat 

myself

Page 180



9

People with good mental wellbeing are more likely to have positive self-esteem, maintain 
good relationships, live and work productively and cope with the stresses of daily life. This 
is important for us all, but particularly so for people with substance use issues or those who 
live with a learning disability and/or autism who face many challenges to their resilience. 
Strong community infrastructure, a society that enhances rather than degrades mental 
wellbeing and high quality, accessible care services are extremely important in helping 
people maintain their mental wellbeing and be active citizens. 

One in four people across Bradford District and Craven will suffer from poor mental health 
at some point during their lives and those with a severe illness can die up to 21 years earlier 
than the rest of the population. The life expectancy gap for people with a learning disability 
is 33 years with the average age of death being 52 years, 48% of people die in hospital and 
only 21% where they usually live. Forty-eight per cent of people have five or more chronic 
health conditions8. Having a learning disability increases the likelihood of experiencing 
deprivation and poverty, and evidence shows being autistic limits the chances of people 
being able to work and look after their own health. The life expectancy gap for autistic 
people is approximately 16 years on average compared to the general population and 
almost 80% of autistic adults experience mental health problems during their lifetime9. 
People with substance use issues are more likely to have one or more long term chronic 
condition and experience barriers to access and support. For many people, mental health 
problems begin in childhood but stay with them and their families for life. Poorer mental 
health is often associated with higher rates of smoking and substance use, decreased social 
relationships and resilience. 

We know that people with mental health conditions, or with substance use issues or 
those who live with a learning disability and/or autism experience social and economic 
disadvantage, prejudice, and exclusion resulting in poor health outcomes through their life 
journey. 

In 2019, we held a ‘big conversation’ where people across Bradford District told us they 
wanted somewhere to live where they feel safe and have their own front door, paid 
employment in an interesting job where they have colleagues and friends, someone to 
love, a relationship, family, the opportunity to talk about their hopes and dreams and make 
these happen. Together, we want to improve and promote our services, ensuring the rights 
of people and carers are respected and their voice is at the centre of our strategy and plans, 
so that everyone can live happy, healthy at home, with better lives and brighter futures. 

We know people’s lives are better when the organisations who provide health and care 
work well together, particularly at the times when people most need support. We also 
know that sharing good ways of working makes our resources go further, creates the best 
use of staff expertise and increases the quality and range of what we provide. This is our 
blueprint to unify everyone in delivering our vision for this priority population.
 

Page 181



10

Joining up mental health, learning disability, 
neurodiversity and substance use
People do not fit into single categories, we all have several inter-connected aspects 
of our life across gender, race, conditions or responsibilities. Bringing these distinct 
areas together under one strategy will help strengthen our understanding of common 
challenges for people with these conditions. This includes challenges faced by individuals 
and their carers, helping services make reasonable adjustments for people who need it, 
and ensuring access to physical health services, education and employment opportunities. 
We must also continue to address the unique needs of individuals with mental health 
conditions and substance use issues, learning disability, autism or other neurodiversity. 
This strategy tries to be clear where appropriate on this distinction. 

Throughout this strategy we recognise that Bradford District and Craven has excellent 
areas of practice and innovation to be proud of, yet we also know that there are areas of 
improvement, gaps and inequalities that we need to address. This strategy describes why 
we are making the improvements to services in our local places and across the health and 
care system, what will be different as a result, and how the partnership plays its role as part 
of delivering our ambitions. 

Our health and care organisations are working together to reduce the variation and 
inequalities in life expectancy and service provision. We will make a dedicated effort 
to prioritise people with mental health conditions, living with a learning disability, 
neurodiversity or substance use issues - particularly for those in minority groups or those 
facing additional barriers due to wider social factors as we recognise their challenges in 
comparison to the wider population. By using our collective expertise, money, staff and 
facilities we can improve outcomes; seeing fewer people in crisis, fewer people reliant on 
inpatient services and fewer people left behind without the support they need to lead a 
fulfilling, flourishing life.

If we do this, what will be different…

Better lives

Partnership PurposePlacePopulation

Respect rights

Act as one to keep everyone happy, healthy at home

Improve support

• No gaps - services 
designed for people

• Integrated working
• Better transitions

• Right care, right time
• High quality care
• Valued workforce

• Easy to access
• Reduced waiting times
• Needs-led not 

diagnosis-led

Page 182



11

Our strengths
Our communities
Community life, social connections and having a voice in local decisions are 
all factors that support good health and wellbeing. These community level 
determinants build control and resilience and can help buffer poor health and 
promote better health. We celebrate community diversity and are proud to be a 
City of Sanctuary that welcomes new people. 

Education
Being in education, employment or training or learning new skills are associated 
with a reduced risk of a range of negative mental and physical health outcomes, 
as well as better employment prospects.

Health and care 
We have a strong health and care economy which delivers specialist care and 
support. We are known for our innovative public services, a vibrant voluntary and 
community sector and powerful data and analytics through our Born in Bradford 
research powerhouse.

Culture and arts  
Arts and culture have a positive and healing impact on wellbeing. Our district 
boasts a strong cultural, agricultural and arts heritage, and as a district we will 
be the City of Culture UK in 2025 with an impressive celebration boosting our 
presence and identity.

Economy and enterprise
Bradford is home to 16,600 businesses, over 4000 voluntary and community 
services and a £12bn economy. We are the UK’s number one levelling up 
opportunity and we are progressing an ambitious pipeline of projects designed 
to benefit all our population. 

Faith and spirituality
Faith and spiritual practices can play a strong positive health factor for many 
people. Across our district, we have a strong multi-faith partnership that provides 
support, connectivity and resilience for communities and neighbourhoods. 

Partnership working  
Our strategic partnerships are excellent. The distributed leadership model in our 
place and our widely known ‘Act as One’ approach means Bradford is a place that 
other systems visit for advice and learn from our partnership-led approach.

Open spaces     
We are fortunate to have a range of open green spaces throughout our urban 
and rural areas and our district covers 142 square miles for Bradford and a vast 
453 square miles in Craven. We are one of the few cities outside of London to 
establish a Clean Air Zone.

Food industry 
Easily accessible and nutritious food can reduce health inequalities, improve 
health and wellbeing. We have a strategy that aims to raise the profile of good 
food and create a secure and sustainable food supply chain that strengthens our 
local economy.

Page 183



12

Our challenges
Population
We have a population of 657,579 people 
including around 50,000 living in Craven. 
Half of our people live in the city of Bradford, 
the rest live in the small towns and rural 
areas of Craven and the Aire and Wharfe 
valleys in the north of our district across 
a landscape that brings transport and 
connectivity challenges.

Life expectancy and healthy life 
expectancy
The maps below of Bradford District and 
Craven highlight the variation for both life 
expectancy and healthy life expectancy. 
Across our district, life expectancy varies in 
average by 9.6 years and for the population 
with severe mental illness or with autism 
can vary up to 16 years, while for learning 
disability by as much as 21 years (Figure 
2a). Equally alarming is that the healthy life 
expectancy of the general population can 
vary by 20 years but for people with a severe 
mental illness or learning disability, this can 
vary between 20 and 33 years (Figure 2b).10

Deprivation
We have persistently high levels of 
deprivation and our District is England’s 
fifth most income-deprived area. More than 
a third of our population live in poverty. 
Almost a third of children are eligible for 
free school meals. Whilst wards around 
central Bradford and Keighley appear in the 
10% most deprived wards in the country, 
wards in the Wharfe Valley are in the 10% 
least deprived nationally. 

Housing
Housing has a big part to play not only in 
improving health and wellbeing, but also in 
improving financial stability for households. 
A third of our houses were built before 1910s 
and we not only need new good quality 
housing, but homes for a diverse population 
with differing needs. This includes homes 
for larger families and those which meet 
cultural needs, homes adapted for people 
with disabilities and homes which are 
inclusive and accessible for a range of needs 
and changing circumstances.

Ingleton

Settle

82.0  85.0
81.2  83.0

Skipton
76.2  84.2 Ilkley

81.0  85.1

Keighley
74.9  78.0

Bingley

80.2  83.5

Shipley
76.7  81.8

Bradford City

73.5 82.6

Ingleton

Settle

64.9  70.2
64.0  70.4

Skipton
61.5  62.4 Ilkley

70.7  71.4

Keighley
56.9  55.3

Bingley

67.4  68.9

Shipley
62.0  64.3

Bradford City

52.0  50.6

Figure 2A: Life expectancy Figure 2B: Healthy life expectancy

Page 184



13

Employment
The proportion of the working age 
population is lower in Bradford than 
the average for England. The impact of 
financial pressures and cost of living are 
putting pressure on some of the poorest 
communities across our District. Weekly 
wages are £68 below the national average 
and unemployment is above average. In-
work poverty has increased in the city above 
average to elsewhere in England. Financial 
insecurity has huge implications for people’s 
mental health and life expectancy and is 
the largest single factor that perpetuates 
mental health inequality.11

Children and young people
Almost 40% of children live in the poorest 
areas, 20% of households are four times 
more likely to have serious mental health 
difficulties by the age of 11. Locally our 
children’s services have 1587 children who 
are looked after and 6190 children open to 
children social care services – these figures 
are almost double national averages. Born 
in Bradford data shows higher than national 
average number of children with anxiety 
and depression. The health inequalities 
for children with learning disability and 
neurodiversity are widening. 

Education
We have an educational attainment gap 
between Bradford and the rest of the 
country that persists and the number of 
people with good qualifications is relatively 
low. 4093 children and young people have 
an education, health and care plan (EHCP), 
14,044 children and young people have a 
Special Education Needs support plan and 
31% of children at age six are not school 
ready. 

Investment
National funding, and local prioritisation, 
has historically seen mental health, learning 
disability, substance use and autism 
services under-funded. The Mental Health 
Investment Standard seeks to protect 
investment however, it is not in line with 
population need, rising demand or wider 
context of children’s services and social 
care pressures and subject to cost-saving 
exercises which target mental health 
disproportionately as ‘easy to identify’ 
savings. Our local economy has declared a 
deficit budget and this will further impact 
on our services and communities. More 
work needs to be done to ensure we invest 
further in support for children, minority 
communities and trauma-informed 
support.

Workforce
There are significant challenges with 
recruitment and retention of our health, 
care and community sector workforce and 
the pandemic has had a negative impact on 
the wellbeing of staff. Specialist and skilled 
training places and access to training for our 
future workforce is a national issue too. 

Estates
The lack of available estate and equipment 
to address increasing demand and the 
management of people in the community 
is a challenge. There are some specific 
constraints around our existing estate 
that need to be managed and support our 
ambitions to integrate and co-locate our 
staff and services.

Demand
There is an increasing demand for all health 
and care services and our population is 
presenting to services with more complex 
conditions. Managing this alongside our 
targeted work to address the backlog from 
the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in 
significant system pressure.

Page 185



14

COVID-19
Across Bradford District and Craven, we 
witnessed a strong partnership between 
communities and services during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. While many people 
have acted in solidarity, and there are some 
positive benefits from this community spirit 
and response, evidence shows that the 
pandemic is having a detrimental impact 
on the mental health of some people and 
the widening of health inequalities for 
people who experienced challenges before 
the pandemic. 

Young in Covid12, a series created by 
young people, provides an account of 
how lockdowns and Covid restrictions 
have impacted young people in Bradford 
and explores some of the ways in which 
young people have found solutions to their 
problems and looks at ongoing issues such 
as mental health.

Our work on our Rapid Needs Review13 - 
and the subsequent partnership delivery 
of support-established learning and good 
practice for changing and transforming the 
way we engage, support and care for  
people and is the foundation of our ‘Act as 
One’ ethos. 

Locally, we know that the number of people 
seeking help via our child and adolescent 
mental health services (CAMHS) has 
increased by 32% and our Talking Therapies 
services by 24% than before the pandemic. 
Our Community Companions service which 
supports older people with mental health 
conditions or learning disabilities and our 
wellbeing, counselling and Safe Spaces have 
all seen an exponential rise in their referrals. 
Our services are not seeing demand return 
to pre-pandemic levels. 

The behaviours and environments needed 
to curtail the spread of COVID-19 are known 
risk factors for mental health difficulties. 
The diagram below shows potential health 
impacts of COVID-19 across the life course 
which we will factor into our programmes  
of work.

Page 186



15

Working together – our principles and framework
Our ambition is to move away from a system that is based on thresholds and tiers to enable 
people to access information, advice, support and care based on their needs. 

Working together with people accessing our services, their carers, with staff and partners 
we shared experience and expertise on understanding how we improve the support 
available. The result is we have adopted, and adapted, the evidence-based model called 
i-Thrive14 to provide a whole system approach for our services to support children, young 
people, adults, and older adults to be happy, healthy at home and have agreed a series of 
clear guiding principles to deliver and improve our support.

Each of the groupings are distinct in terms of the needs and/or choices of the individuals 
and enable us to ensure we have the right workforce, with skills that mix, and resources 
required to meet the needs and choice of people. We will underpin this with our focus on 
public health, addressing inequalities and maintaining mental wellbeing through effective 
prevention and protection strategies that are community-based.

Figure 3: Our framework and guiding principles codesigned by people, carers and practitioners

Guiding
principles:

Healthy 
communities

Urgent and 
emergency 

care Community
support

You will have easier access 
to the right support for your 

wellbeing, mental health 
and physical health when 

and where you need it.

Specialist 
community support

Our specialist and focused care to support you 
to recover and live well, whether you’re in 

hospital, residential care, supported 
accommodation

or at home.

Our urgent and emergency 
care will provide round the 

clock support and care that 
you need when you 

experience a mental
health crisis.

Fa

mily Friend

Carer Social

You

Supportto
livewell

Support in your community

Support to get well

Su
pp

or
tw

he
n

yo
u

ne
ed

it

It is easier to get advice and support 
where you live with the things that impact 

your mental health and wellbeing.

Promote hope & better lives

Happy, healthy at home

Kindness and compassion in 
our approach

Understanding awareness 
of trauma

No decision about me 
without me

Co-designed

Challenge stigma and be 
inclusive

Reduce inequalities

No wrong door to services

Easy to move between 
services

Trusted shared assessments

High quality recovery 
focussed care

Promote better lives Respect rights Improve support

Page 187



16

Our Healthy Minds programmes

Figure 4: Our Healthy Minds programme structure

Figure 3 (on page 14) sets out how the Healthy Minds Partnership will deliver our work, both 
meeting the statutory commitments and improving our services through transformation 
and investment. It is a framework that easily enables integration with our wider health 
and care partnership priorities to ensure we are holistically supporting the health and care 
needs of people of all ages. The principles, co-designed with partners and those who are 
involved In receiving our services, to make sure we are guided by what matters. 

If the above provides the ‘how’ we will deliver our priorities, then the below diagram 
provides a description of what we will do. It is a high-level overview of what approach and 
areas of work we have.

Promote better lives Respect rights Improve support

Our Programmes of work

Living Well • Reducing inequalities • People development • Data & outcomes • Research & innovation 

Shared leadership and programme team

• Wellbeing and prevention
• Housing, employment 

and opportunities

Community mental health
• Community support
• Specialist care

Right Care, Right Person
• Urgent and acute care
• Crisis alternatives

Childrens’ mental health

Flourishing lives
• Choice and control

Transforming care
• Supporting people with 

learning disability and/or 
autism to access care and 
support in the community

• Becoming a 
Neurodiverse district

• Access, support and 
treatment

• Research and strategy
• Bespoke mental 

wellbeing support

• Harm reduction
• Rough Sleepers 
• Early intervention 
• Justice and probation
• Recovery focus
• Access and treatment
• Integrated care

• Co-production
• Advocacy and advice

• Preparation for adulthood

• Building the right support
• Workforce and Leadership

• Physical health

Mental health Learning disability Neurodiversity Substance use

Healthy Minds Partnership

Delivery group Delivery group Oversight group Alcohol and drug 
strategy group

Page 188



17

Mental health

People’s mental health and wellbeing can change and anyone can develop a mental 
health problem. But the factors that increase the risk of poor mental health or promote 
good mental health, are not distributed equally across our district. This means that certain 
communities or groups are more likely to have poor mental health and to find it more 
difficult when they try to get help. 

We held a Healthy Minds summit in 2019 and have set out our ambition to move away from 
siloed, hard-to-reach services towards joined up care and whole population approaches 
that established a revitalised purpose and identity for mental health services. And while 
we have delivered some excellent, award-winning work, we know more needs to be done 
around three big areas: community mental health, acute care settings and children and 
young people’s mental health.

The overall ambition is to enable support, closer to where people live, promoting easy 
access rather than automatically referring people onto mental health teams and into other 
organisations as a gateway into secondary care. 

Developing priority actions 
Delivering our NHS Long Term Plan requirements means we’ve made some progress to 
improve our services. The protected investment gave an opportunity to address the historic 
gaps in service investment and work towards radically changing the design of community 
mental health care. 

We have established programmes of work that aim to transform the present offer and 
it is not envisaged that these will stop as we strive for better mental health for everyone. 
This includes looking to strengthen the early help and preventive offer, developing our 
community mental health services and transforming the way we deliver acute and 
emergency support for people presenting with mental health crisis. Our Healthy Minds 
Partnership Board is vital in progressing this and we will establish an Alliance structure, in 
keeping with our West Yorkshire partners, to deliver our ambitions. 

Reducing stigma, developing trust within and between communities, improving services, 
and working across organisational boundaries to meet people’s physical and mental health 
needs, is dependent upon changing how we think and feel about mental health and relies 
upon organisations and systems working together in new ways. 

Page 189



18

Healthy communities  
We’re making it easier to get advice, guidance and practical help where people live 
with the things that can support their mental wellbeing within their communities. 
• Promote and develop services that are hyper-local and support people reach for 

their hopes and dreams and connect to opportunities that make these happen
• Support the coproduction and mobilisation of the Core Model15 in alignment with 

Healthy Communities 
• Promote our Healthy Minds online ‘Support finder’ to offer people advice and 

information (available through www.healthyminds.services) 

Promote better lives 
Promote wellbeing and supporting people to live an independent, healthier and 
fulfilling life with the aim helping people being part of their local communities.

Respect rights 
Deliver community led support that promotes choice and centres the respect and 
dignity of people to reduce inequalities and uphold their Human Rights. 

Improve support 
• We will establish new and integrated models of primary and community 

mental health care to support adults and older adults who have severe mental 
illnesses, so that they will have greater choice and control over their care and be 
supported to live well in their communities

• We will establish more comprehensive 24/7 mental health crisis services across 
our district that are able to meet the continuum of needs and preferences for 
accessing crisis care, whether it be in communities, people’s homes, emergency 
departments or inpatient services.

What have people and carers told us about services that we need to address:

• People stuck between primary care and secondary mental health services 
• People not ‘fitting into boxes’ and needs not being met
• Long waiting times, referrals going to wrong service, multiple assessments and hand offs 

– pathways and service exclusions are not working for our population
• Lack of sufficient evidence-based treatment and psychological therapy waiting lists
• People being seen and described as a “risk”
• People struggling to access support for wider determinants e.g., housing, money, 

employment, social support and early help
• Physical health inequalities and poor physical health outcomes.

What we will do:

Page 190

http://www.healthyminds.services


19

Community support – supporting people to live well 
People will have easier access to the right support for their mental and physical health, 
and wellbeing in their community when and where they need it.
• Connect a range of multi-professional and multi-agency teams to deliver needs led 

support when people need it and support them to maintain their wellbeing. 
• Drive the improvements to embed the severe mental illness (SMI) physical health 

pathway 
• Develop and implement referral pathways with substance use, domestic abuse and 

advocacy services 
• Design a system approach to the personalised co-ordination of care (moving away 

from the current Care Programme Approach16 (CPA) arrangements)
• Carers support and prevention.

Specialist community support – supporting people to get well 
Our specialist and focused care supports people to recover and live well, whether 
they’re in a hospital rehabilitating, residential care, supported accommodation or 
at home.
• Personalised care met by a multi-disciplinary team from the different social and 

health care, and voluntary and community sector organisation 
• Eating disorders: support the development of our community-based integrated 

eating disorder offer focussing on early intervention and improved physical 
health monitoring

• Community rehabilitation: support a review of the current pathway and make 
recommendations to develop community and specialist rehabilitation offers that 
offer integrated health and care support

• Complex emotional needs: develop and improve pathways for people to receive 
specialist trauma informed support 

• Increase and diversify the workforce including new roles.

Urgent and emergency care
Deliver 24/7 urgent and emergency care that will provide people the support they 
need when they experience a mental health crisis
• Support the move to an integrated urgent care mental health telephone crisis and 

support line 
• Support the development of a clear plan to support 111 mobilisation and align 

pathways with community mental health services and specialist rehabilitation 
support

• Deliver a crisis house offer and expand our safer space offers that provide people 
with alternatives to crisis admissions and emergency visits

• Design our mental health liaison to be an all-age service so that any person 
experiencing a mental health crisis in an acute setting receives the appropriate 
response or outcome to meet their needs and have an evidence-based care package

• Increase our in-reach support, reduce inpatient admission stays and eliminate out of 
area placements.

Page 191



20

What will be different?
• Joined up services with a skilled and confident workforce
• Improved access and reduced waiting times to evidence-based interventions based 

on need
• High quality personalised services that promote independence and recovery, and
• Support that is close to where people live.

Spotlight - Bradford Crisis House
The Bradford Crisis House is an alternative to a hospital admission for adults over 18, 
who live in Bradford District and Craven, whose recovery would be better supported 
in a residential community setting. This is a partnership between Bradford District 
Care NHS Foundation Trust, social care (Bradford Council) and Creative Support (a 
community sector organisation). 

In the first 10 weeks of opening, the service welcomed 20 people, the average length 
of stay was five days and 19 people did not require an ongoing hospital admission. 
The house provides a safe, homely space where guests receive therapeutic short-term 
support when experiencing a mental health crisis. The service has been co-designed 
by people and has been a long ambition expressed by people who have experienced 
crisis admission in the past. 

Crisis support workers are available to support guests 24/7 during their stay, helping 
them throughout their crisis. In addition to this support, all guests have a daily one-
to-one contact session with the Intensive Home Treatment Team (IHTT) workers. 
This partnership between IHTT and crisis support workers, ensures guests receive 
the appropriate therapeutic support during their stay, and that the correct follow-on 
support is set up when guests leave the service. People can stay for up to seven days.

 
Some of the presenting reasons for people’s crisis were: 
• suicidal thoughts    • feeling unsafe at home 
• recent trauma    • self-neglect
• low mood and anxiety   • depression 
• loss of job     • end of relationship 
• bereavement    • intrusive thoughts 
• psychotic symptom 

Feedback by people who have stayed include: 
“My time here has been really helpful; staff have been really empathetic and  
non-judgemental. Staff have provided helpful distractions and techniques to help 
regulate my emotions.” 
“Very good time, appreciate all the support and help. Nice environment and people. 
Great caring staff who are very helpful and are always wanting to support. I feel calmer 
after this experience, a big thanks to all the staff working here, legends.” 
“I have been well looked after, staff are very professional and supportive. Lots of time 
spent listening to me and providing reassurance and life direction.”

Page 192



21

Children and young people’s 
mental health

In 2020, we carried out a system review17 of our mental health support for children and 
young people. This highlighted key areas of need and good practice and a clear plan for 
improving the support we offer to children, young people and families. Brighter Futures is 
our plan of work, and we will continue to deliver on the recommendations set out in the 
report and transform services in line with the NHS Long Term Plan. This Healthy Minds 
Strategy gives us an opportunity to pause, reflect and align our efforts in achieving the 
outcomes and to further the aims of Future in Mind, the national strategy that focuses on 
children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. 

Promote better lives 
A focus on prevention, early help and enabling positive mental wellbeing and 
greater opportunities to thrive at school or at home.

Respect rights 
Involving children, young people and families, supporting informed choice, and 
keeping children safe.

Improve support 
Improve access to evidence-based support, integrating children’s mental health 
services with a needs-led outcome focus using the i-Thrive model.

i-THRIVE takes a needs-led approach to support, has the voice of children and young 
people at the heart of decision making and focuses on creating a proactive prevention offer 
based on collaboration and partnership working.

Page 193



22

Healthy Communities  
(Thriving)
Prevention and promotion: Work with communities, children and young 
people to co-create what works to protect their wellbeing 
Healthy Minds in Schools: Whole school approaches with our Healthy Minds 
resource pack for schools, Healthy Minds champions, charter, wellbeing 
practitioners and support teams 

Support in your community  
(Get advice)
Healthy Minds website (www.healthyminds.services): Our digital doorway 
to information, advice and support and embed this with Living Well Schools

Support to live well  
(Get help)
Easy access: Implement the i-THRIVE framework and establish a one  
front door for accessing support

Support to get well  
(Get more help)
Improve waiting times and range of support 

Support when you need it  
(Urgent support, risk and safeguarding)
Focus on children who need more support and have trauma  
informed approaches.

What will be different
• We will increase the early intervention and prevention approach for children and 

young people
• We will join up services, so children and young people experience seamless care 

and support
• We will reduce waiting to access evidence-based support
• We will support children, young people and families to live their full potential.

Children and young people’s mental health

Page 194

http://www.healthyminds.services


23

Spotlight – Know Your Mind 
Ten-year-old Asian British boy, Sanjeev* was referred to the Know Your Mind (KYM) 
service through our joint worker in primary care. He was experiencing pains in his 
body caused by anxiety and was unable to attend school. He was on a reduced 
timetable of two half days per week. Sanjeev had experienced separation trauma 
in 2021 when his mum remarried and he had to leave his home and move in with 
his dad and half-brother with whom he had a turbulent relationship. 
During Sanjeev’s “get to know you” session with his KYM worker, he explained 
that he was struggling to sleep, experiencing high levels of anxiety and having 
distressing thoughts about death. Using the goals-based outcomes (GBO) self-
rated outcome measure, Sanjeev set a goal with his KYM worker to “return to 
school and feel more confident there” and rated current state as 2/10 at the start of 
support. 
Sanjeev and his KYM worker worked alongside mum, dad and the school nurture 
team, tailoring our approach around Sanjeev’s goal. Over a period of eight weekly 
one to one sessions, the KYM worker engaged Sanjeev in a range of activities that 
“got him into his body”, reflecting and addressing trauma. This included physical 
games, drama-based grounding exercises, voice work for confidence, breathing 
exercises to help regain control of heightened emotions and psychoeducation 
around intrusive thoughts, anxiety and the physical effects of anxiety. They also 
did work together with Sanjeev, dad and school staff around boundaries and 
confidence-building within the home and school settings. 
At the end of the eight week support with KYM, Sanjeev had made significant 
progress towards his goal; he is now attending school on a full-time schedule, is 
always on time to school, is feeling happy in his friendship circle and is excited 
about transitioning to year 6. He stated that he no longer experiences pain in his 
body and has improved his relationship with mum and dad. He also stated that he 
no longer thinks about death and instead thinks about the universe and questions 
relating to life and recognises that these are “existential thoughts” which lots of 
people with great minds think about. 
Sanjeev rated his progress against his goal at the end of support as 9/10, an 
increase of +7 from the 2/10 he rated the goal at the start of support. The reliable 
change index (indicating statistically significant change) for GBO is +3 or more. 
Sanjeev also gave all of his support sessions with his KYM worker a 5/5 satisfaction 
score and stated, “It’s been really fun and now I know about all the different types 
of emotions and what I can do to feel better”.
Know Your Mind is a service delivered by our Youth in Mind lead provider, Mind in 
Bradford. 
*Names have been changed for confidentiality. 

Page 195



24

People with learning disabilities have the same aspirations as everyone else – to be happy 
and healthy at home. Evidence suggests people with a learning disability have a much 
shorter life expectancy than the general population - with six out 10 people with learning 
disabilities dying before the age of 65, compared to one out of 10 for people from the 
general population. Those with epilepsy and from minority ethnic backgrounds were more 
likely to die younger18. This means we need to ensure that not only are health services 
making reasonable adjustments to ensure that they are accessible to everyone but that 
as a district we are supporting people with learning disabilities to live as healthy a life as 
possible, making sure they have access to employment, good housing, physical activity and 
can enjoy choice and exercise their rights. 

The NHS Long Term Plan identifies that work will be done to tackle causes of morbidity and 
preventable deaths for people with learning disabilities. There is also a focus on ensuring 
people with a learning disability can live in the community, with the right support19. This 
means we need to provide accessible, equitable and empowering opportunities for people 
of all ages in all areas of their lives.

Learning disability

Promote better lives 
• Help people with learning disabilities to achieve their aspirations
• Work together to reduce health inequalities and therefore the number of 

preventable deaths

Respect rights 
• Uphold people’s rights
• Work with people with lived experience prioritising co-production in our work

Improve support 
• Ensure that people get the right support at the right time in their local 

community or least restrictive setting
• Build strong connectivity with health and care services, to support safe and 

effective transitions
• Work in partnership with providers from both the independent and voluntary 

sector to improve access to support

Page 196



25

The overarching focus for our programme is to reduce health inequalities, we will work to 
reduce the gap in life expectancy for people with learning disabilities. This includes goals 
such as ensuring that 75% of people aged over 14 on the primary care learning disabilities 
register will have an annual health check and accessible health action plan. We continue to 
work to this target and achieved it in 2022/23 and this will continue to be a priority across 
the District. 

The STOMP and STAMP (stopping over medication of people with learning disabilities) 
programmes are also key areas of work for both children and adults with learning 
disabilities, with antipsychotic prescribing rates higher in these populations than those 
without learning disabilities. This prescribing can be appropriate at times, but to ensure this 
is the case, regular medication reviews are required, and medication should never be seen 
as the first port of call – for many people having choice and control over their lives can help 
reduce the need for medications. 

Our services continue to evolve to reflect the findings from our local Learning Disability 
Mortality Review (LeDeR) reports, engagement with the Learning Disabilities Improvement 
Standards within NHS trusts and the roll out of the mandated learning disabilities and 
autism awareness training, across all Care Quality Commission regulated providers. This 
will continue to help improve awareness across services of the need to make reasonable 
adjustments in order to support people with learning disabilities to access the right support 
at the right time. This should reduce barriers to services such as routine cancer screening 
offers, or hospital admission pathways that can at time make it difficult for people to get 
the health care they need. 

To deliver this work we are focusing on several cross-cutting areas, improving early 
intervention and prevention (particularly for age range 0-25 years), market development 
(including more housing options), service developments and increasing workforce capacity 
and capability. 

Healthy communities  
Flourishing lives - we will work with people with learning disabilities so that they 
have choice and control, can exercise their rights, and meet the outcomes they 
want to achieve in areas that are important to them. 

Support to live well
Building the right support - we will review our commissioned services to improve 
early intervention services, identify any gaps or duplication, develop more  
housing options, to ensure people have the right support in the right place, at the 
right time.
Physical health - stopping over medication of people with learning disabilities and 
improving the physical health of people with learning disabilities.
Preparation for adulthood - we will work across the system, to ensure smooth 
transitions for young people, as they prepare for adulthood.

Page 197



26

Support to get well and support when you need it 
Transforming Care – we will reduce inappropriate hospital admissions and the 
number of people with a learning disability in locally commissioned inpatient 
settings through access to joined up community services and effective crisis 
support. This will include having good local resources in place and access to 
specialist support as required (including robust Care and Education Treatment 
Review (CETR), Care and Treatment review (CTR) and Dynamic Support Register 
(DSR) systems).

What will be different
• People with learning disabilities can access universal health services through 

reasonable adjustments and all have accessible health action plans.
• Improved health and outcomes of individuals with learning disabilities.
• More people are accessing support within their local communities and living 

independently.
• There will be a wider range of support and accommodation options for people 

with learning and physical disabilities.
• More people will have Direct Payments and Individual Service Funds.
• We will reduce the number of avoidable admissions to our Assessment and 

Treatment Unit (ATU). 

Spotlight - Respiratory Pathway and Keeping  
My Chest Healthy Digital Hub  
In response to the high rates of respiratory issues for people with learning 
disabilities highlighted by Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR), Bradford 
District Care NHS Foundation Trust (BDCT) clinicians supported by the Working 
Academy at the University of Bradford worked in partnership with people with 
learning disabilities, their families and carers to co-produce a digital resource.   
The respiratory pathway and website will support people to manage their 
respiratory health at home by providing of suite of accessible videos and text 
guidance available in multiple languages. The site is enabled for use on both 
tablets and phones and can be accessed by scanning the QR code that is 
embedded in an individual’s Keeping My Chest Healthy care plan.   
The Keeping My Chest Healthy digital hub launched in September 2023. The 
development of the digital hub has followed on from the respiratory pathway and 
screening work that has been done by BDCT’s learning disability health support 
team.  

Page 198



27

Neurodiversity

Neurodiversity describes a term of understanding that people think and feel, experience, 
and interact differently with the world; that these differences are normal and to be 
expected, celebrated, and not treated as deficits. 

Autism, attention deficit disorder (ADHD), dyslexia and dyspraxia are examples of 
neurodevelopmental conditions. They are ‘spectrum’ conditions, which means they come 
with a wide range of characteristics of how people learn and process the world around 
them. Autism and other neurodevelopmental conditions are diagnosed by a trained 
professional and while only a minority of the population will meet the diagnostic criteria, a 
larger proportion will share neurodivergent traits and require support. 

The evidence is clear: with early identification and appropriate adaptations and support, 
the majority of neurodivergent people can live happy and productive lives, achieving well in 
mainstream schools, finding rewarding employment and making significant contributions 
to arts, culture, civic society, and community. The benefits to individuals and wider society 
are clear. 

It is equally clear that without the right support, and especially where they are growing up 
and living in poverty, neurodivergent people face significantly greater risks: of educational 
failure, poor mental and physical health, unemployment, exposure to criminality and other 
harms. This is the reality for an increasing number of our neurodivergent children and 
adults; the costs to individuals and wider society are increasing and unaffordable. 

Page 199



28

Promote better lives 
We want Bradford District and Craven to become a neurodiverse friendly 
district. We need to improve understanding of neurodiversity among the 
general population as well as those working with neurodiverse individuals. Being 
‘neurodiverse friendly’ means adapting and creating inclusive environments, 
places, policy and services in which everyone can thrive – both people with 
diagnosable neurodivergent conditions and those with neurodivergent traits
Develop resources – we need to build capacity across the district, to adapt 
environments. This includes making resources available, where needed. We 
will use the opportunities that the UK City of Culture Bradford 2025 brings to 
accelerate this ambition.

Respect rights 
People who are neurodiverse have the right to the same opportunities as anyone 
else and should be treated with dignity and respect. 
Coproduction – our core ethos is enabling and involving neurodivergent people, 
their families, and their carers to not only have their voices heard on what they 
think is important but to give them the power to make the changes they want  
to see. 
Reducing inequalities – is a specific focus, but also features intrinsically across 
the other programme areas. We want to develop a better understanding of the 
inequalities neurodiverse people face and improve people’s health outcomes. New 
research by the Centre for Applied Education Research provides valuable insights 
on the way characteristics like gender, ethnicity and poverty affect everything from 
attitudes to autism and the time taken to access diagnostic services. 
Employment – being employed is a protective factor for most people and 
neurodivergent people are no different. Every person has a right to be included in 
the workplace but often employers lack the knowledge, confidence, capacity or 
skills to adjust workplace and job roles. We will develop confidence in employers to 
develop inclusive practices to uphold people’s rights but also recognise the value 
neurodivergent people bring to the organisation, the economy, and their own 
quality of life. 

What we will do
We will implement a strategy of change and improvement in line with the national strategy 
for autistic children, young people and adults.

Page 200



29

Improve support 
Building the right support – the evidence shows that neurodivergent children 
and adults face greater risks of mental ill health, particularly if they have not 
received the support they need, early enough, or where they have also faced 
other adversities (poverty, poor education, poor housing etc). We will improve 
the support we provide neurodivergent people so they can live healthy, safe, and 
ordinary lives, that include relationships, education, training, employment and 
access to good healthcare. 
Mental health and physical health – we know that we need to address the 
physical and mental health inequalities that exist for neurodivergent people. 
Neurodiversity is not a mental health condition, but often, due to a lack of 
recognition of their neurodivergent traits and because of inappropriate support, 
many children and adults on the neurodivergent spectrum experience mental ill 
health. They also are more likely to have physical health conditions investigated 
much later than people who are neurotypical and this impacts on the quality and 
length of healthy years lived. We will develop and increase the range of appropriate 
community support to prevent neurodivergent people reaching crisis and having 
unnecessary hospital admissions.
Preparation for adulthood – we want every young neurodivergent person to 
have a clear pathway for transition from being a child to being an adult which 
is developed at the right time for the person and includes access to a range of 
suitable timely support. We will improve transitions into adulthood through earlier 
discussion, planning, information and advice and guidance.
Workforce – neurodivergent people have different skills to bring to the workplace 
and with the right support, they make a valuable contribution in the work 
environment. The diversity of abilities is an asset to be celebrated in the workplace. 
We will develop confidence in employers to develop inclusive recruitment 
approaches and recognise the value and benefits that neurodivergent people 
bring to the economy, and improve their own mental wellbeing and quality of life. 
Increased access and diagnostic capacity – assessments are important but not 
all people with neurodivergent characteristics meet the diagnostic threshold; 
those who do often find their diagnosis offers no guarantee of the right support. 
We will use our framework to establish a needs-led system: one that gives 
practitioners the resources, skills and tools to build the right support earlier, and 
respond to needs faster, whether they are referred for assessment or not. We 
will ensure people who do require a neuro-assessment can get one, in line with 
statutory timelines. We will increase our diagnostic capacity to reduce and sustain 
reductions in waiting times for assessments.

What will be different
• Bradford District and Craven to become a neurodiverse friendly district. 
• More people are accessing support in a timely way within their local 

communities to live independently.
• There will be a wider range of support and accommodation options for people 

with autism and sensory impairments.
• Increase the number of people recruited to and retaining meaningful 

employment.

Page 201



30

Spotlight: Evidence-led approaches to early  
identification and support 
The ‘SUCCESS’ trial: Born in Bradford research has shown a strong link between 
the scores children received within their Early Years Foundational Stage Profile 
(EYFSP), SEND and autism diagnosis.
Bradford’s Education Opportunity Area worked with local schools, representatives 
from the Department of Health and Social Care, public health and Bradford 
District Care NHS Foundation Trust to test ‘SUCCESS’. This approach combines 
tools to help teachers identify children who may benefit from further diagnostic 
assessment with multidisciplinary team deployment into schools to carry out 
those assessments.
The trial demonstrated the ‘SUCCESS’ approach offered both efficiencies and 
wider benefits to all. This has been adopted successfully by other areas and is 
nationally recognised.
The Electronic Developmental Support Tool is a fast, easy to use, digital aid for 
teachers: to identify more accurately and meet more quickly children’s learning 
and support needs, without requiring support from specialist education or 
health professionals. It has been developed by the Centre for Applied Education 
Research and Bradford’s Education Psychology team. The EDST is not a diagnostic 
tool but draws on proven evidence. It is designed to be completed by teachers, 
with parents, and overseen by SENCOs, for all children, to help schools identify 
and meet needs at the earliest possible opportunity. The EDST is currently being 
trialled in 13 schools in Bradford. The trial is expected to expand to a further 
50 schools, from January 2024, when it will include a Digital Advice Bank, 
automatically identifying recommendations for evidence-based support and 
interventions, appropriate to the needs identified through the tool.

Page 202



31

Substance use

In line with the NHS Long Term Plan, we want to create a system where no one with 
substance use issues falls through the gaps in health and social care services. We will 
treat addiction as a chronic health condition, where people who need it can easily access 
support and treatment. We will address system gaps by introducing effective pathways and 
better integration. 

The Alcohol and Drugs Strategic Group, accountable to the Combating Drugs Partnership, 
is working with local and national partners to deliver the strategic priorities of the national 
10-year drug strategy ‘From harm to hope’. There is a particular focus currently on the 
priority to ‘improve treatment and recovery systems’ by breaking supply chains and achieve 
a generational shift in the demand for drugs.

Promote better lives 
We want to create a system where everyone with a substance use issue has access 
to opportunities to live life to their potential.

Respect rights 
We want to create a system where no one with substance use issues falls through 
the gaps. 

Improve support 
We will treat addiction as a chronic health condition, where people who need it 
can easily access support and treatment. 
We will address system gaps by introducing effective easy to access pathways and 
better integration.

Page 203



32

What we will do 
 
There will be two main principles guiding improvements to substance use access and 
treatment:
1. Everyone’s job: a joint approach from drug and alcohol and mental health providers and 

commissioners is required to meet the needs of people with co-occurring conditions.
2. No wrong door: providers in mental health, drug and alcohol treatment and other 

providers should have an open door to people experiencing co-occurring conditions 
and treatment should be accessible through every contact point, making every contact 
count.

Our priorities for the Bradford District and Craven are:

Delivery and accountability through local strategic and operational 
groups consisting of wider partners.

Healthy communities  
• Prevention starts early in life
• Criminal justice system: continuity of care between prison and community and 

enhanced partnership recovery activity.

Support to live well
• Early identification and wider health: screening, reducing stigma and 

engagement for all
• Support people to maintain stable tenancies. 

Support to get well
• Support the recovery from treatments for drugs and/or alcohol use in the  

long-term
• Alcohol support: screening, early advice and a range of support packages
• Support when you need it – no wrong door for people with substance use issues 

accessing urgent and crisis support. 

Page 204



33

What will be different
• Easy access for people with substance use needs to get physical and mental 

health support 
• Recovery: more people successfully recover from drugs and/or alcohol use in the 

long-term
• Reduce harm and the number of alcohol and drug related deaths
• Secure investment for services to deliver high quality recovery focussed care
• Work with housing providers and employers to enable better support, 

rehabilitation, and services for people with substance use needs

Spotlight – Integrated Outreach 
The Integrated Outreach Team (IOT) support people with severe and enduring 
mental health issues, who have difficulty engaging in mainstream services. The 
team have an established link with the substance use treatment provider, New 
Vision Bradford (NVB) who manage people with substance use and mental health 
issues.
The IOT coordinator has protected time with the Clinical Medical Lead at NVB, to 
access supervision and clinic time that is flexible for people who struggle to attend 
appointments. Good relationships, joint review meetings and community visits, 
means that both teams have an identified link person, who can offer advice or 
contact details from the wider community. This increases knowledge and support 
for both the IOT and NVB. 
This partnership working has reduced waiting time for service users who need to 
be restarted on opiate substitute treatment therefore reducing the risk of overdose 
– and overall had a positive effect on reducing risk and improving care for people 
who would otherwise not be able to access mental health and /or substance use 
treatment. 

Page 205



34

System priorities: Working with our health and care 
partnership priorities
Our Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership has identified five priorities, 
of which Healthy Minds is one. We will work in partnership with the other priorities to 
ensure the needs of people with mental health, learning disabilities, neurodiversity or 
substance use issues are paramount. We also want to play our part to support and deliver 
our shared objectives by understanding the specifics of each priority and maximise our 
resources by working effectively together. 

The Healthy Communities priority is about engaging and empowering communities to 
enhance the things that keep people happy and healthy. Our approach is asset based, 
working with the skills, knowledge, and experience that strengthen trust, social networks 
and civic engagement. We want to do this in a way that inverts the power to act by shifting 
power and control away from services and professionals and giving a voice to those who are 
marginalised and seldom heard. The Healthy Communities priority forms the foundation of 
our work in Healthy Minds. 

Our vision for our Access to Care priority is to ensure that our population can receive the 
care they need in the place that is the most appropriate to deliver it. We will achieve this by:
• improving access to health and care for the communities we serve;
• removing the barriers that create inequalities in accessing care; and
• ensuring our people receive the right care in the right place first time. 

 

By working together, we aim to achieve the following for  
our communities: 

• earlier diagnosis and treatment for people with major health conditions such as mental 
illness;

• improved health outcomes for people accessing pathways of care;
• people can access the care they require using their preferred method (digital/in person) 

at an appropriate time for their presenting need; and
• improved patient experience.

The Healthy Children and Families priority is led by a strong focus on working with children, 
young people and families and involving them as much as possible in designing our 
services. Our vision for our Healthy Children and Families priority is to ensure that people 
have the best start to life and that we can enable children to be ‘happy, healthy at home’. 
The work of Healthy Minds takes an all-age approach and where relevant and appropriate, 
we will work through the governance and partnership arrangements of this priority. 

Our People Development priority: our services are not possible without the workforce 
who deliver them and we will support, invest and develop our people. The workforce 
programme has a focus on growing leadership, recruitment and retention, developing new 
ways of working and the wellbeing of our staff. 

Page 206

https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/healthy-communities/
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/access-to-care/
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/children-and-young-people/
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/people-development/


35

System enablers:  
Working with our enabler programmes
Living Well is Bradford District’s whole system approach to tackling growing levels of 
obesity and improving wellbeing. Our vision is to create a district where we are all making 
it easier for everyone to live a healthy and active lifestyle. We aim to enable the places and 
organisations in which we live, work, learn and play to promote health and wellbeing by 
making it easier for people of all ages to adopting healthier behaviours and become better 
able to care for themselves.

The Reducing Inequalities Alliance aims to inspire a shared vision for reducing inequalities 
in health (and the determinants of health). Building confidence and skills in our workforce 
to reduce inequalities: we want to make reducing inequalities part of everything we do as a 
workforce. We will support individuals and organisations to know how their work is helping 
to address inequalities. We are committed to reducing inequalities, and to achieve this we 
need to develop a clearer understanding of ‘what works.’ A key function of the Alliance is 
to create the time and space to share learning with our partners, so that we can do this 
together. 

The Digital, Data, Intelligence and Analysis: enabling programme is to best support the 
needs of our population and the requirements of our colleagues through providing class 
leading enabling digital technology. 

We also have an ambition to make the data that partner organisations hold work harder, to 
enable population health insights that will improve health outcomes, and by giving health 
and social care professionals all the information they need wherever they are working. Our 
‘Data as One’ work will continue to draw all the organisations in the partnership closer 
together, mitigating perceived administrative barriers for the VCS sector (e.g., supporting 
information governance accreditation) and establishing closer working with the local 
authorities.

Research and innovation: We have a strong ethos and track record of healthcare research 
collaboration within the Bradford District and Craven area which has been in existence for 
many years. This enabler supports the development, delivery and dissemination of research 
ideas including the development of people to create new research and deliver research 
studies that improve the mental health, learning disability and autism services we design 
and deliver. 

Engagement: The services we deliver, directly impact the lives of people. We are therefore 
committed to ensuring that the work of our partnership is influenced by our population 
through conversations and engagement. Connecting, listening to, and having a consistent 
feedback loop with communities on an ongoing basis will also help us build trust. This is 
something that is being demonstrated through the partnership’s ‘Listen In’ engagement 
work and through our ‘Listening Rooms’ project as part of our local equity, diversity and 
belonging programme. Our engagebdc.com website provides further information on 
opportunities for people to get involved and influence decision making locally from 
involvement exercises through to formal consultations on issues that matter to people.

Page 207

https://engagebdc.com/listen-in-bdc
https://engagebdc.com/listen-in-bdc


36

Sustainability and social value
Our Healthy Minds Partnership Board is serious about sustainability and social value and 
takes a broad view on what these mean it’s not only volunteering opportunities, carbon 
counting, climate and environmental issues. We see issues of social justice, equity and 
sustainability of the workforce as firmly within the remit of sustainability and social value. 
The social value we generate is at the heart of what we do through our work across our 
services. Our approach to promoting better lives, respecting rights and improving services 
has social value at its core. 

The most sustainable workforce is one that feels supported and fulfilled by their work and 
working conditions. Optimising peoples’ mental health is by far the most sustainable thing 
we can do. Our place-based partnership works together to support staff but also reduce 
carbon footprint by demonstrating shared building use and reducing the travel for staff, 
members and carers. Our approach to working with our providers and partners, and more 
increasingly with wider business partners, is to maximise the social value implicit in having 
a happy, healthy and supported workforce. 

There is a strong link between the impact of climate change on mental health, the 
evidence base regarding the benefits of nature for mental wellbeing continues to grow and 
as a place-based partnership, we are keen to promote and encourage this and so we will 
embrace: nature in our service framework. This involves incorporating green spaces into 
workplaces; facilitating people to develop their own relationship with nature or engaging 
with the natural world within our communities.

Volunteering for Healthy Minds 
Volunteers are a valuable part of the workforce across 
health and care providers, enhancing core services and 
delivering essential support to people across  
the district. 

Whilst organisations benefit from the time, skills, 
knowledge and experience volunteers bring to every 
organisation and people they work with, the act of 
volunteering within itself can be a significant contributor to 
wellness and support the culture around how organisations 
consider and make services more accessible. 

We recognise that volunteers benefit from delivering meaningful activity and the feelings 
of validation and gratitude can have a positive impact on the volunteer’s health and 
wellbeing. Layered on top of this are impacts such as developing skills and confidence, 
routine, giving back for care received, reduced loneliness and isolation all continue to build 
the impact of volunteering for an individual. 

We have introduced a Healthy Minds volunteering co-ordinator role to enhance how 
we promote better lives, respect rights and improve support through broadening our 
workforce, and creating volunteer to career pathways. 

Page 208



37

Promote better lives
Volunteering provides a well evidenced pathway to employment, moving people who do 
not believe they could work towards the belief that they can. People who are unable or not 
ready to work due to their mental health can build skills, confidence, validation and self-
belief through the routine and responsibility of volunteering. 

Respect rights
Volunteering gives people with an opportunity to share their lived experience, expertise and 
understanding to recognise people’s needs and rights to be heard and acted on.

Improve support 
The activities and interventions delivered by volunteers can play a valuable role in 
supporting recovery and keeping people well through meaningful activity. It also provides 
hope for others who see people volunteering that they can relate too. Drawing on lived 
experience of individuals to support others in their recovery and wellness journeys.

Embedding volunteers as part of the Healthy Minds workforce is an exciting opportunity to 
develop a culture that has kindness, compassion and understanding where opportunities 
to improve prevention and recovery can be provided in more creative ways by people from 
our communities. We have invested in a Healthy Minds volunteer co-ordinator and their role 
will ensure the development of high quality, high impact and well supported volunteering 
opportunities across our services and within our communities.

David is a volunteer in the Four Seasons Café at Lynfield Mount, “I used to  
be a patient myself so I know what it’s like. I like to listen to patients and support them. I also 
feel really good being able to give back to the hospital which gave so much to me.” 

Mike attends a Well Together singing group and has experienced the impact 
first hand of volunteer led activities. “I had never done any singing before” says Mike 
“however, that wasn’t the point, as it’s not about the singing [as such] it’s about being 
with others and not being at home on your own.” Mike’s quality of life has improved 
immeasurably since his involvement with Well Together.  He feels less stressed and believes 
that this is a direct benefit from his involvement in the singing, health and community 
groups.  He says: “my self-esteem and confidence have also been boosted, enabling me to 
feel confident not only in joining groups but also in setting up groups myself.”      

Aneekah has volunteered with Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust 
since 2017, having been introduced to volunteering via Young Dynamos, a young person’s 
involvement group. She says, “I’m now in my second year of university, the vice executive of 
the Psychology Society, and recently completed an internship. All the volunteering I did has 
led up to this. Volunteering has pushed me out of my comfort zone. I’ve learnt so many skills, 
and gained confidence doing so, subsequently improving my mental health. It taught me 
that, regardless of one’s mental health, you can still make an impact.” 

Page 209



38

Measuring our success 
Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership has developed its Joint  
Forward Plan:
• To provide a single view on how the partnership will operationalise its strategy.
• To provide clarity for the Partnership Board so it can hold our system to account for the 

measurement and delivery of our key transformational objectives.
• To enable NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) and NHS England to 

understand how our plans deliver the West Yorkshire Joint Forward Plan and Integrated 
Care Board Strategy.

A link to our local plan can be found on our partnership website20.

Making a difference
The 11 statements developed in our priority ambitions are the measures of success defined 
by our communities. To be successful we must deliver each of them to a high quality, and in 
a way that makes a noticeable difference in people’s lives.

To help us understand how we are doing, we will work with community groups and our 
partners to develop our measures and ensure we are delivering on the statutory and 
strategic commitments we have as a system partner in our health and care partnership.

We will also conduct a series of deep dives with our Reducing Inequalities Alliance to 
ensure we understand the data and our outcomes, developing actions that address 
variance and areas of improvement. Our first deep dive on Serious Mental Illness (SMI) and 
physical health checks has led to the development of a full cross agency action plan. 

Promote  
better lives

1 Creating opportunities: “I am a person with abilities, possibilities and 
a future”

2 Needs led, not diagnosis led: “I am not defined by my mental health 
diagnosis and the level of distress.”

3 Promoting independence: “I am supported through the stages of life 
where things can be difficult.”

Respect  
rights

4 Listening to people: “My voice is heard and included”

5 Human rights: “I am supported to maintain my rights and dignity and 
to make choices that enable me to live a healthier, happier life”

6 Working together: “I am in control and actively involved in my care 
and support”

7 Respecting people: “Ask for my consent. Share information 
appropriately, so I don’t have to repeat myself.”

Improve  
support

8 High quality services: “I have access to information, support and care 
that meets and my cultural choices”

9 Improving support: “When I need help, I can access this quickly and 
easily and services approach me with kindness, compassion and 
understanding”

10 Working together: “I will know the name of the person who 
coordinates my support”

11 Supporting carers: “My family or carer who may support me, will be 
respected and actively involved in my care with access to information 
and support they need.” 

Table 1: Our outcomes as defined by people and carers 

Page 210



39

How we measure success Measure  
exists

Healthy 
communities

Life expectancy for people with mental health, learning 
disability, neurodiversity 

Yes

Healthy life expectancy for people with mental health, 
learning disability, neurodiversity

Yes

Access to employment support such as Individual 
Placement Support (IPS)

Yes

Working age adults in mental health, learning disability, 
neurodiversity services in paid employment 

Yes

People with mental health, learning disability, neurodiversity 
living in their own home 

No

Vaccinations for people with learning disabilities Yes
Physical health checks for people with serious mental illness 
Physical health checks for people with learning disabilities 

Yes

Carers satisfaction survey Yes
Access to other major physical health services, cancer, 
diabetes, cardiovascular and respiratory 

Yes

School readiness Yes
Access to prevention and early help support No

Community 
support

Talking therapies access (previously known as IAPT) Yes
Talking therapies recovery Yes
Core community mental health service contacts Yes
Children/young people access to mental health and eating 
disorders services 

Yes

Prescribing rates for people with serious mental illness, 
learning disabilities, neurodiversity and substance use issues 

Yes

People receiving individual service funds or personal health 
budgets

No

Carers receiving direct payments No
Access to support for people from ethnic and culturally 
diverse communities

Yes

Specialist 
support

Dementia diagnosis Yes
Autism diagnosis and waiting times Yes
Perinatal mental health access Yes
Adult and older adult discharge mental health Yes
Inpatient care for learning disabilities Yes
Alcohol specific hospital admissions Yes
Completion of alcohol treatment Yes
Completion of drug treatment Yes
Safeguarding measures Yes

Urgent and 
emergency 
care

Unplanned admissions to mental health services within 30 
days of an inpatient discharge

Yes

Out of area placements Yes
A&E mental health attendance Yes
Mental health bed occupancy (length of stay) Yes
People who access mental health support via police or 
justice routes 

Table 2: Our measures

Page 211



40

Conclusion 

This strategy sets out the range of work that the mental health, substance use, learning 
disability and neurodiversity programme and the wider partnership will take forward in 
the next five years. During this time our work will continue to evolve, and we will over this 
period place greater emphasis on some areas than others depending on need, capacity and 
opportunity. 

The Healthy Minds Partnership Board considers this a live document. It sets our stall out for 
the changes we want to see, and it informs our measures of success. But we will continue 
to revisit our commitments, to check our progress and change our workplans accordingly. 

We also know that five years is a long time in the NHS and local government. National 
policy and the political landscape will shift significantly over this time and may well have an 
impact on our ambitions and the plans of work. We will review, at least annually, whether 
the strategy still holds true, reporting any significant variance to the programme board. 

Finally, we hope that this strategy will support our staff and partners to work together to 
do this and improve the experience of people, their carers and their families accessing our 
services. It is deliberately ambitious in a world where NHS funding is compromised and 
where mental health, learning disability, neurodiversity and substance use services have 
been underinvested in for years. 

Our Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership is built on our ethos of ‘Act 
as One’, through this ethos we can realise our ambition of people living ‘happy, healthy at 
home’. 

Our partnership is what makes this strategy possible and together, we can deliver for the 
communities we serve. 

Thank you.

Healthy Minds Leadership Team

Page 212



41

Notes on this strategy

Please note, this strategy is a live document and we invite continued feedback and input 
via wellbeing@bradford.nhs.uk. Please put Healthy Minds Strategy in the subject line. 

How we developed this strategy
This strategy has been developed by a task group set up by the Healthy Minds Partnership 
Board. Members of this group supported a wide scale district wide series of surveys and 
focus groups that culminated in a report titled “Accessibility of Mental Health Services in 
Bradford District and Craven”, and through a series of subsequent events and workshops 
across the district. 

About our Healthy Minds Partnership
Our Healthy Minds Partnership, that forms one of the five priorities for the Bradford 
District and Craven Health and Care Partnership, is made up of all the health and care 
organisations that support local people. We recognise that each organisation will have their 
own commitments and duties to fulfil but together, we can deliver on the ambition for our 
place. The Partnership purpose is clear, to add value by working together. We do this by:

1. Understanding the needs of and the inequalities faced by our population as well as the 
strengths and assets in our communities.

2. Setting strategy, outcomes, objectives and priorities and aligning resources, e.g., Mental 
Health Investment Standard, Service Development Funds and the joint commissioning 
plan21 

3. Overseeing the development and delivery of the integrated programmes of work that 
the Healthy Minds Partnership is responsible for (see figure 4 above). In our oversight, we 
will ensure we are:
• Delivering our work in line with our statutory duties and commitments
• Applying innovation, best practice and embedding a prevention and life-course 

approach to transform the support and care we deliver
• Supporting our workforce

4. Identifying and enabling shared risk and governance as system partners.
5. Creating a sustainable and quality provider collaborative that promotes integrated 

working and delivery. 

Page 213



42

Notes

Page 214



43

Notes

Page 215



44

Notes

Page 216



45

Notes

Page 217



46

Contacting us

Our Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership 
Information about the Partership our Bradford District and Craven Health and Care 
Partnership and work can be found at:  
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/healthy-minds/

How can you get involved or get in touch with us
If you would like to get involved in our Healthy Minds programmes of work, please get in 
touch with us by email at wellbeing@bradford.nhs.uk. We have a range of opportunities 
including volunteering, peer support roles, involvement roles, engagement and workforce 
vacancies. 

Alternative formats
An Easy Read version of this document is available. 
For copies of this strategy in alternative formats or further details, please get in touch with 
us at the email address: wellbeing@bradford.nhs.uk

Support
We also have a range of tools and resources hosted at www.healthyminds.services 
including a ‘Support finder’.

Social Media 
You can engage with us via social media through the following accounts:

     @healthymindsBDC  and @ActasOneBDC 
 
     @healthyminds.bdc and  @bradfordcravenhcp

You can also find us on Facebook – Search for Healthy Minds or Bradford District and 
Craven Health and Care Partnership.

Page 218

https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/healthy-minds/
http://www.healthyminds.services


47

References
1 Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership Strategy

2 Health inequalities are the avoidable, unfair and systematic differences in health 
between different groups of people

3 Act as One https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/about-us/#about-us-sections

4 A Partnership for Mental Health, Learning Disability and Neurodiversity operating under 
the Health and Care Partnership for Bradford District and Craven and brings together 
statutory and community health and care partners.

5 NHS Long-Term Plan https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk

6 Integrated Care Systems (ICS) are partnerships of organisations that come together to 
plan and deliver joined up health and care services, and to improve the lives of people 
who live and work in their area. - You can find out about the West Yorkshire ICS here 
and the Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership here.

7  A review of the mental health needs of ethnic and culturally diverse communities 
across Bradford District conducted by the Centre for Mental Health and to be published 
in October 2023. A copy of this can be found by going to this page.

8 West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board LeDeR - Learning from Lives and Deaths of 
People with a learning disability and autistic people Annual Report 2022/23

9 Source: National Autism Strategy (www.gov.uk)

10 Data source: Office of National Statistics 2016-2020 and NHS England 2019.

11 World Health Organisation

12 Young In Covid by the Khidmat Centres

13 Rapid Needs Review by Public Health

14 i-Thrive – http://implementingthrive.org

15 Community mental health framework

16 The Care Programme Approach (CPA) is a package of care for people with mental 
health problems

17 Copies of the Centre for Mental Health report on Children and Young People’s  
Mental Health in Bradford District and Craven can be accessed by emailing  
wellbeing@bradford.nhs.uk

18 Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) report into the avoidable deaths of 
people with learning disabilities

19 Building the right support for people with a learning disability and autistic people 
(www.gov.uk)

20 Joint Forward Plan

21 A copy of our Joint Commissioning Plan can be obtained from  
wellbeing@bradford.nhs.uk

Page 219

https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/download/147/governance/14007/bdc_strategy_narrative_20220301.pdf
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/about-us/#about-us-sections
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.wypartnership.co.uk/about
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/about-us/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-landmark-strategy-to-improve-the-lives-of-autistic-people
https://www.bradford.ac.uk/news/archive/2023/sequel-to-award-winning-film-depicts-lives-of-young-people-on-third-anniversary-of-lockdown.php
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Mental wellbeing/01 Mental Health Needs Assessment/COVID19 Mental Health Needs Assessment - Stage 3 Final report - July 2020.pdf
http://implementingthrive.org
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/community-mental-health-framework-for-adults-and-older-adults.pdf
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kcl.ac.uk%2Fnews%2F2021-leder-report-into-the-avoidable-deaths-of-people-with-learning-disabilities&data=05%7C01%7CVictoria.Donnelly%40bdct.nhs.uk%7C2586b964dff347fe735008db98a97c70%7Cf377edd1c32a465086639fc3ec794b84%7C0%7C0%7C638271625930513045%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HsEkR73d9EbyU16nEzq6YXICRc6PYr59BD6leZukDDw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kcl.ac.uk%2Fnews%2F2021-leder-report-into-the-avoidable-deaths-of-people-with-learning-disabilities&data=05%7C01%7CVictoria.Donnelly%40bdct.nhs.uk%7C2586b964dff347fe735008db98a97c70%7Cf377edd1c32a465086639fc3ec794b84%7C0%7C0%7C638271625930513045%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HsEkR73d9EbyU16nEzq6YXICRc6PYr59BD6leZukDDw%3D&reserved=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-the-right-support-for-people-with-a-learning-disability-and-autistic-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-the-right-support-for-people-with-a-learning-disability-and-autistic-people
https://bdcpartnership.co.uk/download/147/governance/14084/20230728_bdc_jfp.pdf


Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership

wellbeing@bradford.nhs.uk
Healthy Minds 2024

Bradford District and Craven
Health and Care Partnership

Page 220



 
 

Report of the Strategic Director Children’s Services to 
the meeting of Children’s Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee to be held on 13 March 2024 
                      V 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Educational Standards – Early Years to Key Stage 4 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report provides an update on the outcomes from national assessments for primary 
and secondary pupils for the academic year 2022/23 and updated information on the 
outcomes of Ofsted inspections within education settings. 
 
 
 
EQUALITY & DIVERSITY: 
 
Data is collected and presented here for Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 for groups 
including gender, English as an additional language, disadvantage and SEND.  Data for 
children in care is collected and reported separately.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Marium Haque 
Strategic Director Children’s Services  

Portfolio:   
 
Children & Families 
 

Report Contact:  Richard Crane 
Phone: (01274) 432009 
E-mail: Richard.Crane@bradford.gov.uk 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

Page 221

Agenda Item 8/

mailto:Richard.Crane@bradford.gov.uk


1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the outcomes from national assessments for 

primary and secondary pupils for the academic year 2022/23. 
 
1.2 The report also provides members with updated information on the outcomes of 

Ofsted inspections in education settings. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 For Early Years Foundation Stage Profile 
 

• These statistics report on teacher assessments of children’s development at the 
end of the early years foundation stage (EYFS), specifically the end of the 
academic year in which a child turns 5. This is typically the summer term of 
reception year. The assessment framework, or EYFS Profile, consists of 17 
early learning goals (ELGs) across 7 areas of learning. 
 

• This is the second publication since the 2020/21 EYFS reforms were introduced 
in September 2021.  As part of those reforms, the EYFS profile was significantly 
revised.  It is therefore not possible to directly compare 2021/22 and 
2022/23 assessment outcomes with earlier years.  Additionally, the 2019/20 
and 2020/21 data collections were cancelled due to coronavirus (COVID-19).  
 

• The key EYFSP measure is called a ‘Good Level of Development’ (GLD). This 
includes Personal, Social and Emotional Development, Communication and 
Language, Mathematics, Physical Development and Literacy. Children are 
teacher assessed in each aspect and are judged against national standards as 
to whether they are ‘emerging’ (working below the standard), ‘expected’ 
(working at the standard) or ‘exceeding’ (working above the standard). Teacher 
assessments are moderated. 

 
2.2 For Key Stage 2 
 

• The Y6 cohort in 2022/23 experienced disruption to their learning during the 
pandemic, particularly at the end of year 3 and in year 4.  
 

• These statistics have been updated with revised data published by the 
Department for Education on 14th December 2023. 

 
• Pupils who meet the expected standard in reading, writing and maths 

(combined) are those who meet the expected standard in all three subjects. The 
expected standard in writing is a teacher assessment of 'working at the 
expected standard' (EXS) or 'working at greater depth' (GDS).   

 
2.3 For Key Stage 4 

 
• In 2020 and 2021, alternative processes were set up to award grades (centre 

assessment grades, known as CAGs, and teacher assessed grades, known as 
TAGs). As part of the transition back to the summer exam series adaptations 
were made to the exams (including advance information) and the approach to 

Page 222



grading for 2022 exams broadly reflected a midpoint between results in 2019 
and 2021. The approach to grading for the 2023 set of examinations was to 
move boundaries back more towards those of 2019. 

 
• Given the unprecedented change in the way GCSE results were awarded in the 

summers of 2020 and 2021, as well as the changes to grade boundaries and 
methods of assessment for 2021/22, readers need to exercise caution when 
considering comparisons over time, as they may not reflect changes in pupil 
performance alone.  

 
• Comparisons are made for each year from 2019 to 2021, because although 

results were published throughout the pandemic, it is more meaningful to 
compare the current outcomes to the last year summer exams were sat.  

 
• These statistics have been updated with revised data published by the 

Department for Education on 1st February 2024. 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1  Early Years Foundation Stage Profile 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• 62.2% of children achieved a Good Level of Development (GLD) in Bradford in 
2023, a slight decrease from 62.3% in 2022, and a further decrease from 68% 
achieved in 2019.  The decrease between 2019 and 2022 was also seen 
nationally and across statistical neighbours.  2023 saw an increase in those 
children achieving a GLD both across statistical neighbours, and nationally, 
resulting in the gap to national widening. 
 

• Prior to the 2020/21 EYFS reforms, the DfE published a further measure which 
was the mean average points score for children across all seventeen Early 
Learning Goals.  In 2022, this was replaced with a measure which looks at the 
mean number of Early Learning Goals (ELG) children were at the expected level 
for.  The maximum number would be 17, if every child was at the expected level 
for every early learning goal.  In 2023, the average number of ELG at expected 
level for children in Bradford is 13.3, a 0.1 decrease compared to 2022.  
Statistical neighbours saw an increase from 13.4 in 2022 to 13.5 in 2023 and the 
national score remained the same as 2022 at 14.1.  Subsequently, the gap to 
national has widened slightly. 

 
 

Page 223



3.2 Key Stage 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Outcomes in reading have decreased slightly in 2023 when compared to 2022, 
and prior to the pandemic.  A decrease was seen across statistical neighbours 
and nationally resulting in the gap to national remaining static. 
 

• In mathematics, although outcomes declined in 2022 when compared to 2019, 
2023 sees an increase and the gap to national has narrowed. 
 

• Grammar, punctuation and spelling outcomes have improved in 2023 after a 
decline in 2022.  Statistical neighbours also saw an improvement, but the gap 
between Bradford and National has narrowed due to national outcomes 
remaining the same. 
 

• Writing outcomes have improved in 2023 and the gap between Bradford and 
national averages has decreased. 
 

• The outcomes for reading/writing/maths combined remained static in Bradford 
whereas there was a slight improvement across statistical neighbours, and 
nationally.  This means that the gap between Bradford and national averages 
has increased. 

 

Page 224



3.3 Key Stage 4 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

• The above table shows that attainment outcomes at Key Stage 4 continue to 
decline following the pandemic.  Bradford outcomes remain lower than the 
statistical neighbour average, and the national average.  The gap between 
Bradford and national has increased in all measures. 

 
3.4 Groups (See Appendix 1, 2 & 3) 
 
3.4.1 Early Years Foundation Stage Profile 
 

• In 2023, 69.3% of girls in Bradford achieved GLD compared with 55.4% of boys 
in comparison to 74.2% of girls and 60.6% of boys nationally.   
 

• Girls outperform boys when achieving GLD, both within Bradford and nationally.  
The gap between the performance of girls and boys in Bradford narrowed from 
15% in 2022 to 13.9 % in 2023.  The national gender performance gap widened 
from 13.2% to 13.6% during the same period. 
 

• The gap between the average number of ELGs achieved at the expected level 
for girls and boys is slightly wider in Bradford at 1.8 compared to 1.5 nationally.  
In Bradford, girls averaged 14.2 ELGs and boys 12.4, whereas nationally girls 
averaged 14.9 and boys 13.4.  
 

• The percentage of pupils eligible for free school meals in Bradford who achieved 
a GLD reduced in 2023.  An increase nationally means that Bradford now 
performs below the national average. 
 

• The average number of ELGs achieved at the expected level for children eligible 
for free school meals reduced by 0.6 in Bradford in 2023, compared to a 0.1 
increase seen nationally.  This has increased the gap between Bradford and 

Page 225



National. 
 

• Bradford pupils from a Black ethnicity background performed better than other 
ethnic groups in the GLD measure during 2022 (68.7%) and 2023 (69.1%), 
though the gap to national has narrowed from 8.1% to 6.3% for this group.  They 
also perform above both the Bradford and National overall average.  When 
looking at the average number ELGs achieved, Bradford performed below the 
national average for all ethnic groups except pupils from a Black ethnicity 
background who averaged 13.7 ELG against a whole Bradford cohort of 13.3. 
 

• Summer born children in Bradford perform below their counterparts nationally in 
the GLD measure, with a widening gap of 5.1% in 2023.  Summer born children 
achieved the expected level for on average 1.2 ELGs less than their non 
summer born counterparts in Bradford (the gap nationally is 1.3).   
 

• In 2023 19.4% of pupils receiving SEN Support in Bradford achieved GLD 
compared to 24.3% nationally, and the gap to national widened by 2%.  SEN 
Support pupils in Bradford, on average achieved the expected level for 7 ELGs, 
which is 1.4 ELGs less than the national average for this cohort.  The gap to 
national widened marginally from 1.3 in 2022. 

 
3.4.2 Key Stage 2 – Expected level for Reading, Writing and Maths Combined 
 

• Girls continue to outperform boys both within Bradford, and nationally. The 
Bradford gap between boys and girls is the same as seen nationally, with both 
groups achieving 2% below the national average.  
 

• Disadvantaged pupils within Bradford perform better than their national 
counterparts in this measure, consistently achieving 1% more than 
disadvantaged children nationally over the last 3 years. 
 

• Pupils from an Asian background are more likely to achieve in this measure than 
any other ethnicity group.  This trend as seen nationally, though the Bradford 
gap to national for this ethnicity group is larger than seen across the other 
groups (7% below national compared to 3% below for White and Mixed ethnic 
groups). 
 

• SEN support pupils within Bradford perform at a similar level to their national 
counterparts, with a very small gap between performance nationally (numbers 
are subject to rounding). 

 
3.4.3 Key Stage 4 
 

• Girls continue to outperform boys.  At attainment 8 girls’ achievement is 5% 
higher than boys and this is higher than the national gap.  For attainment 9-4 
and 9-5, the gap in performance between boys and girls is not as wide as the 
gap seen nationally. 
 

• The gap in performance between Bradford pupils with an EHCP and those 
nationally is narrowing across all of the Key Stage 4 measures.  Attainment 8 
scores for pupils with SEN Support in Bradford improved when compared to 

Page 226



nationally, but the gap in performance for attainment 9-4 widened and remained 
static for 9-5.  
 

• The gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils is 13% for 
attainment 8.  This is 2% lower than the national average.  At Basics 9-4 and 
Basics 9-5, the difference between disadvantaged and other pupils is also lower 
in Bradford than the national average. 
 

• Pupils whose first language is English outperform pupils whose language is not 
English by 2% in Attainment 8.   Nationally, those pupils whose language is not 
English outperform pupils whose first language is English by 4%.   At Basics 9-4 
and Basics 9-5, the picture is similar with pupils whose first language is English 
outperforming pupils whose language is not English by 4% and 2% respectively.    
The national average picture is that those pupils whose language is not English 
outperform pupils whose first language is English by 3% and 5% respectively. 

 
3.5 Ofsted Inspection Outcomes 
 
 

 
 
3.6 Local Authority Strategies to Support Improving Outcomes 
 

• Raising Achievement Strategy funding has now finished but the Maths and 
English Hubs are continuing the work done around this for primaries – see 
Appendix 4. 
 

• The Launchpad for Literacy initiative is proving to be very popular in schools and 
a presentation is provided at Appendix 6.  This is a summary of the strategy. 
 

• The Local Authority leads on KS2 assessment and moderation training which 
both Local Authority and Academy schools utilise. 
 

• The Local Authority also provides schools with reading training opportunities. 
 

• The Education Improvement Board has a KS4 and KS2 focus, looking 
specifically at outcomes for Year 11 and Year 6 – see Appendix 5. 
 

• The Bradford Priority Investment Area Board also focuses on education 
outcomes across all key stages. 

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 There are no financial issues arising from this report. 

Page 227



5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 The Education Improvement Board has been newly established to oversee and 

drive the improvement agenda forward with a specific focus on attainment and 
absence. 

 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
 There are no legal issues arising from this report. 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.2 TACKLING THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.3 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.4 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.5 TRADE UNION 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.6 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.7 AREA COMMITTEE LOCALITY PLAN IMPLICATIONS  
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 

Impacts on all children and young people.  Outcomes for children in care will be 
reported separately to the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

 
7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 
 Not applicable. 
 

Page 228



8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
  
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 Not applicable. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Committee members are asked to note the contents of this report. 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 Appendix 1: Data for Early Years Foundation Stage Profile Groups 
 
11.1  Appendix 2: Data for Key Stage 2 Groups. 
 
11.2 Appendix 3: Data for Key Stage 4 Groups. 
 
11.3 Appendix 4: Raising Attainment Strategy – Summary and Statement of Impact. 
 
11.4 Appendix 5: Education Improvement Board Project Plan.  
 
11.5 Appendix 6: Communication and Language, the Key to Children Succeeding. 
 
12.     BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
12.1 Not applicable. 
 

Page 229



Appendix 1 
 
Early Years Foundation Stage Profile Groups 
 
Pupils achieving a Good Level of Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



Average number of Early Learning Goals at expected level per child 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



Appendix 2 
 
Key Stage 2 Groups – Revised 
 
 
Pupils achieving expected levels for Reading, Writing and Maths Combined 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 232



Appendix 3 
 
Key Stage 4 Groups – Revised 
 
Average Attainment 8 Score 
 

 
 

Page 233



Percentage of pupils achieving Basics 9-4 
 

 
 

Page 234



Percentage of pupils achieving Basics 9-5 
 

 
 
 

Page 235



Appendix 4 
 
Raising Attainment Strategy – Summary and Statement of Impact 
 
Background 

This was a primary based project, aimed at the lowest performing schools across the 
district. The key objective was to support the development of leadership and teaching in 
maths and English, leading to sustained improvement in attainment at the end of each key 
stage. 

 

Actions 

English • Support was procured from the English Hub at Burley Woodhead.  
• Using data from recent KS1 and KS2 results, potential schools were 

identified as ones which would benefit from support.  
• Once accepted onto the strategy, an initial audit was carried out to 

ascertain areas for improvement and an English SLE was allocated to 
work with the English subject lead in the selected school. 

• This equated to 8 Bradford schools. 
• SLE’s organised visits based on need and capacity of schools. In 

some cases, this was weekly or fortnightly, in others once a half term. 
• A progress report was completed after each support session and 

shared with ND (RAS), the Headteacher and the English Lead. 

Maths • In a similar way, support was procured from the Maths Hub at Halifax. 
Key schools were identified, audited and allocated a maths SLE to 
work with the maths subject lead within the school. 

• This equated to 23 Bradford schools. 
• Maths SLE’s visited schools on average, once a fortnight, completing 

progress reports after each visit. 
• From Jan 23, 7 of the lowest performing RAS schools took up the 

offer of face-to-face White Rose Maths tutoring. This consisted of 
twice weekly tutoring sessions for 9 Y6 six children (3 groups of 3) 
until the start of KS2 SATs. 

• At the same time, weekly boosters (aimed at Year 2 and 6) sessions 
were also offered and delivered weekly by the allocated SLE in 
individual schools. 

 

Impact 

English • Support in all 8 of the engaging schools has been positively received.  
• 2 of the schools were accepted by the English Hub as Wave 4 support 

schools and will continue to be supported with their SSP. 
• 5 of the schools receiving intensive support from the strategy have 

improving KS1 reading and writing results. 
• 5 schools have shown marked improvement in phonics. 
• 3 have improved scores in phonics, KS1 reading and KS1 writing. 

Maths • Through observation at the exit reviews, teacher confidence in all 
RAS schools was visibly improved. All maths middle leaders felt they 

Page 236



were better armed to lead their subject and could confidently assess 
their school’s strengths and areas that needed further development 
(see exit audits) 

• Strong maths teaching across the school was identified by Ofsted in 3 
schools who underwent inspection during their time with RAS. 

• 2023 data highlighted gains in many of the project schools: 
- 12 schools improved their KS1 maths results; 
- 12 schools improved their KS2 maths results; 
- 8 schools improved both their KS1 and KS2 results. 

• Of the 7 schools receiving WRM tutoring, all children increased their 
own confidence score from beginning to end of the tutoring 
programme and 92% of all tutored children made progress from their 
starting points. 

• All RAS schools now have stability in their leadership of the subject. 
The maths lead in each of the schools will continue to be the lead next 
year and is familiar with the expectations required by the Maths Hub. 
All schools have signed up to continue working with the Hub through a 
variety of DFE funded programmes – e.g. Teaching for Mastery, 
Sustaining or embedding programmes etc. 

 

Future plans 
The focus over the last 18 months has been on improving outcomes at the end of both key 
stages.  In order to future proof results in Bradford’s LA schools, that focus will now shift to 
Early Years with the emphasis on ‘keeping up’ rather than ‘catching up’. 

English • In order to continue supporting Bradford LA schools, the ‘Launchpad 
to Literacy’ programme has been procured to support the Early Years 
phase. 

• This has been offered to all Bradford LA schools, was launched in 
July 23 and will be delivered over the next 2 academic years. The 
offer includes the Launchpad to Literacy toolkit, CPD days (mixture of 
face to face and virtual) and bespoke support every half term.  

• This will be overseen by the Early Years Officer at Bradford and 
overall impact will be judged at the close of the project summer 2025. 

Maths • The Maths Hub will continue to work with 6 identified schools, for the 
whole of the next academic year, with a clear focus on improving 
practice in the Early Years.  

• This will include an entry and exit audit, online subscription to the 
EYFS maths resources, 3 face to face CPD days, access the Maths 
Hub webinars and 6 bespoke SLE support days throughout the year. 

• This will be overseen by the EYFS Maths Hub lead and the Early 
Years Officer at Bradford and impact will be judged and reported at 
the exit audit in the summer term 2024. 

 
 
 
 

Page 237



Appendix 5 
 

Education Improvement Board Project Plan  
 

Focus – Improving Attainment Outcomes in 2024 for Y6 and Y11  

Aim – To have maximum impact on attainment in key areas by working with schools with large cohorts  
 

Actions Timescale Resources RAG Impact 

Using IMT data identify target schools 
using criteria: 
- Large cohorts 
- ‘spiky’ profile 

By end of 
autumn term 
2023 

IMT data   

Identify Support headteachers for 
primary schools 
5 matches 

End of 
January 2024 

   

Match school to support headteacher  End of 
January  

Ensure backfill for headteachers – LLE 
rates  
LA schools from SIMG  

  

Plan support activity with 
headteachers to focus on 
- Identifying pupils on track for 

reaching expected standard in one 
subject but not the other 

- Work with school on purposeful 
tracking of Y6 

- Work with subject leader and Y6 
teachers to improve progress in 
identified subject 

Spring term Investigate schools’ NTP funding to 
support individual tuition 

  

Plan ‘countdown to SATs’ to include 
rapid progress and exam technique 
 
 

First half 
summer term 
 

   

P
age 238



Actions Timescale Resources RAG Impact 

Secondary 
 
LW to work with Titus Salt to bring 
rapid improvement to English 
 
Ensure agreement with leadership for 
the approach – work with new HT 
(current DHT) 
- Overcome likely timetabling issues  
- Ensure curriculum match 
- CPD for En staff 
- Maximise En entries 

 
 
 
 
 
January 2024 
 
 
 

   

 

P
age 239



Appendix 6 
 

 

“Communication and Language,
the Key to Children Succeeding”

P
age 240



 

Rationale
• Up to 50% of children in areas of disadvantage are at risk of

starting school with a speech, language or communication
difficulty.

• Many of these may be preventable with access to good
quality ‘talking environments’ and targeted support.

• We need to maximise communication opportunities from
the earliest point in life and make sure everyone who works
with children knows why this is important.

P
age 241



 

1.7 Million Young Futures
• 1.7 million children are struggling with talking and understanding words

in the UK right now. Read our new report, 1.7 million young futures, for
our findings and recommendations after surveying more than 1,000
families and teachers.

• Most of us take being able to talk and understand words for granted. We
don’t think about what our life would be like if we found this difficult.
But 1.7 million children are living this reality.

• Without help, they will find it harder to read, write and use numbers as
well as learning other subjects. They’ll also face challenges making
friends and staying in good mental health and in the longer -term in
getting a job and staying out of trouble.

P
age 242



 

Public Health England: Best Start

• A whole population pathway; where jointly commissioned
specialist services informs every level.

• An integrated, system wide joint approach with an ongoing
workforce development strategy at its core.

• Begins at pregnancy and ends at transfer from Health Visitor
to school nurses/ early years setting to school.

• Involves parents at every stage; places their needs at the
heart of service design and is communicated to them in ways
they understand.

P
age 243



 

P
age 244



Benefits of using the Launchpad Toolkit

• Shared importance of communication
• Children’s language barriers are identified
• Understanding how we can support speech,

language and communication needs
• Early & bespoke targeted support for children
• No child falls through the net
• Consistency and continuity of support
• Improves communication outcomes

P
age 245



 

The Project
• 2-year funded support September2023 – July 2025
• Launchpad for Literacy Toolkit
• Lifetime access to the Google Drive
• Nominated Launchpad Leader (preferably the EYFS Leader)
• Attend the Launch Event (Headteacher & EY Leader)
• Initial audit
• 6 x bespoke in school support sessions (during school hours) with a

Launchpad for Literacy associate
• 6 x network meetings (after school), virtual 1 per term
• Exit audit
• Lifetime access to ongoing CPD and live webinars from Kirstie Page

P
age 246


	Agenda
	7 AN UPDATE ON AUTISM AD ADHD ASSESSMENT AND SUPPORT
	Appendix 2
	Introduction
	IMPROVEMENT AREA 1
	IMPROVEMENT AREA 3
	IMPROVEMENT AREA 4
	IMPROVEMENT AREA 5

	Appendix 3
	Foreword
	Patients’ legal rights to choice

	The Choice Offer
	What do these rights mean?
	How far do these choices extend?
	When do the rights to choice not apply?
	Meaningful choice

	For commissioners
	Pricing and payment of mental health services
	Pricing and payment of mental health services
	Checklist for delivery
	Assessing eligibility

	For GPs
	Considerations for clinical appropriateness
	Conflicts of interest
	NHS e-Referral Service (e-RS)
	Assessment services
	Provision of mental health services

	For Providers
	Supporting meaningful choice
	Service information
	Service information
	Integrated care
	Crisis care
	Receiving referrals
	Pricing and payment of mental health services
	Pricing and payment of mental health services
	Pricing and payment of mental health services
	Checklist for delivery

	Programme of further work
	Where the rights apply

	FAQs
	Where the rights apply
	Where the rights apply
	How the rights work
	Out of area referrals
	Changes in referral patterns

	References
	Contents
	Embedding the legal rights to choice

	Appendix 4
	5 Clinical Prioritisation
	Healthy Minds

	8 EDUCATIONAL STANDARDS - EARLY YEARS TO KEY STAGE 4

	Enter: 
	Button 145: 
	Button 146: 
	Button 147: 
	Button 18: 
	Button 19: 
	Button 160: 
	Button 161: 
	Button 162: 
	Button 20: 
	Button 21: 
	Button 16: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 17: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 22: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 23: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 24: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 25: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 26: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 27: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 28: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 29: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 30: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 31: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 32: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 33: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 34: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 

	Button 45: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 46: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 50: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 51: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 127: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 128: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 129: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 179: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 180: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 181: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 182: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 183: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 184: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 185: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 

	Button 67: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 68: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 69: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 70: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 71: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 130: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 131: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 132: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 186: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 187: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 188: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 189: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 190: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 191: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 192: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 82: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 83: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 84: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 85: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 86: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 87: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 88: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 133: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 134: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 135: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 193: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 194: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 195: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 196: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 197: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 198: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 199: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 100: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 136: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 137: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 138: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 200: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 201: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 202: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 203: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 204: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 205: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 206: 
	Page 32: 

	Button 101: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 116: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 117: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 118: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 139: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 140: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 141: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 207: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 208: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 209: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 2010: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 2011: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 2012: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 2013: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 142: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 143: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 144: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2014: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2015: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2016: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2017: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2018: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2019: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 2020: 
	Page 39: 

	Button 210: 
	Button 211: 
	Button 212: 
	Button 213: 
	Button 214: 


